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PUBLISHERS' NOTE

This volume 1s a reprint of the first portion of the
seventy-ninth article entitled Muntakhabu-l Lubab of
Khafi Khan contamned 1n the seventh volume of the onginal
edition of this work The original documents were listed
by Sir H M Elhot and translated by the Editor The
concluding portion of this article will be published in a
separate volume under the title of “Later Mughals ”

The volume gives a survey of the reign of Aurangzeb
In his prefatory remarks the Editor says “The special
works relating to the rexgn of Aurangzeb have been examined
and the most inteiesting passages translated, but the
history of this long rule, has been derived from the
great work of Khafi Khan, a contemporary history of high
and well-deserved repute  This important history 1s
well known at second-hand All European historians of the
period which 1t covers have been greatly indebted, directly
or indirectly, to 1ts pages Elphinstone and Grant Duff
used 1t, and they refer to a MS translation by ‘Major
Gordon, of the Madras Army’ It 1s not known what has
become of this MS translation, for the enquiries made after
1t have met with no success Not a line of translation had
been provided by Sir H M Ellot, so this heavy labour
has fallen upon the Editor ”
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EDITOR S PREFACE

The prehimunary note (publizhed i nother olume)
deseribes how, sinteen ~years after Sir Hemy Elhot's
first 1olume was given to the world, his papers were placed
in mnv charge for revision and publication

My first aintention was to earmv out the woik on the
ongimal plan but as progress was made m the examna-
fion of the volunmimous matenals, the necessity of some
modification beeame moie ind more apparent  The work
had long been advertised under the reviced title which it
row bears, as contemplated by the author nmself, ifs
bibliographical character having been made <ubordimate
to the lnstorical It aleo scemed desirable fter the lapse
of so many vears to begin with nes matter 1ather than
with a reprint of the old volume Matuie consideration
ended with the conviction thit the book might open with
tresh matter, and that 1t nught o the same time be
1endered more available as an histonieal record

In the old volume, Sir H Clhot introduced 2 long note
upon “ India as known to the \ribs duning the first four
centuties of the Hiynr Lra,’ and under this heading he
collected necarly ll the materials then witlun the reach of
LCuropeans  Since that compilation was made, 1t has been
to a great degree superseded by new and more satisfactor
translations, and the work of Al Istaklnr has also become
available The translation of Al Idrier by Jaubert was
not quoted by Sn H Llihot, but an Enghi<h version of the
part relating to India zeemed desnable  The subjeet had
thus outgrown the lImmt< of an alrcady lengthy note, and
a remodelling of this portion of the book became necessary
The notices of India by the carly Arab geographers form
a surtable introduction to the History of the Muhammadan
Empire mn that country They have accordingly heen
placed 1n clionological order at the opening of the work
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PREFACE

Next m date after the geographers, and next also as
regards the antiquity of the subjects dealt with, come the
Mujmalu-t Tawarikh and the Futuhu-l Buldan In the
latter work, Biladur: describes in one chapter the course
of the Arab conquests in Sind The Chach-nama deals
more fully with the same subject, and the Arabic onigmal
of this work must have been written soon after the events
1t records, though the Persian version, which is alone known
to us, 1s of later date The Arab occupation of Sind was
but temporary, 1t was the precursor, not the commence-
rment, of Musulman rule 1n India On the retreat of the
Arabs the government of the country reverted to native
princes, and notwithstanding the successes of Mahmud of
Ghazni, the land remained practically independent until
its absorption mto the Empire during the reign of Akbar
m AD 1592 Prionty of date and of subject thus give the
right of precedence to the historians of Sind, while the
1eolation of the country and the individuality of its history
require that all relating to 1t should be kept together .

Upon examining the mass of materals left by Su H
Ellot the bibliographical notices were found for the most
part written or sketched out, but with many addi-
tional notes and references to be used 1 a final revision
The Extracts intended to be printed were, with some
mportant exceptions, translated, and where translations
had not been prepared, the passages required were
generally, though not always, indicated The translations
are 1 many different hands Some few are m Sir H
Elhiot’s own handwnting, others were made by different
English officers, but the majority of them seem to have
been the work of munshis Waith the exception of those
made by Sir H Elhot himself, which will be noted when-
ever they oceur, I have compared the whole of them with
the origmnal texts and the errors which I have had to
correct have been mnumerable and extensive But with
all my care it 1s to be feared that some misreadings may
have escaped detection, for 1t 1s very difficult for a reviser
to divest himself entwely of the colour given to a text
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PREFACE

Printer, would practically have been unheeded by the
general reader, and useless to the scholar In doubtful
cases, the affihation of a word without proofs or reasons
would have been valueless, but more than all this, the
many Turaman words must have appeared with a Sanskritic
or Semitic label upon them FEither too much or too little
was attempted, and even if the design could be completely
'accomplished, a philological work like the Glossary would
be a more fitting vehiele for its introduction than a book
like the present

To shoiten the work as much as possible 1t has been
determined to omit the Iixtracts of the orginal texts, but
even then, 1t will be 1mpossible to include the whole of the
materials 1 the three volumes advertised

I have throughout been ansious never to exceed my
powers as Editor, but to place myself as far as possible 1n
Sir H Elhot’s place I have not attempted to controvert
his opmnions, or to advance theories of my own, but
palpable errors have been corrected, and manv alterations
and additional notes have been introduced, which have
been rendered necessary by the advance of knowledge
With the unievised matter, I have used gieater freedom,
but 1t has been my constant aim to complete the work in
s manner that 1ts designer might have approved

It only 1emains for me to expiess my obligations to
Mr E Thomas for many valuable hints and suggestions
I am also mndebted to Geneial Cunmingham for several
important notes, which I have been careful to acknowledge
wm loco, and for placing at my disposal his valuable
Archsological Reports, which are too httle known
Europe, and some extracts of which appear in the
Appendix
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had watched the occurrences of the time It 34 considircd probahle
that he had composed the firt half of the work bhefore he was
compelled to stop by Aurinpzeb s orders, but, bung anxious to



INTRODUCTION

bring down his history to the close of hus own life, he continued
his Iabours 1 secret It 13 represented that Mubammad Shah was
so pleased with the history that he ennobled the author wath the
title of Khafi Khan, the word Khafi meaning * concealed” This
ongm of the demgnation 15 the one ascribed by all modern wnters,
and has been fully accredited by our English historians, but I am
disposed to dispute the correctness of this story, and to conmder
Khafi as a gentiitious name denoting the country whence his
family sprung Khaf, or more correctly Khwaf, 15 a district of
Khurasan near Naishapur, and Khwafi so applleé 18 by no means
unfamibiar to Asmatics’ Thus we have the famous doctor Shaikh
Zamu-d din Khwafi, Imam Khwafi, the Khawafi Smiyids, ete, and
what 1s confirmatory of this opinion 1s that not only does Ghulam
Al Shah style our author Mubammad Hashim, the son of IXhwa)a
Mir Khwafi, but he himself gives his father’s name as Mir Xhwafi
It 1s not imposmble that Muhammad Shah may have ndulged
in a joke upon the author’s onginal name, and may have expressed
himself 1n some such phrase to the effect that the author was
now really Khawafi [Morley, in his Catalogue of the MSS of
the Royal Asiatic Society adopts the former explanation, and says
“From the fact of the work having been 80 long concealed (Lhaft)
1ts author received the title of Khafi Khan” Colonel Lecs, on
the other hand, armved independently at the same conclusion as
Sir H M Elliot He shows that the patronymic Khwafi was one
Im ‘ery common use, and thinks that the interpretation
“concealed ” “had ity omgmmn mm an 1imperfect and somewhat
ludicrous musrepresentation of what IKhafi I{han lumself savs to
which has consequently been given o sense the very opposite of itg
true meaming Xhafi Khan certamly says that he ch‘t all thefg
things loched up in a2 box, but 1t was the box.of hia ‘memor
There might have been some reason for Khafi Khan concealing s
work for a year or two after the death of Auringzeb, but there
seems no sound or apparent reason for his concealing his vort for
nearly thirty years after that event 7]

The author of the “Crtical Essay ", translated and published
for the Onental Translation TFund, speahs of this listory as
containmg a detailed and particular statement of yanous trinsactions
which the author himself had actually witnessed, regretting at the
snme time that he had never seen 1t When Colonel Dow wrote
his Historv of Hindustan, he was obliged to conclude «t the end of
the tenth year of Auringzeb’s reign becausge there were no documents
caleulated to throw lhight upon the subsequent period Mill alro
complams that we have no complete hustory of Auringzeb Thia
dcfect has =ince been remedied by the Honourable Mountstewnart
Tliphinctone, who has judiciously avaled himeelf of Jhafi Khan's
hiztory, and thus has been enabled to give us a complete narrative

'Qnp the paseage post under the Eleventh Year of the Pagen

*Journ1) of the Roval Asiatie Society, NS, vol m, p 471
11









EXTRACTS

Europeans at Hugh

(Text, vol 1, p 468) The Finngis had formed a
commercial settlement at Hugl, twenty kos from Rajmahal
mm Bengal In former times they had obtamed the grant
of a parcel of land for the stowing of their merchandise and
for their abode There they built a strong fort, with towers
and walls, and furnished it with artillery They also built
a place of worship which they call “ church” (halisa) In
course of time they overstepped the sufferance they had
obtained They veved the Musulmans of the neighbour-
hood, and they harassed travellers, and they exerted
themselves continually to strengthen their settlement Of
all their odious practices this vas the worst  In the ports
which thev occupied on the sea coast, they offered no mnjury
either to the property or person of either Muhammadans or
Hindus who dwelt under their rule, but if one of these
1nhabitants died, leaving children of tender age, they took
both the children and the property under their charge, and,
whether these young children were saiyids, or whether they
were Brahmans, they made them Christians and slaves
(mamluk) In the ports of the Xokan in the Dakhin, and
on the sea coast, wherever they had forts and ewercised
authonty, this was the custom of that insolent people
But notwithstanding the notoriety of this tyrannical
practice, Musulmans and Hindus of all tribes went mto
theirr settlements m pursuit of a livelihood, and took up
their abode there They allowed no religious mendicant
(fakwr) to come into their bounds ‘When one found his
way 1 unawares, 1if he were a Hindu he was subjected to
such tortures as made his escape with life very doubtful,
and 1if he were a Musulman he was 1mprisoned and worried
for some days, and then set at hiberty When travellers
passed 1n, and their luggage was examned for the custom-
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duties, no leniency was shown if any tobacco was found,
because there are regular licensed sellers of tobacco, and
a traveller must, not carry more than enough for his own
use Unlike & Hindu temple, thewr place of worship was
very conspicuous, for tapers of camphor were kept burning
there 1n the daytime 1In accordance with theirr vain
tenets, they had set up figures of the Lord Jesus and Mary
(on our Prophet and on them be peace !), and other figures
1n wood, paint and wax, with great gaudiness But 1n the
churches of the,English, who are also Christians, there are
no figures set up as 1dols The writer of these pages has
frequently gone mto that place, and has conversed with
their learned men, and records what he has observed

Reports of the unseemly practices of these people
reached the Emperor, and when Kasim Khan was sent to
Bengal as Governor, he received secret orders to suppress
them, and to take their fortress Kasim Khan accordingly
proceeded to Hugh and laid siege to 1t The detail of his
skilful arrangements and strenuous exertions would be of
great length, suffice 1t to say that, by the aid of boats, and
by the advance of his forces both by land and water, he
brought down the pride of these people, and subdued their
fortress after a siege of three months Nearly 50,000
rawats of that place came out and took refuge with Kasim
Khan Ten thousand persons, Fimngis and rawyats,
perished m the course of the siege Fourteen hundred
Fingis and a number of persons who had been made
Christians by force were taken prisoners Nearly ten
thousand persons, mnocent raiyats and captives of those
people, were set free  More than a thousand Musulmans
©of the Imperial army fell in the course of the siege

REiecN oF ABU-L Muzarrar MuHIU-D DIN MUBAMMAD
AvranczeB BAEADUR ’ArLaMGIR PApsHAH-1 GHAZIL,
BLEVENTH IN DESCENT FROM AMIR TIMUR

Aurangzeb

(Text, vol 1, p 2) The attempt to write an epitome of
the fifty years’ reign of this illustrious monarch 18 like

2



MUNTAKHABU-L LUBAB

trymg to measure the waters of “the sea 1 a pitcher,
the affurs of the last forty jears m particular are a
boundless ocean, which authors have shrunk from com-
mitting to the thread of narratine But for all this, the
writer of these pages has resolved that to the best of his
ability, and with the most active exertion, after the most
exhaustine mquiry and complete mnvestigation he wall
narrate some eivents capable of narration which he has
heard from the tongues of men advanced 1 years, which
he has fully verified by inquiries from men 1 office and
from the writers of official despatches, and by the evidence
of his own ey es during this period of time  Like plagiansts
of no ability, he comnuts one fact out of a hundred to his
crude relation, and offers s petition to his intelligent
critics and well-informed readers, that if, from his feeble
grasp of the thread of narrative, any diserepancies should
appear between the earlier and later portions of his work,
or if any trifing vamnations from other histories should
appear, they will hold lum excused, because 1n trustworthy
books even discrepancies are found arising from varymg
versions (of the same occurrence)

Barth of Aurangzcb

(Text, vol 11, p 3) Aurangzeb was born in the year
1028 AH (A D 1619) at Dhud,! which 1s on the frontiers
of the suba of Ahmadabad and Malwa, whilst his father
was subadar of the Dakhin

Illness of Shah Jahan
(Vol 1, p 4) On the 7th Zi-1 hyja, 1067 AH

(8th September, AD 1657) (the Emperor Shah Jahan,
called after his death) Firdaus Makani, was attacked with

*The “Dohud ” of Thornton, one hundred miles west of Ujjan,
and seventy-seven miles north-east of Baroda

3



KHAFI KHAN

ilness, which turned out to be strangury This produced
much derangement m the government of the country, and
m the peace of the people Dara Shukoh looked upon him-
self as heir to the throne, and cven in the time of his
father’s health he had held the resns of government But
he had fallen into 1ll repute through having i1mbhibed the
heretical tenects of the Sufis He had declared infidehty
(Kufr) and Islam to be twin brothers, and had written
treatises on this subject, he had also associated himself
with Brahmans and Gosains  Sewzng the opportumty (of
his father’s illness), he took the direction of State affairs
mto s own hands, and having exacted from the ministers
therr pledges not to pubhsh what passed m council, he
closed the roads of Bengal, Ahmadabad and the Dakhin
agamst messengers and travellers But when the intelli-
gence of his officious meddhing had spread abroad through
the provinces by the dak-chauk: (post), a strong adverse
feeling was shown by the amrs, zamindars and raiyats, and
also by the unruly spirits who sought for a field of action.
Turbulent men from every corner and quarter, and men
eager for a fray, i every province and country, rased
their heads 1 expectation of strife

When intelhgence of these proceedings reached
Muhammad Suja mn Bengal, and Muhammad Murad
Bakhsh 1n Ahmadabad, each of them, vymg with the other,
had coms struck and the khutba read in his own name
Shuja, with a large force, marched agsmnst Bihar and
Patna and the news of his movements was carried to the
capital  Shah Jahan had from the very first shown
great partiahty and affection for Dara Shukob, and
generally, mn all matters, had done his best to gratafy
his son Now that he was 1ll, and no longer master of
himself, he was more than ever inclined to gratify Dara
and yield to his wishes Dara Shukoh locked with an
eye of apprehension upon the talents of Prince Aurangzeb,
and was made uneasy by the vigour and wisdom which he
displayed  So, by varous arguments, he induced his father
to recall to Court the nobles and generals who were
engaged with Aurangzeb n the siege of Byapur When

4
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March agawmnst Murad Bakhsh

(Vol n, p 6) On the same day that Sulaiman Shukch
and Raja Jar Singh were sent agamst Muhammad Shuja
Maharaja Jaswant Singh and Kasim Khan, with the royai
artillery and with several thousand horse and some guns
of their own, and attended by several amirs of repute, were
ordered to march to Ahmadabad and the Dakhin Thewr
instructions were that they were to ascertain the true state
of affairs, and 1f Muhammad Murad Bakhsh should move
fiom Ahmadabad, Kasim Khan? was to advance with several
amirs and some guns to meet and recelve him  After
recerving 1ntelligence of Prince (Murad Bakhsh’s) departure
fiom the Dakhin, the Maharaja Jaswant Smgh was to act
according to circumstances If Prince Aurangzeb should
begin to move from the Dakhin, the Maharaja and Kasim
Khan were to lead all the royal forces across his line of
march, and give him battle when opportunity offered
Dara Shukoh made the province of Malwa his own tika’,
and devoted the whole of the revenues to the payment of
his officers, so that, their hopes bemg excited by the riches
of that country, they might heartily support each other,
and strengthen the army in prosecuting the war

It also came to hearing that Dara Shukoh had
mprisoned Isa Beg, the vakil of Aurangzeb, and had
sequestered his house 5

Proceedings of Murad Bakhsh

(Vol u, p 7) It was learhed from the news-letters
(akhbar) of Alhmadabad that Prince Muhammad Murad
Bakhsh had struck com and caused the khutha to be
read 1 his name He had also sent Khwaja Shahbaz, a
eunuch, with an army and necessary siege tramn for the

*This statement begmns with the words, “The news arm ed”,
showing that the author wntes from the side of Aurangzeb This,
or a phrase of like meanng, 15 often used

% Kasim Khan’s special duty was to act against Murad Buk}}?h,
and remoie hum from Guyrat, and to support Jaswant Singh”—
'Alamgir-nama, p 33
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enemies of the State, our brother must be reclaimed, and
he must go to pay a wvisit to the holy temple It 1s
important that you should allow of no delay i your
movements, but should march at once to chastise that
presumptuous 1nfidel Jaswant Singh You must consider
me as having arrived on your side of the Nerbadda, and
must look upon my numerous army and powerful artillery
as the means of securing your victory You must know
that I make the word of God my bail for this treaty and
compact, and you must by all means banish suspicion from

your mind ”
Aurangzeb arrived in Burhanpur on the 25th Jumada-1
awwal (1068 A H, 19th February, AD 1658) and

remained there a month attending to necessary arrange-
ments, and obtaming accurate ntelligence Qn the 25th
Jamada-! akhir he set out on his march to the capital
Jaswant Singh knew nothing of the approach of the great
army of the two brothers until they came within seven kos
of Ujjamn, when Raja_ Sheora), commandant of Mandu,
obtained mformation of their having crossed at the ford of
Akbarpur, and wrote the particulars to the Maharaja
Kasim Khan, on heding that Prince Murad Bakhsh had
left Ahmadabad, went forth m haste to welcome him But
when he learnt that the Prince had gone eighteen kos out
of the way to meet Aurangzeb, he turned back dis-
appomted Dara Shukoh’s men, who were 1n the fortress
of Dhar, when they beheld the irresistible forces of the
two brothers, took to flight and jomned the Maharaja
Raja Jaswant Singh, with Kasim Xhan, on the
approach of Prince Aurangzeb, advanced a march to meet
him and pitched s camp at the distance of one kos and a
half Aurangzeb then sent a Brahman called Kab, who
had a great reputation as a Hindi poet and master
of language to the Raja with this message “ My desire 1s to
- visit my father? I have no desire for war It 1s there-
fore desirable that you should either accompany me, or
keep away from my route, so that no conflict may anse,

*These few words represent the meaning of a great many

8
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and bring about a peace and gave orders that preparations
should be made for his journey But Dara Shukoh was
averse to this, and bemng supported mn his representations
by Khan Jahan Shayista Khan, he diverted his father from
his purpose It 1s also recorded that before the news
arrived of Raja Jaswant’s defeat, and before the two
armies of the Dakhin and Ahmadabad had united, the
Emperor desired to go towards them, and frequently con-
sulted Khan Jahan about 1t XKhan Jahan was maternal
uncle of Aurangzeb, and was well disposed towards him
He did not approve of the Emperor’s design, but spoke of
the excellent character and intelligence of Aurangzeb out
of the hearty kindness he felt for him When the
mtelligence arrived of the defeat of Raja Jaswant Singh,
the Emperor was very angry with Khan Jahan for the
part he had taken He struck him on the breast with his
staff, and refused to see him for some two or three days
But his old feelimg of kindness revived He again con-
sulted him about gomng forth to meet his sons, but the
Khan gave the same advice as before, so that, notwith-
standing the preparations, the intended journey ended in

nothing

Defeat of Dara Shukoh by Aurangzedb

(Text, vol 11, p 22) On the 16th of Sha’ban (1068 A H,
10th_May, AD 1658), Dara Shukoh sent Khallu-llah
Khan, and with some of the Imperial and his own
forces, as an advanced force to Dholpur, to make a stand
there, and secure the fords of the Chambal He himself
remalned outside the city (of Agra) waiting for the
arrival of Sulaiman Shukoh, who was expected to return
from his operations agamst Shua But as Sulaiman did
not arrive, he was obliged to start on his march to meet
and éhgage his two brothers On the 6th Ramazan,
near Samugarh, the two armies encamped about half a kos
distant from each other The forces which had been sent
to guard the fords had effected nothing at all Next day
Dara Shukoh busied himself in distributing his forces,

10
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putting hie guns an position and arranging s tran of
clephants  He advineed a httde wd took up a position 1n
v wide plain presenting a front newrlh {wo hos m width
The div was <o hot that manv <trong men died from the
heat o1 tharr wrmour and waint ot water  Aurangzeb nl:o
rode forth, but 2s he <1 no advantage m bemg peaipitate
and begmnmg the ficht he took s «tind about 4 cannon-
shot distance and waited for e adversary {0 commanee
the attach  But as he made no sign hevond a parade of
Ins forces after exemmg praver \urangzeb cneymped in the
sime position but gave orders for 1 «tiiet wateh heme hept
until mormmg  Next mormng! Aurangzeb  distuibuted
Ins forees (i the following manner) Mub inmad Murad
Bikhsh with s fumous «ardars took Ins place with the
left wing H ving made s arrwmeanente he kept
with him a party of bold and trusty nun ot Wl tribes ind
plieme Prince Muhimmad A zam bdound i the howds,
he went forth to hattk

The action begin with discharges of 1ochets and guns,
and thousands ot arrow~ flew from both <des  Sphr
Shukoh the leader of Dara< advanced forece, m con-
cert with Rustam Khan Daklim with ten or twehe
thousand horse made «an attick upon Auringzebs guns
Driving back all before them thev presced forward to
Prince Muhammad Sultan, who was with Aurangzeb’s
advance, and greit confusion arose n this part of the
armv  Just at tlus juncture, by luck, a ball from the
enemy g own guns struck the elephant of the brave Rustam
IKhan, and stretched the ammal dead upon the ground
This aceident mtimidated Rustam Khan, and he with-
drew from his attack upon the advanced force, and fell
upon the night wing under Bahadur Khan Koka This
commanding officer made 1 vigorous resistance, but forces
were continually brought to support Rustam Khan, and

*Or, as the author evpresses i, “When the <un, the mighty
monarch of the golden crown, with s world-conquering gword,
rose brnight and refulgent from hic onent nsmg-place, and when

the Junr of the starry host put lis head out of the window of the
horizon ”
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the battle grew warm Bahadur Khan at length received
a wound which compelled him to retire, and many were
kalled and wounded on both sides Aurangzeb’s forces
wavered, and seemed about to give way, when Islam Khan
and others brought remnforcements to Bahadur At the
same time Shaikh Mir and others, with the Altamsh, came
up to support the right wing, and to oppose Rustam Khan
and the forces under Sipihr Shukoh A desperate contest
was maintained, but at length Rustam Khan was
defeated, and Sipihr Shukoh also was hurled back

Dara Shukoh, being informed of the repulse of
‘Bipihr Shukoh and Rustam Khan, led the centre of his
army, composed of not less than 20,000 horse, against the
victorious wing He advanced with great bravery and
“firmness from behind his own guns against the guns and
the advanced force which had won the victory  He was
recelved- with such heavy discharges of rockets, guns and
muskets, and with such fierce charges from his brave
opponents, that he was compelled to retire

Dara next made an attack upon Prince Murad
Bakhsh, and led a force like the waves of the sea against
that lion of the field of battle The conflict was
raging when Khahlu-llah Khan, the leader of the enemy’s
vanguard, led three or four thousand Uzbek archers
agamnst the elephant of Murad Bakhsh The arrows
ramed down from both sides, and confusion arose imn the
ranks of Murad Bakhsh, so that many were overpowered
with fear and fell back =~ The elephant of Murad Bakhsh
was about to turn away covered with wounds from
arrows, spears, and battle-axes, but his brave rider
ordered 2 cham to be cast round his legs At this
moment Raja Ram Singh, a man highly renowned among
the Rajputs for his bravery, wound a string of costly
pearls round his head, and with his men clothed 1n yellow,
as bent upon some desperate action, charged upon the
elephant of Murad Bakhsh, and crymg out defiantly,
“ What, do you contest the throne with Dara Shukoh ?”
hurled his javelmn aganst Murad Bakhsh, then he cried
out fiercely to the elephant-driver, “ Make the elephant

12
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kneel down !” Murad Bakhsh having warded off his
assault, shot him 1n the forehead with an arrow and killed
him The Rajputs who followed that daring fellow mostly
fell dead around the feet of the Prince’s elephant, and made
the ground as yellow as a field of saffron

It 1s related m the ’Alamgwr-nama that at this pont
of the battle Aurangzeb came to the support of his brother,
and helped to repulse the enemy But the author of this
work has heard from his father (who was present i the
battle in the suite of the Prince, and remained with him
to the end of the engagement, although he was severely
wounded), and from other trustworthy informants, that
the Prince, after repeatedly making inquiries and learning
of the progress of the enemy, was desirous of gomng to the
support of his brother But Shaikh Mir dissuaded him,
and advised him to remain patient where he was Mean-
while the battle raged fiercely, and deeds of valour and
devotion were displayed on all sides

The fierce Rajputs, by their energy and desperate
fighting, made therr way to the centre (which was under
the command of Aurangzeb himself) One of them, Raja
Rup Singh Rathor, sprang irom his horse, and, with the
greatest daring, having washed his hands of life, cut his
way through the ranks of his enemies, sword in hand, cast
himself under the elephant on which the Prince was riding,
and began to cut the girths which secured the howda The
Prince became aware of this daring attempt, and n
admiration of the man’s bravery, desired his followers to
take the rash and fearless fellow alive, but he was cut to
pieces

While this was gomng on, Rustam Khan again advanced
against his brave opponents, and the fight grew hotter
Rustam, who was the mamstay of Dara’s army, Raja
Sattar Sal, and  were kalled 1 this conflict Dara, seemng
so many of his noble and heroic followers killed and
wounded, was much affected He became distracted and
wrresolute, and knew not what to do Just at this time a
rocket struck the howda of his elephant This alarmed
and discouraged him so much that he dismounted in haste
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from his elephant, without even waiting to put on his
slippers, and he then without arms mounted a horse The
sight of thig 1ill-timed alarm, and of the empty howda,
after he had changed his elephant for a horse,
disheartened the soldiers The men lost heart in sympathy
with thewr leader, and began to think of flight Just at
this time, as one of his attendants was girding him with a
quiver, a cannon ball carried off the man’s right hand and
he fell dead The sight of this struck terror into the
hearts of those around him, some of them dispersed, and
others fled from the fatal field Dara, beholding the
dispersion of his followers, and the repulse of his army,
prizing life more than the hope of a crown, turned away
and fled Sipihr Shukoh also, at this time, joined his father
with some of his followers,® and they all fled in despair
toward Agra A great victory was thus gamned Shouts
of exultation followed and the young princes offered their
congratulations

Aurangzeb descended from his elephant to return
thanks for this signal wvictory, surpassing all expectation,
and, after performing his devotions, he proceeded to the
tent of Dara Shukoh Everything had been ransacked
except this tent and the artillery, so he took possession of
the tent, which thus received a new honour He bestowed
presents and praises upon the princes and his devoted
nobles, delighting them with his commendation and eulogy.

Prince Murad Bakhsh had received many arrow
wounds 1 his face and body Aurangzeb first appled to
them the salve of prase and comphment, and then had
them dressed by skilful surgeons To the internal wounds
of that weak-minded? Prince he applied the balm of
thousands of pramses and congratulations upon (his
approaching) sovereignty Then he wiped away the tears
and blood from his brother’s cheek with the sleeve of con-
dolence It 18-aid that the howda in which Murad Bakhsh

*The ’Amals Salh says they were only thirty or forty in
number The same work gives a long and laboured account of this
battle, but 1t 13 not so arcumstantial as that of Khafi Khan

*Sadah-lauh, “tabula rasa”
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rode was stuck as thick with arrows as a porcupmne with
quulls, so that the ground of 1t was not visible This howda
was kept i the store-house in the fort of the capital as
a curiosity and as a memonial of the bravery of that
descendant of the house of Timur, and there 1t remained
411l the time of the Emperor Farrukh Siyar

Dara Shukoh, with two thousand horse, many of whom
were wounded and without baggage, arrived at Agra in
the evening without torches He proceeded to his own
house, and shame and remorse for his ruined fortune would
not allow him to visit lis father The Emperor sent for
him, professing a desire to talk and take counsel with him,
but he excused himself In the same night, after the third
watch, he went out of the city towards Dehli, intending to
proceed to Lahore He took with him Sipthr Shukoh, his
wife and daughter and several attendants He also carried
ofi on elephants, camels and mules, his jewels, gold, silver,
necessaries, and whatsoever he could In the third day’s
march he was joined by nearly 5,000 horse, and some nobles
and equipments, which were sent after him by his father

After resting a while from his wvictory, Aurangzeb
addressed a letter to the Emperor (recounting what had
passed) and excusing himself by referring all to the will of
God Soon afterwards, Muhammad Anmin Khan, and
Khan Jahan, son of Asaf Khan, with many other nobles,
who were the props of the State, came and proffered their
services to Aurangzeb, and he honoured them with gifts
of robes and jewels, horses, and elephants On the 10th
Ramazan Aurangzeb marched from Samugarh for Agra,
and encamped outside the city There he received from
his father a consolatory letter written 1n his own hand
Next day Kudsiya Padshah Begam, by command of her
father, came out to her brother, and spoke to him some
words of kindness and reproach by way of advice and as
a proof of affection The answer she received was contrary
to what she had wished, and she returned The Emperor
then wrote another admomitory letter, and with a sword
which bore upon 1t the auspicious name “Alamgir”
{world-conqueror), he sent 1t with kind messages by one of
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his personal attendants to Aurangzeb  The word
“ Alamgir ” immediately attracted notice It was deemed
a good omen, and called forth congratulations Aurangzeb
then sent Prince Muhammad Sultan to restore order in the
city, to rescue 1t from the violence and oppression of the
army and the mob, and to give peace to the people To
Khan Jahan, son of Asaf Khan, he gave the title of
Amiru-] umara and many of the other nobles who
had come to wait upon him were rewarded with increase of
rank and presents of money and jewels

Confinement of Shah Jahan,

(Vol 11, p 32) The authors of the three ’Alamgir-namas
have each described the seclusion of the Emperor Shah
Jahan by the wl of Aurangzeb, but ’Akil Khan Khafi, m
his"Wakvat-1 *Alamgur has entered fully and particularly
into matters, and has described the mvestment of the fort
(uf Agra), the confinement of Shah Jahan, the closing up of
the waters (band-namudan-r ab),® and the somewhat
bitter correspondence which passed From this 1t appears
that on the 17th Ramazan, 1068 (8th June, 1658},
Aurangzeb directed Prince Muhammad Sultan to go nto
the fort of Agra, and to place some of his trusty followers
m charge of the gates Afterwards he was directed to wait
upon his grandfather, to dehver to him some agreeable and
disagreeable messages respecting his retirement, and to cut
off from him all means of intercourse with the outside
Accordingly Prince Muhammad Sultan went 1n and acted
according to his instructions He took from the
Emperor all power and choice in matters of rule and
government, and placed him 1n seclusion

Muhammad Ja’far Khan was sent to secure Mewat,
which formed part of the jagw of Dara Shukoh
Twenty-six lacs of rupees, with some other requirements of
royalty, were presented to Murad Bakhsh On the 22nd
Ramazan Aurangzeb made his entry mto Agra, and took
up his abode 1n the house of Dara Shukoh

1 Probably figurative Bringing matters to a cnss
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Fhaht of Dara Shul oh

tVol 1, p 33} When Dara Shukoh reached the viemity
o1 Dl the dose veremt of Aurme=ch s 1mecs id the
ipprehencion o1 bemg shut up an the eily  defernuned him
to ranun outside  There he auploved lmself mn gather-
mg money and cupphics - Whiteaa he found i the royal
<tores or m the houses of the amire, he Jad hande upon.
He remmned come dave awating the arrnval of Sulniman
Shubeh who  ater e dejcrt o1 Shuye was wandonng
ihout 1 Bibar and Puny o oo <t of porplovitn—for
the newes at the sueee~s o1 Aurwesoh mmphtencd hnm tram
rome to jon s faher Dary poreoning that of he
temamed donger he would fall a4 prisoner mto the harsh
honds o1 his brodicr tiirchad oft towards the Panyab wath
e new army whneh had pathored round i mambering
thbout 10000 horee Therv dunv he wrote lctters to
suluman Shukoh  decenibing b wrotehed condition and
e approwchmg arrnoal at Schind and T oihore e adea
wiote concithtory Jetters to the fawpdare and governors of
the Panyab i v lueh he mmelad promsc~ wd threats e
rcpeitedly wrote to has taither lamonting s malnhity to
wut upon him  throuch hie adverse jortune and the un-
Inppy - dissension between the tva brothars and  therr
respectine adherent-

\uraingzeb alvo frequently resolved to go and <ce lus
tither to make (vcuscs, and to <ech formnvences of the
offences of which he hid bean gmltv, by no choee of lus
ovn but through the divine deerces of fate, md the un-
scemlv conduct of Ins brother But he hnew that lus
1ather’s feelings were strongh 1 {favour of Dara Shukoh,
and that under the mfluence of destiny he loct all <clf-
control, g0 he determmed that 1t wac hetter not 1o pav the
visit Inetead of gompg himseli, he ditected  Prince
AMuhammad A'zam to go and wait upon the Lmperor with
many apologies  The Prince accordingly presentcd 300
a hrafis and 4,000 rupees, and the Emperor, half 1 joy,
half m anger took the Prinec to lns bosom, and <hed tears
over lim as he embraced him
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Aurangzeb next turned his attention to the pursuit of
Dara Shukoh He left Prince Muhammad Sultan with,
to attend upon the Emperor, and he appointed Islam
Khan to be the Prince’s director (atalik) On the
22nd Ramazan he started in pursuit of his brother On
his way he learnt that Dara had left Dehli on the 21st
Ramazan, and had gone towards Lahore He sent
Khan-dauran to supersede Saiyid Kasim Barha in command
of the fortress of Allahabad If the Saiyid gave over the
fortress, he was to be treated with courtesy and sent to
Aurangzeb, 1f he refused to yield, Khan-dauran was
directed to immvest the fortress, and to call for remnforce-
ments if necessary
Shah Jahan, while 1n confinement, wrote secretly to
Mahabat Khan, Governor of Kabul (a long letter, n which
he said)  “ Dara Shukoh 1s proceeding to Lahore There
15 no want of money i1n Lahore, there 1s abundance of men
and horses in Kabul, and no one equal to Mahabat Khan
1n valour and gencralship The Khan ought therefore to
hasten with his army to Lahore, and, having there jomned
Dara Shukoh, they might march against the two undutiful
sons, to inflict upon them the due reward of their mis-
conduct, and to release the Emperor, the Sahib Kiran-i
sam, from prison ”

Imprisonment of Murad Bakhsh

(Vol n,p 87) This simple-minded! Prince had some good
quahties, but n the honesty of his heart and trustfulness
of his disposition, he had never given heed to the saymg
of "the great man (Sa’d1) that two kings cannot be con-
tammed 1n one kingdom He was deluded by flattering
ptomises, and by the presents of money, etc, which had
been sent to him, but they were deposits or loans rather
than gifts On the 4th Shawwal, while they were
encamped at Mathura, twenty-five kos from Agra, Murad
Bakhsh was made piisoner by a clever trick, which was
aided by fortune, and into the particulars of which 1t 1s

*The ‘Alamgir-nama calls lim “stumd and jgnorant”
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needless to ecnter Chamns were placed upon his feet
That same might four elephants with covered howdas were
sent off mm four different directions, each under two or
three sardars and an escort The elephant which was sent
to the fort of Salim-garh carried the prisoner Murad
Bakhsh This precaution was taken lest the partisans of
the Prince should fall upon the howda i which he was
confined All the treasure and effects of Murad Bakhsh,
not one dam or diwram of which was plundered, was con-
fiscated

Flght of Dara Shukoh  Aurangzeb Ascends the Throne

(Vol 11, p 39) Dara Shukoh, mn his progress through the
Panjab, broke up, burnt or sunk the boats where he crossed
the rivers It was 1eported that upon his arrnal at
Lahore he had seized upon nearly a kror of treasure, together
with all the stores belonging to the goyeinment and the roval
amirs, and that he was engaged in enlisting soldiers and
collecting munitions of war On hearing this, Aurangzeb,
not caring to enter the fortress of Dehly, encamped m the
garden of Aghar-abad, now called Shalamar, and he sent on
an ads anced force, under Bahadur Khan, in pursuit of Dara
On the 1st Z1-1 IXa’da, 1068 A H (22nd July, AD 1658)
after saying his-prayers, and at an auspicious time he took
his seat on the throne of the Empire of Hindustan, with-
out even troubling himself about placing his name on the
comage or having 1t repeated i the Ahutba Such
matters as titles, the Ahutba, the comage, and the sending of
presents to other sovereigns, were all deferred to lis second
taking possession of the throne

Sulamman Shukoh

{Vol n,p 41) Intelligence now arrinved that Sulaiman
Shukoh had crossed the Ganges, and intended to proceed
by way of Hardwar to jomn his father =~ The Amiru-l
umara and were sent off to intercept hum, by forced
marches On the 7th Zi-l Kada Aurangzeb began lis
march to Lahore i pursuit of Dara The reporters
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now sent 1 the news that when Sulaiman Shukoh was
approaching Hardwar, he heard that a force had been sent
agamst him, and he had consequently turned off to the
mountams of Srinagar His expectations of assistance
from the zamindais of this country had not been fulfilled,
so some of his adherents had parted from him, and were
reparring to Aurangzeb There remamed with him
altogether not more than five hundred horsemen, <o, not
deeming 1t prudent to stop longer there, he went off in the
dinection of Allahabad Before reaching that city his
guardian® (atalih) fell 1ll, and parted from him with more
of his followers Not more than two hundred now
remamed with him, so he returned to the Zamindar of
Srinagar His road passed through the jagir of the
Princess Kudsiyva  He extorted two lacs of rupees from her
manager, plundered his house, carried the man off prisoner,
and afterwards put him to death The remamnder of his
men now deserted him, and there remained only
Muhammad Shah Koka and a few attendants and
servants The Zamndar of Srinagar coveted the money
and jewels that he had with hun and kept him as a sort
of prisoner in his fort After this had been reported,
Amaru-l umara, who had been sent to inteicept Sulaiman
Shukoh, was directed to send him prisoner in charge of a
getachment, and to go himself to Agra to Prince Muhammad
ultan

Dara Shukoh

(Vol 11, p 42) After leaving Lahore, Dara Shukoh busied
himself in raising forces, and 1n winning the hearts of the
dwellers 1n those parts He made promises and engage-
ments 1 writing to the zammdars and fau)dars, to con-
cihate them and augment his army  So he collected nearly
twenty thousand horsemen He wrote to his brother Shu)a,
and made the most solemn promises and oaths, that after
bringing the country into subjection they would divide 1t
between them in a brotherly way These deceitful and

14 Bahadur Khan "—’Alamgir-nama -
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staying at Multan for a short time, had gone off towards
Bhakkar, and that his followers were daily decreasing

In the beginning of Muharram, 1069 A H, Aurangzeb (con-
tinuing his pursuit of Dara) pitched his camp on the banks
of the Ravi near Multan

. Prince Shwja

(Vol 1, p 45) Intelligence now arrived that Muhammad
Shuja had marched from Bengal with 25,000 horse and
a strong force of airtillery, with the intention of fighting
against Aurangzeb This proceeding changed the plans of
Aurangzeb, who deemed 1t necessary to give up the pursuit
of Dara, and to direct his energies to the repression of this
graceless brother So on the 12th of Muharram, 1069 (30th
September, A D 1658) Aurangzeb fell back towards Dehl,
the capital On the last day of Muharram, he started
from Lahore, and on the 4th Rabr’ul-awwal, he reached
Dehli  There he learned that Muhammad Shuja had
advanced as far as Benares, and that Ram Das, the com-
mandant, who had been appointed by Dara Shukoh, had
surrendered the fort to Shuja  The commandants of
Chitapur and Allahabad had also surrendered their fortresses
and jomed him After exacting three lacs of rupees
under the name of a loan from the bankers of Benares,
Muhammad Shuja continued the march He sent a force
against Jaunpur, and the commander of that fortress after
i1ts investment surrendered and jomned Shuja

M Jumla Mvwazzam Khan

(Vol 1, p 44) Instructions were sent to the Dakhin,
directing the release of Mu’azzam Khan, alias Mir Jumla,
whom Aurangzeb had deemed 1t desirable to leave in con-
finement at Daulatabad® Mu’azzam Khan now arrived
from the Dakhin, his zeal having urged him to make a
quick journey He brought with him his military materel
Aurangzeb received him graciously, and acted under his

*These few lines are found four pages earlier m the text
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For some time the cause of all this disorder was unknown,
All kinds of erroneous surmises were made, and a panic
was spreading through the whole army Many men were
so disheartened that they joined the plunderers, thinking
that the best way of escaping from the disaster One
party fled to the open country, another approached the
enemy’s army, and set about ravaging But for all this
confusion 1n the army, nothing shook the resolution of
Aurangzeb It was now reported to him that the trator
had moved off towards his home Then Aurangzeb
descended from his elephant, and took his seat 1n a Iitter
that all the panie-stricken men who beheld him might see
that he was resolute, and had no wmtention of retreating
He sent orderhes round to the commanders, directing them
to forbid all 11ders of clephants or horses to stir from their
places*  Without esaggeration, half the army had gone
away to plunder o1 escape, and many had joined the enemy
Intelligence was brought of Jaswant Singh having marched
away towards Agra

Aurangzeb’s devoted servants now gathered round him
from far and near He then again mounted his elephant,
and without a cloud upon his brow rode forth to arrange
his order of battle Mu’azzam Khan recerved authority
to make such alterations in the disposition of the forces
as he deemed necessary The battle began about the
fourth or fifth ghar: of the day with a cannonade which
made the earth to tremble, and filled the hearts of both
armies with awe and trembling A cannon-ball from the
Emperor’s army reached the elephant on which Sultan
Zamu-1 ’abidin? was riding, and although 1t did not strike
the Sultan,® 1t carried off one leg of the elephant-driver, and
one leg also of the personal attendant who was seated
behind the howda This circumstance greatly discouraged
many of Shuja’s army Saiyid ’Alam Barha, with three
elephants, made an attack upon the left of the royal army,

[ *More eulogy of the Emperor's firmness and resolution follows
rhere and afterwards

*“Son of Shuja " Alamgir-nama

*“Or the elephant”—Jb
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and the vigour of lus assault spread confusion m the ranks
of his opponents, and many of them took to fight  The
retreat of the left wing made the centre waver, and the
Emperor was left with only 2,000 horsemen to protect him
Greatly encowaged by the sight, the enemy made a bold
and fierce attack upon the centre The Emperor mounted
upon an elephant, moied about nspiring his men and
shooting arrows agamst his enemies  Murtaza Iuli Khan,
of the left wing, with  sevcial others, made a bold charge
upon the enemy, and the Emperor, sceing how matteis
stood, joined 1n the charge This gave a scvere check to
the enemy, who lost many men killed and wounded

The vigour of the Sanyids of Barha had abated, but
their three elephants, cach of them dashing about with s
trunk a chamn of two or three mans weight, overthrew and
crushed every one who came 1n their way One of them
at length charged towards the elephant of the Emperor
Without moving from s place or changing countenance,
the Emperor made signs for his guards to shoot the animal s
driver  One of the guards brought the man to the ground,
and then one of the royal elephant-drivers got upon the
elephant’s neck and led him off The other two elephants
then charged the rnght wing of the 10oval armv and other
forces of the enemy coming up, this wing fell into con-
fusion The Emperor was urged to mote to 1ts support,
but he was hotly engaged himself He sent messages to
the officers of the right wing, urging them to stand fast
until he could come to their assistance Several of the
enemy’s leading men now fell, and the efforts of the foices
opposed to the Emperor relaved, so that he was able to
proceed to the succour of lis right This encouraged the
men Cries of “Kall ' kall '” were 1a1sed on every side,
and many of the enemy were killed A general attack was
made on the enemy’s centre, and then several chiefs, who
had thought it expedient to support him, came over and
jommed the Emperor Victory declared in favour of the
Emperor, and when the glad news of Shuja’s flight was
brought, shouts of congratulation and victory arose, and
the drums and trumpets sounded in triumph
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The wictors fell upon the camp of the enemy and
thoroughly plundered 1t, every man took what he could
lay hands on, but 114 gunms, 115 elephants, and much
treasure, and many jewels, came into the possession of the
Emperor  After descending from his elephant, and
returning thanks to God for Ins wictory, he prased
his nobles for their exertions Then he sent his son
Muhammad Sultan® in pursuit of Shuja, with directions to
use every exertion to cut off his flight

Flght of Dara Shukoh

(Vol m, p 60) Intulligence was brought that Dara
Shukoh had arrived at Bhakkar in a wretched condition,
with only three thousand horse Want of porters, and the
desertion of many of his adherents, compelled him to leave
part of lus treasure and baggage under charge of some of
lus servants at Bhakkai Dense thorn-brakes, toilsome
marches and loss of porters impeded lis progress through
the salt desert beside the river of Thatta, this, with the
loss of baggage, which fell into the hands of his pursiers,
allowed him no rest Through want of water, the hard-
ships of the march, and vatious diseases, many of his men
died or fell away from him  Shaikh Mir, his pursuer, kept
treading on his heels, and, after crossing the desert, ne
had not more than a thousand horsemen left After
arnving at Siwistan he deteimined to proceed to Ahmada-
bad

The force of Shaikh Mir, the pursuer, also suffered
greatly from want of water, and the long and rapid march
Loss of horses and porters, added to the other hardships,
lilled and scattered them Most of those who remamed
had to march on foot On these facts bemng reported,
Shaikh Mir was ordered to return

Surrender of Allahabad

(Vol n, p 61) On the 1st Jumada-1 awwal Aurangzeb
proceeded towards Agra, and at the second stage he

¢ Mu'azzam Khan was sent with him "—Amal« Sehh
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recertved a despatch from Prince Muhammad Sultam,
reporting a second success over Shuja  Saiyid Kasim,
commandant of the fortress of Allahabad, left a deputy mn
charge of the fortress, and accompanied Shuja to battle
After the defeat, Kasim Khan returned to the fortress,
and busied himself mm making 1t secure When Shuja
arrived, he made plausible excuses for not giving up the
place He went out with alacrity to meet the Prince,
made promises of fidehity, and entertamed him, after which
he was dismissed to his post When Prince Muhammad
Sultan drew near, he wrote to him a repentant letter, pro-
fessing his obedience, and sending to him the keys of the
fortress On hearing of this, Aurangzeb ordered Khan-
dauran to be placed in command of Allahabad and Kasim
Khan to be sent courteously to his presence

Raja Jaswant

(Vol 1, p 61) Aurangzeb appointed Amir Khan and .
with ten thousand horse to punish the traitor Raja Jaswant
He also jomned to this force Rai Smngh Rathor, a nephew
of Raja Jaswant, who had a family feud with his uncle:
This chief was honoured with the title of raja and many
presents Hopes also were held out to him of a grant of
Jodpur, his native country

Dara Shukoh

(Vol m, p 62) Directions were sent to Amir Khan,
Governor of Lahore, that upon the return of Shaikh Mir
from the pursuit of Dara, he was to remove Prince Murad
Bakhsh from Sahm-garh, and send him under charge of
Shaikh Mir to Gwahor

On the 18th Jumada-1 awwal Aurangzeb reached Agra,
and on the 23rd he again set out  He now learnt that
Dara Shukoh had passed through Kachh to the borders
of the province of Ahmadabad He had collected round
him three or four thousand horse After the troops of
Aurangzeb had given up the purswit of him, he proceeded
leisurely endeavouring to gamm over the faujdars and
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zamindars, and to collect soldiers By presents of money
and jewels he won over the Zamindar of Kachh,-and
affianced s daughter in marnage to Prince Sipithr Shukoh
The zamimndar sent him on with an escort through his
territory towards Ahmadabad Upon his arriving there,
Shah Nawaz Khan, the subadar, one of whose daughters
was married to Aurangzeb, and another was in the house
of Murad Bakhsh, went out to meet him, accompanied by
Rahmat Khan diwan, and others They presented to him
near ten lacs worth of gold, silver and other property
belonging to Murad Bakhsh, which was in Allahabad
Dara Shukoh then exerted himself n collecting money and
men, and in winning adherents by presents of robes and
jewels, and by promotions 1 rank and title He appomted
officers who took possession of the ports of Surat,
\\Kambayat, Broach, and the districts around In the course
of a month and seven days he collected 20,000 horse, and
he sent requisitions to the governors of Bnyapur and
Haidarabad for money and men He also thought over
several plans for going to the Dakhin, and for jomning Raja
Jaswant Singh On the 1st Jumada-l akhir Dara Shukoh
began his march with a well-appomnted army and a large
tram of artillery, for he had obtamned thirty or forty
guns from Surat As he pursued his march, he every day
received false and delusive letters from Raja Jaswant,
befooling him with promises of coming to his assistance

When Aurangzeb recerved intelligence of these pro-
ceedings, he marched towards Ajymir  Mirza' Raja Jai
Singh had mferceded with him on behalf of Raja Jaswant,
50 he pardoned his offences, and wrote to him a concilia-
tory letter, remnstating him m s mansab, and restorng
to him his title of Maharaja He at the same time
directed the Raja to write to him about the state of affairs,
and send the letter, by swift messengers  Muhaminad
Amm Khan, who had been commissioned to pumish the
Raja, was recalled Raja Jaswant, who had advanced
twenty kos from Jodpur to meet Dara Shukoh, on recerving

*The same title 15 given to him 1 the "Amal+ Salih
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the Emperor’s letter, broke off his alliance w:th Dara, and
returned to his own country

This defection greatly troubled Dara, who opened a
correspondence with the Raja, and endeavoured to win
him over by promises and flattery, but without effect
When Dara came to a place twenty kos distant from
Jodpur he sent a Hindu named De Chand to the Raja,
but he artfully replied that he remamed true to his
engagement, but that 1t was not expedient for lum to
mote just then  Dara Shukoh, he said, should go to Ajymur,
and open communications with other Rajputs If two or
three Rajputs of note jommed bim, then the Raja
would also come to his support Dara Shukoh, having no
other course open, proceeded to Ajymir, and again sent De
Chand to Jaswant, but all his persuasions and remon-
strances were in ‘vain, and 1t was ewvident that all the
Raja’s statements were false and treacherous The fact
of his having recened a letter of pardoh from Aurangzeb
was also publicly talked about It has been said that
“ Necessity_turns lhons mto foxes,” and so Dara Shukoh,
not thstanding lus knowledge of the Raja’s perfidy, sent

S:pithr Shukoh to him, but although the Prince flattered

and persuaded, and held out great promises, the traitor did
not listen, and the Prince, like De Chand, turned empty
away

Deprived of all hope of assistance from Raja Jaswant,
Dara Shukoh was at a loss as to what course to pursue
Then he heard of the near approach of Aurangzeb, and
resolved to fight But not deeming 1t expedient to fight a
regular battle, he determined to retire into the hills about
Ajmir, and to throw uvp lines of defence Accordingly he
moted mto the defiles, blocked up the roads with barriers of
stone and earth, and stationed lus guns and musketeers so as
to make his posmon secure He himself took his station
with the centre Aurangzeb directed the commander of
his artillery to advance his guns against Dara’s hnes
For three days most wvigorous attacks were made, but
Dara’s position was very strong, and Pis men fougbt
bravely, so that the assailants made no impression Dara’s
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(Vol WP 75) Prince shuye fled pefore tn€ pursumg force
of Princt Muhammad gultan 10 Jahnngxr-mgnr (Dacca),
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and Mu 1zzam Khan obtaincd poscesaion of the fort of
Monair Shorthy afterwards the fort of Chunar, which
Shuja had got mto s pover, wae given up to \urangzeb

Second Year of the Raan (1659 11D)

(Vol n, p 77)  The sccond vear of the reyen commenced
cn the 4th Ramaran, 1669 A 1 The Tmperor « name and
title= v ere proclaunied n the palpit as ¢ Abu-l Murafiar
Mulii-a din Muhamimad Auranpgzeb Bahadur 'Alammr
Bid-hihe Ghazt ' In former rapns one ade of the coms
hid been adorned with the words of the crced and the names
of the first four Khahis, but as comns pies mto many un-
worthy places, and fall under the feet of nfidels, 1t was
ordered that thi~ euper-eription <hould be echanged (for
ce~tain couplets conlanar g the Lmpero=« namd)

(Vol 11 p 79) Since the ragn of the Emperor Akbar the
offic1 il vear of aceount 1nd the vears of the rein had heen
reckoned from the I<t Tarwardy, when the Sun enters Aries,
to the end of Isfandivar and the vear and ate monthe were
called Ilahi, but a= thie rczembled the svstem of the fire-
worshipper~  the Emperor m hic zeal for upholding
Mubammadan rule, direeted that the vear of the reign
should be reckoned by the Arab lunar vear and monthe,
and that 1 the revenue accounte also the lunar year <hould
be preferred to the <olar  The festival of the (solar) new
vear was cntirely abohished  Mathemntieians, astronomers,
and men who hwe rtudied nctors know that  the
rceurrence of the four seacons, summer, winter the rany
gcreon of Hindustan, the autumn and spring harvests, the
rincning of the corn and fruit of each seacon, the tankhwah
of the jaqrs and the monev of the mancabadars, are all
dependent upon the solar rechoning, and eannot be regulated
by the lunar, still s religious Majesty was unwilling
that the nauroz and the iear and months of the Mam
ghould give their names to the anniversary of lis aceession

Dara Shuhoh

(Vol 1, p 80) The «ad circumstances of the remamnder
of Dara Shukol’s career must now be related  On leaving
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the mountains of Ajmere, he proceeded with his wife,
daughter, some jewels, a httle money, and a few domestic
servants, towards Ahmadabad The rest of his treasure,
goods, and necessary baggage, with some female servants
horne by twelve elephants and horses, he left behind in
charge of servants, some of them old, some new, in the
company and under the superintendence of some trusty
cunuchs, with orders to_follow as quickly as possible
When this party had marched four or five kos, all the
servants! began to plunder the property, and strugghng and
fighting with each other, every man seized what he could
lay hands on The baggage was taken from the backs of
the elephants and placed on camels, and the women were
stripped of their jewels and taken off the camels to be
mounted on the elephants, then the plunderers, with camels
and horses laden with money and articles of great value,
made off for the desert The eunuchs were unable to
prevent the proceedings of their escort In great distress,
and 1n dread of the pursuit of the victorious troops, they
were mtent upon preserving their own honour and that of
their master , so they led off the women on the elephants,
and pursuing all mght the track of Dara through the desert,
after a might and a day they overtook him

That forlorn fugitive, in sore distress, without
baggage, and despoiled by plunderers, wandered on through
the desert In eight days’ time he approached Ahmadabad
But the officials of the city  proclaimed Aurangzeb, and
took measures to prevent Dara from entering The
fugitive percerved that ill-fortune everywhere awaited him
He gave up all hope of getting possession of the city, and
went to Kari, two kos from Ahmadabad There he sought
assistance from XKanji Koli, one of the most notorious
rebels and robbers of that country Xanj1 joined him, and
conducted him through Gujrat to the confines of Kachh
Here he was jommed by Gul Muhammad, whom he had
made governor of Surat and Broach, and who brought with
hin fifty horse and two hundred matchlockmen The

*The text says simply “all,” but 1t 1s clear from the context
that this means the seriants
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zamindar of Kachh, when Dara lateh pacsed through the
country, entertamed lam, treated ham with every respeet,
and affianced a daughier m marrage to ne <on, all n
expectation of future advantice  Dara, i e distress,
now looked to lim for asaistanee but he heeded not, and
did not even chow the courtesy of 2 vt After two davs
spent n fruitless efiorte to <often the zamindar, Dara, with
tearful exes and burning heart resolved to procced o
Bhakkar

On reachmng the frontier of Smd TFiror Mewaty who
had Iatherto accompimied the untortunate Prince, <coing
how iz evil fate «ull clung to him, bandoned the li-
starred fugitine ind went oft to Dehhh Dara, m a
bewaldered condition, proceeded toward the country of
Jannvan?, but the dweller~ i the deverts of that country
closcd the roads with the intention of making him prisoner
With <ome fighting and trouble he cseaped from thece
people and made his wav nto the countrv of the Makaslns
Alirza Makachh the elief of the tribe, came forth to mect
bim, took hun home with great hindness, and entertned
him  After thie he pronoced to <end him towards Iran
under an czcort wihich wae to conduet hin fo Kandahar,
tuelve marches distant from wlhere he was, wd he «trongly
adviced the adoption of tlne course  But Dara could not
gne up ns futile hopes of recovering hie throne and crown,
and resolved to go to Mahk Tiv an, zamindar of Dhandar 2
who had long been hound to him by acts of generosity, and
sent to assure him of his devotion and fidehity

When Dara reached the land of this evil zammndar,
Mahk Jiwan came out like the destroymg angel to meet
lim  As a guest-murdering host he conducted Dara home,

. '“Croesed the Indu= and proceeded to the countrv of Chand
Khan (or Jandban) "—~Alamqair-nama p 412 The name Jawnan
15 confirmed by both MSS of IKhafi Khan

* Clphinstone hae mistal en the name of the man for that of g
countn  He ecalls lum “the chief of Jun on the eastern frontier
of Sind” The ’Alamgir-nama calls him * Mahk Jiwan Awviub, an

Afghan,” and the name of lis clate 18 gnven as “Dadar” or
“Dhadhar” In the ‘Amal-t Salil 1t 15 “Dhawar” It 15 probably
Dadar 1in Kachh Gandava
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and exerted himself to entertain him During the two or
three days that Dara remamed here, lus wife, Nadira
Begum, daughter of Parwez, died of dysentery and
vexation Mountain after mountain of trouble thus
pressed upon the heart of Dara, grief was added to grief,
sorrow_to sorrow, so that his mind no longer retained 1ts
equibbrium  Without considering the consequences, he
sent her corpse to Lahore i charge of Gul Muhammad, to
be buiied there* He thus parted from one who had been
faithful to him through his darkest troubles He himself
remained, attended only by a few domestic servants and
useless eunuchs

After performing the ceremonies of mourning, Dara
determined to set out the next morning under the escort
of Malik Jiwan for Iran, by way of Kandahar  Jiwan
apparently was ready to accompany him to Iran, but he
had mwardly rcsolved to forward his own interests by
trampling under foot all claims of giatitude,? and of making
the wretched fugitive prisoner So he formed his plan
He accompanied his guest for some kos Then he
represented that 1t was nccessary for him to return in
order to procure some further provisions for the journey,
which he would collect and would overtake Dara after two
or three days’ march Accordingly he went back, leaving
his brother with a party of the ruffians and robbers of the
country to attend Dara This man suddenly fell upon his
victim and made him piisoner, without giving him a chance
of resistance Then he carried him back with Sipihr
Shikoh and his companions to the perfidious host, and
kept him under guard in the place appointed Malk Jiwan
wrote an account of this good service to Raja Jar Singh and
Bahadur Khan, who had been sent from Ajmir i pursuit
of Dara, and he also wrote to Bakir Khan, governor of
Bhakkar Bakir Khan imstantly sent off Malik Jiwan's

1The decessed had left a will desiing to be buried
¢ Hindusthan "— Alamgir-nama

*The ’Amal- Salth says that “the zamindar Jiwan was bound
1n gratitude to Dara by many hindnesses and favours”
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letter express to Aurangzeb TUpon the arnval of Bakir
Khan’s despatch, Aurangzeb communicated the fact to his
private councillors, but did not make 1t public until the
arrival of a letter from Bahadur Khan confirming the news
At the end of the month of Shawwal 1t was pubhshed by
beat of drum The public voice spoke with condemnation
and abhorrence of Malik Jiwan, but a robe and a mansab
of 1,000 with 200 horse were conferred on him

It was now ascertained that Sulaiman Shukoh had
sought refuge with the zamindar of Srinagar Ra)a
Rajrup was therefore directed to write to the zamindar,
and” advise him to consult his own interest and bring
Sulaiman out of s territory, if not, he must suffer the
consequences of the royal anger?

In the middle of Zi-1 hyja, Bahadur Khan brought
Dara Shukoh and his son Sipithr Shukoh to the Emperor
who _gave orders that both father and son should be
carried nto the city chained and seated on an elephant,
and thus be exposed to the people in the Chand1 Chauk and
the bazar, after which they were to be carried to
Khizarcbad 1 Old Dehli, and there confined  Bahadur
Khan, after giving up his prisoner, received great rewards
and marks of favour

Two days afterwards Malik Jiwan, who had received
the title of Bakhtiyar Khan, entered the city, and was
passing through the streets of the bazar The 1idlers, the
partisans of Dara Shukoh, the workmen and people of all
sorts, mciting each other, gathered 1into a mob, and, assail-
ing Jiwan and his companions with abuse and imprecations,
they pelted them with dirt and filth, and clods and stones
so that several persons were knocked dewn and killed and
many were wounded Jiwan was protected by shields held
over his head, and he at length made his way through the
crowd to the palace They say that the disturbance on
this day was so great that it bordered on rebellion If
the kotwal had not come forward with his policemen, not

*The ’Amalw Salih 15 more exphat, and says that Sulaiman
was to be sent to Aurangzeb
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one of Mahk Jiwan’s followers would have escaped
with Iife  Ashes and pots full of urine and ordure were
thrown down from the roofs of the houses upon the heads
of the Afghans, and many of the bystanders were mjured
Neat day the kotwal made an mvestigation, and 1t was
ascertamed that ar ahadr (guardsman) named Haibat
had taken a leading part in the disturbance He was
condemned by a legal decision, and was executed

At the end of Zi-1 hiya, 1069' (September 1659), the
order was given for Dara Shukoh to be put to death under
a legal opmion of the lawyers, because he had apostatized
from the law, had vilified religion, and had allied himself
with heresy and imnfidelity After he was slam, lns body
was placed on a howda and carried round the city So
once alive and once dead he was exposed to the eyes of all
men, and many wept over his fate  He was huried 1n the
tomb of Humayun Sipihr Shukoh was ordered to be
mmprisoned 1n the fortress of Gwahor

Remassion of Taxes

(Vol 11, p 87) The movements of large armies through
the country especially 1in the eastern and northern parts,
during the two years past, and scarcity of ramn m some
parts, had combined to make grain dear To comfort the
people and alleviate theiwr distress, the Emperor gave
orders for the remission of the rahdar: (toll) which was
collected on every highway (guzar), frontier and ferry,
and brought mn a large sum to the revenue He also
remitted the pandari, a ground or house cess, which was
paid throughout the Imperial domimons by every trades-
man and dealer, from the butcher, the potter and the
greengrocer, to the draper, jeweller, and banker Some-
thing was paid to the government according to rule under
this name for every bit of ground in the market, for every
stall and shop and the total revenue thus derived exceeded
lacs (of rupees) Other cesses, lawful and unlawful, as

**On the 26th day’—Amal--Salth
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the car-clma=r b 1z-<hunari 3 bar-oadi " {he clarar (cra=ing
ta\) of the Ranarac, the taraana”™ the eollietions from
the faur< held at the festivale of Muhaminadm enpts
md it the Jafrac or {fure ot the mfidele Teld near Thadu
temples throurhout the eountry {ir and wide where laes
of people ac-amble once 1 vear and whore buving wd
vellag of all hinde roce on The tav ap epirite on
cambhng-houces  on brothele  the fines  thank-ofiorinee
ind the fourth part of debte reeovered v the help of
migistrates from ercditors Theeo md othar amposte
nearlh aghty m number which brought i hrore o1 rupeee
to the public trevury were oll aboliched  thronghout
Minanstan Beade theee the nithe o1 corn * whieh iwaally
brought m twentv-fine Ties o0 rupoce wae ramtted
ordcr to allevide the henay eost o prun ‘To onforee
these remisstons ofnnpant orders were pubhehod evarn-
where throughout the provimecs by the hide of miec-
bearers and <oldiers (ahad)

But althoush e grietous and boneficent Majoety
remitted thoee tines, and reaucd otrict ordere prolulnting
their  collection  the  wanewus  propencities o men
prevatled <o that with the execpbion of the pandarr vInch,
bemg moctly obtamed from the capits] and the elndf aue,
fclt the foree of the thohtion the rov 4l prolition had no
cficet ind fangdars mmd mmrdare o ramote plices did not
vithhold their hande from thece vactione Tarely
bec wee throughout the Imporiil dommmons m the 10gn
of Ywanezd, no for ud drosd of pumdhmont ransned
m the hawrte of the jngirdars faygdars and 7 amnd s
Seconalv, beewsc the ravanue officcrs through mattantion,
or v ant of con<aderton or wath an eve to profit contrin
to whit was mtended made deductions (for thes¢ eceece)
from the fanl hual >ccounte of the jamrdare  So the

PA v oon godds, the panted tent hae bar- humarr but the
MSS agree i wnting hus

*This does not ppeor n ather two of the MRS referrd to

' Charat bangara wa twwrnana wa hosd v augam ' octe The
Luwra ana ought etvmolomenally to mecan <ome voluntarm  contri-
hution ahfirr yme-r ghalla
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1agirdars, under the pretext that the amount of the cesses
was entered 1n thewr tankhwah papers, continued to collect
the: rahdar1 and many other of the abohished imposts, and
even mcreased them When reports reached the govern-
nent of infractions of these orders, (the offenders) were
punished with a duminution of mansab, and the delegation
of mace-bearers to thewr districts The mace-bearers
forbad the collection of the mmposts for a few days, and
then refired After a while, the offenders, through their
patrons or the management of their agents, got thew
mansab restored to its origmnal amount So the regulation
for the abolition of most of the imposts had no effect

The rabdari 1n particular 1s condemned by righteous
and just men as a8 most vexatious impost, and oppressive
to travellers, but a large sum 18 rased by 1t  In most
parts of the Imperial territories the faujdars and jagirdars,
by force and tyranny, now exact more than ever from the
traders, and poor and necessitous travellers The
zamindars also, seemng that no nquiries are made,
extort more on roads within their boundaries than 18
collected on roads under royal officers By degrees matters
have come to such s pass, that between the time of leaving
the factory or port and teaching their destination, goods
and merchandize pay double their cost price m tolls
Through the willainy and oppression of the toll-collectors
and the zamindars, the property, the honour, and the hves
of thousands of travellers and peaceful wayfarers are
frittered away The Mahrattas, those turbulent people
of the Dakhin (before the peace and after the peace which
I shall have to write about m the reign of Farrukh Siyar),
and other zamindars upen the frontier, have carried their
violence and oppression i the matter of the rahdan to such
extremes as are beyond description

The War with Shuja—Defection of Prince
Muhammad Sultan

(Vol 1,p 90) Prince Muhammad Sultan, with Mu’azzam
Khan as his adviser and commander-in-chief, pursued Shuja
until he reached Dacca, where Shuja busied himself 1
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collecting mumtions of war, men and artillery  The
command of the Imperial army and the appomntment of the
amurs rested m a great degree with Mu’azzam Khan  This
was a great annoyance to the Prince, and Shuja, having got
mformation of this, conceived ihe idea of winnmg the
Prince over to huis side  So he opened communications with
the Prince, and by letters and presents, and the arts which
gan the feehngs of 1cung, mexperienced men, he seduced
the Prince from the duty he owed to lus father, and brought
Inm over to his own side  Soon he offered the Prince his
daughter 1n marriage, and at length the Prince was so
deluded as to resolve upon jowning Shuja  Towards the
end of the month Ramazan, at the begmning of the third
year of the reign, he sent a message to Shuj~, mforming
him of lis intention ond in the mizht he embarked mn a
boat on the Ganges vath Amir Kul, the commander of the
artillery, Kasim ’All Mr-tuzak, who were the prime
movers 1m this business, and with some eunuchs and
domestic servants, taking with Inm all the treasure and
jewels he could When Shuja heard of this step, he
referred 1t to the favour of God, and sent Ins son Buland
Akhtar with several boats and porters to conduct the Prince
with his treasure and baggage over the rmer

After the Prince had crossed over, and Shuja’s men
were busy in carrymng away lis treasure and baggage, the
fact of lus evasion became known, and was coemmunicated
to Mu’azzam Khan The desertion caused greet uneasiness
1 the Impenal army, and Mu’azzam Khan himself was
much annoyed and troubled, but he would not allow this
to be seen  He mounted his horse, mspected the lnes,
encouraged the troops, and did all he could to counteract
the effects of this untoward proceeding The ramny season
had come, so, for the comfort of his troops, he removed
thirty kos from Akbarnazer to a igh ground suitable for
a camp 1 the rains

Shuja passed over to Akbarnagar by boats, and
attacked Mu'azzam unawares, and although the Imperial
forces made a splendid resistance, some of their allies were
mdifferent or disaffected, so they were overpowered and
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compelled to retreat Muw'azzam Khan brought up some
forces from his centre, and encouraging the waverers, he
renevwed the resistance and charged  Two or three of
Shuja’s chief amirs were killed or wounded and his attack
was eventually repulsed There were several other conflicts
with similar results, until the reins and the rising of the
riner put an end to all fighting Muhammad Sultan
married Shuja’s daughter, and 1t was announced that after
spending a few days in nuptial pleasure at Akbarnagar,
the attack on the Imperial army would be renewed
Mu’azzam Khan received reinforcements after the cessation
of the ramns, and 1t would be a long story to relate all his
bold and skilful movements Suffice 1t to say that in the
course of fifteen to twenty days there were some sharp
conflicts, 1n which Shuja was defeated, and eventually put
to flight, and escaped 1n the war-boats, by means of which
he had been enabled to make his attacks on the army of
Mu’azzam Manjy of the war-boats were sunk by the fire
of the artillery, and some were captured . Several actions
were fought near the streams, and also between the war-
boats on the Ganges 1n the vieiity of Tanda, in which many
men were killed and wounded

When Aurangzeb recerved the intelligence of
Muhammad Sultan’s going over to Shuja, and of Mu’azzam
Khan’s obstinate fichting, he thought 1t prudent and
necessary to go himself to the seat of war, and on the 5th
Rabru-l awwal he set out for the East ~ About the middle
of Rabr’u-s san1 intelligence arrived that Prince Muhammad
Sultan had left Shuja, and had again joned Mu’azzam
Khan The Prince repented of the step he had taken,  and
communicated to one of the commanders in the royal army
that he desired to return .. He escaped with some of his
servants and jewels and money on board of four boats,
but he was pursued by the boats of Shuja The boats were
fired upon and one was sunk, but the Prince escaped His
return gave great joy to Mu’azzam Khan, who reported the
fact to the Emperor, under whose orders he was sent to
Court* (and his assocuates to prison)

*The ’Amale Salih says that the prince was confined 1 the
fort of Mir-garh, or 1n Salim-garh according to ’Alamgir-nama
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Wihen the Prinee rcturned to s father < army, Shuga
mcantated thght but «tll vome hard fiphtiz went on At
length Shuya desp urad of <uccces, and retired lowmg Bongal
to the occupstion of Mu ~=um Rhan

Stah Tahan

(ol i p 101) Ay Jetters paseed hotwaon the T peron
Shah Jihm and Murmesch il o1 complants and
riproaches on one <yde md ol arntting (vense on the
other  There 1~ o wovant wwe to be paned from rocordime
this corre-pondenee nnd the copies of the Lnperor « lotters
are not i the awthoer = poescsaon but two or throe! lotters
wlich Aurimezeb wrote to e father are hue reproduedd
verbatim and tle contonts of Shal Dl < laters man be
anterred from them

(p 101 “The third Yettar s m answar to onc v eitton by
Shah Talin to Aurwpgeeb pardomng los offances, and
gending come Jv el ord dothes bddenang to I)ry Shul ol
which had been left i Ins palace

* After diccharging the obsarvanecs of rchmon gt s
repre-ented fo vour most august preccnee The gricions
letter which vou <ent ain answer to the humble «titcment of
your semvant® conforred grest honour upon him at 1 mo-t
auspiclous e The ghid tidings of the pardon of hi-
faulte md <ine hove filled lam wath jon and gladneee
Through the gricious hindness of Ins fault-forgmvimg and
excuee- iecepting father and mscter, he 1 filled with hope
Thank< be to God that Your Hichness hetenimg to the
sugce-tions o} equty and mert, has prferred merev to
revenge nd his reccued this wiched and dicgraced cinner
from the abyves of corrow ind micery i both vorlde! Ihe
firm hope m the merev of God i~ that i future no unworth
action will proceed from thic humble <erv int! God, who
knowe the scerets of the heart« who, nccording to the beht
of the futhful and the mfidel, wnd accordmg to all rehgione
and faiths, takes netr of hes ind fdechoods, He hnows that

*Three e pnvan but the Lt one onlv has heen trins] ded

o "He clls himeelf mund, “dicaple,” and s father murd,
spintual teacher”
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this servant 1s not and has never been acting mn opposition
to the will and pleasure of his august father, as evil-judging
men have supposed, hut that he has considered himself the
deputy of his father, end continues firm m this important
service and duty! But the due ordering of the affairs of
the State and of the Faith, and the comfort of the people,
are 1mpossible under the rule of one who acts as a deputy
So, unwilhingly, for the safety of the State and good of the
people, he 1s acting, for a few days, in the way which his
heart disapproves God knows how many regrets he has
felt 1in this course of action! Please God, the moment that
peace shall dawn upon the country, and the clouds of strife
shall be dispelled, all Your Majesty’s wishes shall be grati-
fied to your heart’s desire!, This Iumble one has devoted
the best part of his life entirely to performing good services
and rendering satisfaction (to God), how then can he be
satisfied that, for the fleeting trifles of the world, the august
days of Your Majesty, to whose happmess the hie and
wealth of your children are devoted, should be passed m
discomfort, and that the people of your palace should be
separated from you'! Shuja, not knowimng the value of
safety, came to Allahabad with evil intentions, and stirred
up strife  Your Majesty’s humble seryant, though he feels
somewhat at ease as regards his elder brother, has not given
up all thought of him, but placing his trust 1 God, and
hoping for the help of the true giver of victory, he marched
against him on the 17th mstant He 1s hopeful that, under
the gmdance of God and the help of the Prophet, and the
good wishes of his old paternal protector,' he will soon
be free of this busimness, and do nothing to hurt the feelings
of Your Majesty It 1s clear to Your Majesty that God
Almighty bestows his trusts upon one who discharges the
duty of cherishing his subjects and protecting the people

It 15 mamfest and clear to wise men that a wolf 1¢ not fit
for a shepherd, and that no poor-spirited man can perform
the great duty of governing Soveraignty sigmifies protec-

tion of the people, not self-mdulgence and hbertimsm  The

*“Dastair,” the word uced, 13 cquaoeal, 1t means both
“patron” and * prisoncr”
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Iesgis ey vy 0 Prgsas St

Nol 1 p 107 Joothrrn cvmoftaor,nn yen de
29th Rame-n Deoporchie oot tha aue opved 1mom
Mu'e=am Khen roportin Dis sueces 10 v tar gt
fight of Shuyr o the ecantr of Rabhang (Arreennd
Jonvm, Bongad undefoacc 7 Tt qgppeae V0= e §od
Brence eral wettone s nch Shwn e wam bl cofoand
md that oty the 1o, e lowded £ o boe cath 1
personsl (ffcete, veeede of pald nd wlver, povd tecponre
and other apprnd g os of rov i Hhe voyy nad boonon
corrcepondenes with e Roygsof falhons (Arriem and
vhen Shuye o that e bod no b or fricnd s her
left, and that thow  hom he hod decnyd fathiful hiad
deeerted b he romcaned the adoy of oceupynge one of
th ¢ fortrcec~ on the froatiers of the Ryga of Jikhang and
iddreeccd the R ga on the cubject But he wes unible to
carmy Ins deagn mto oy ccutyon and at lonpeth, in the proateet
vrctchednese und distrees, hie fddl ainto the elutelios of the
tro sehcrons mfided ruler of thiit country, aud weording to
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common rumour he was killed, so that no one ascertained
what became of him*

Beginming of the troubles with Swap

(Vol 11, p 110) I now relate what I have heard from
trusty men of the Dakhin and of the Mahratta race about
the origin and race of the reprobate Sivajn  His ancestors
owe their origin to the line of the Ranas of Chito1 In the
tribe of the Rajputs, and among all Hindus, 1t 1s the settled
opinion, that to have a son by a woman of a different caste,
or to beget one upon a slave-girl (kamiz) 1s wrong and
censurable But if in youth, when the passions are strong,
a man should have a son by a strange woman, he should
take him 1nto his house and have him brought up among
his confidential handmaids and slaves But nothing
descends to such a son on the death (of the father) Even
.1f the mother of the child 15 of a better stock than the
father, she cannot marry him unless she be of the same
tribe  If, through love, a man consorts with such a woman,
and has a son, the child 1s looked upon with great disdam,
‘he 1s brought up as a bastard, and can only marry with
one like himself If a woman of the merchant caste goes
mto the house of a man of lower caste than herself, or the
daughter of a Brahman consorts with a Khatr1 every child
that 1s born 15 looked upon as a slave (kaniz o ghulam)

It 15 said that one of the ancestors of Stvaji1, from whom
he recerved the name of Bhoslah, dwelt 1n the country of
the" Rana He formed a connection with a woman of -
inferior caste, and, according to the custom of his tribe, he
took the woman to himself without marriage She bore him
ason Reflecting upon this disgrace to himself and tribe, he

*In the ’Amale Salh 1t 18 said, “When Shah Shujah’ was
informed of (Sultan Muhammad’s invasion) he lost heart, and with
some of his Khans and with forty or fifty faithful servants, he:
embarked 1n a boat and proceeded to Makka From that time,
to the present year, 1081 1{’ H, no one knows whether he 15 alive
or dead” Makka 18 Mecca, and this was probably what the
copyists understood, but 1t 18 more likely that the word used by
the author had reference to the “Mughs” or nhabitants of
Arracan 'His name 15 wntten Siwadyi
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kept the child concealed 1n the hills 1n that position of hfe
which he had determined for him  There he secretly
brought him up He was very devoted to the woman, so
that, although his father and mother wished him to marry
a woman of s own tribe, he would not consent When the
cup of lus affection ran over, and the fact of this mainte-
nance of his child was the common talk of friends and
strangers, he secretly took the boy from the place where he
had concealed lim, and carried him off along with lus
mother to the Dakhin  Although he falsely gave out that
his son was by a woman of his own tribe, no Rajput of pure
race would allow of anv matrimomal connection with the
boy So he was obliged to marry the lad to a girl of the
Mahratfa tribe, which also claims to belong to an obscure
class of Rajputs From this good stock, in the seventh or
eighth generation, was born Sahu Bhoslah The orngimn of
the name Bhoslah, according to the commonly-recen ed
opmion 1s from the Hinduwi word “ghoslah,” meaning
“place,”* or a very small and narrow place, and as that
man was brought up 1n such a place, he recerved the name of
Bhostah—Buat I have heard a difierent explanation

" After the dommons of the Nizamu-l Mulk dynasty
had passed into the possession of Shah Jahan, and that
Emperor-had entered into friendly relations with ’Adil
Khan of Brapur, the latter proposed to exchange certain
districts 1 the _neighbourhood of Khujsta-bunyvad
(Aurdngabad) and belonging to Byapur, for the ports of
Jiwal, Babal Danda Rajpuri, and Chakna® 1 the Kokan,
which had Tormerly appertained to Nizamu-1 Mulk but had
been taken possession of by ’Adil Shah, as being in proximity
with his territory in the Konkan known by the name of
Tal Kokan™ These districts consisted of jungles and hills
full of trees The proposal was accepted, and both Kokans
were meluded m the territory of Adil Khan of Byjapur

*The commonly-received meaning 1s “bird’s-nest”

*Danda and Rajpun are close together, near Jinyira  Jiwal and
Babal (or Pabal) are said 1 a subsequent passage to be “on the
coast mear Surat” Chakna a place frequently mentioned, 1s not
a poart, but lies a httle north of Puna See an account of Chahna
mn Grant Duff’s History of the Mahrattas, vol 1, p 61
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Mulla Ahmad, an adherent of the Byapur dynasty,
who was descended from an Arab immigrant, held three
parganas in this country At this time two parganas,
named Puna and Supa, became the jagir of Sabu Bhoslah
Sivaji became the manager of these two parganas on the part
of his father, and looked carefully after them  He was
distinguished 1n his tribe for courage and intelligence, and
for craft and trickery be was reckoned a sharp son of the
devil, the father of fraud In that country where all the
hills rnse to the sky, and the jungles are full of trees and
bushes, he had an mnaccessible abode Like the zamindars
of the country, he set about erecting forts on the hills, and
mud foris which in the Hinduw: dialect of the Dakhin are

called garin

’Adil Khan of Byjjapur was attacked by sickness, under
which he suffered for a long time, and great confusion arose
m his termtory At this time Mulla Ahmad went with Ins
followers to wait upon the Emperor Shah Jahan, and Sinap
seemng nis country left without a ruler, boldly and wichedh
stepped 1n and seized 1t, with the possessions of some other
jagirdars ~ This was the begmning of that system of
violence which he and his descendants have spread over
the rest of the Kokan and all the territory of the Dakhm
Whenever he heard of a prosperous town or of a district
mhabited by thriving cultinators, he plundered 1t and took
possession of 1t Before the jagirdars in thoze troublous
times could appeal to Biapur, he had sent 1 Ius own
account of the matter, with presents and offerings, charging
the jamrdars or proprietors with some ofience which he
had felt called upon to punish and offering to pay some
advanced amount for the lands on therr being attached to
his own jamir, or to pav therr revenues direct to the Govern-
ment He communicated these matters to the officials at
Biyjapur, who 1n those disturbed times took httle heed o1
what any one did So when the jamirdar’s complant
arrived, he obtuned no redress becauce no one took anv
notice of 1t The country of the Dakhin was never free
from commotions and outbreals, and co the officiale, the
raiyats, end the soldiery, under the influence of currnundirs
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letters to Sivaji, but without effect  He then sent Afzal
Khan with a large army to chastise the rebel Afzal Xhan
was one of "Adil Khan’s most distinguished and courageous
officers, and he pressed Sivajr hard The truculent rebel,
knowing that he could gam nothing by regular warfare,
artfully sent some of s people to express his repentance,
and to beg forgiveness of his offences  After some negotia-
tion, the deceitful brahmans made an agreement that Sivaj
should come to wait upon Afzal Khan at a certain place
under his fortress with only three or four servants and
entirely without arms Afzal Khan lkewise was to
proceed 1n a palki, with four or five servants, and without
arms, to the place agreed upon under the fort After Sivaj
had paid his respects, and verbal agreements had been made
be was to receive a khilat and then be dismissed When
Afzal Khan had taken the proffered tribute and peshkas?,
Sivaj1 was to entertamn and speed him on his way back to
Byjapur, or rather he would attend him thither in person
upon an assurance of reconciliation

The designing rascal by sending various presents and
fruits of the countrv, and by his humbleness and submission,
concihiated Afzal Khan, who fell into the snare, beheving
all his false deceiving statements, and observing none of
that caution which the wise commend Without arms he
mounted the palk:y and proceeded to the place appointed
under the fortress He left all his attendants at the distance
of a long arrow-shot Then the deceiver came down on foot
from the fort, and made his appearance with manifestations
of humility and desparr  Upon reaching the foot of the
hill, after every three or four steps, he made a confession
of his offences, and begged forgiveness m abject terms and
with himbs trembling and crouchmg He begged that the
armed men and the servants who had accompanied Afzal
Khan's htter should move farther off Sivaji had a weapon,
called 1n the language of the Dakhin bichua?, on the fingers
of his hand hidden under his sleeve, so that 1t could not

*The primary meanmg of this word 13 “a scormon” The

weapon 15 also called wag-nakh, “ tiger's claws” Grant Duff gives a
drawing of one
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be seen He had concealed a number of armed men among
the trees and rocks alt about the hill, and he had placed &
trumpeter on the steps, to whom he said, “ I mtend to kill
my enemy_with this murderous weapon, the moment vou
see me strike, do not think about me, but blow vour
trumpet and g e the signal to mv soldiers” He had given
orders to his troops also that as soon as they heard the blast
of the trumpet, theyv should rush out and fall upon the
men of Afzal Khan, and do their best to attam success

Afzal Khan, whom the angel of doom had led by the
collar to that place, was confident in Ins own courage, and
saw Sivq): approach unarmed and fearing and trembhng
He looked upon his persen and spirit as much ahke, so he
directed all the men who had accompanied lns litter to
withdraw to a distance  The treacherous foe then
approached and threw himself weeping at the feet of Afzal
Khan, who raised his head, and was about to place the hand
of kindness on his beek and embrace him  Sivaji then struck
the concealed weapon so fiercely into his stomach that he
died without a grioan  According to hus orders the trumpeter
blew a blast of tizumph to arouse the concealed troops Men
on horse and foot then rushed forth in great numbers on all
sides, and fell upon the armyv of Afzal Khan, klhng,
plundenng, and destroving  The blood-thirsty assassin
rushed awav n safety and jomned lus own men, whom he
ordered to offer quarter to the defeated troops He obtained
possession of the horses, elephants, treasure, and all the
baggage and stores He proposed to take the soldiers into
his service, and gamed them over Then, as usual he went
on collecting stores and men

'Adil Khan of Byapur, on hearing of this defeat, sent
another army agamst Sivaji, under the command of
Rustam Khan, one of his best generals An action was
fought near the fort of Parnala, and Rustam Khan was
defeated  In fine Fortune so favoured tlns treacherous
worthless man, that lns forces mecreased, and he grew more
powerful every dav He erected new forts, and emploved
hmself 1n setthng Ins own territories, and m plundering
those of Byyapur  He attacked the caravans which came

©
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from distant parts, and appropriated to himself the goods
and the women But he made 1t g rule that wherever his
followers went plundering, they should do no harm to the
mosques, the Book of God, or the -women of any one
Whenever a copy of the sacred Koran came mto his hands,
he treated 1t with respect, and gave it to some of his
Musulman followers = When the women of any Hindu or
Muhammadan were taken prisoners by his men, and they
had no friend fo protect them, he watched over them until
their relations came with a suitable ransom to buy ther
Iiberty Whenever he found out that & woman was a slave-
gnl, he looked upon he: as being the property of her master,
and appropriated her to himself He laid down the rule
that whenever a place was plundered, the goods of poor
people, pul-styah (copper money), and vessels of brass and
copper should belong to the man who found them, but other
articles, gold and silver, comed or uncomned, gems, valuable
stuffs and jewels, were not to belong to the finder, but were
to be given up without the smallest deduction to the officers,
and to be by them paid over to Sivaj’s government

March of Amiru-l umara® to pumsh Swan

(Vol 11,p 119) Then Aurangzeb was mnformed of Sivajr’s
violence, he directed Amiru-l umaia who was Subadar of
the Dakhin, to pumish and put him down Amiru-l umara
maiched, 1n accordance with these orders, from Aurangabad
at the end of Jumada-l awwal 1070 (end of January,
1660 A D ), and marched towards Puna and Chakna, which
m those days were Sivaji’s places of abode and security
He left Mumtaz Khan m command at Aurangabad, and on
the 1st Rajab arrived at the village of Seoganw belonging
to Sivaj1 At this time Sivaji was at the town of Supa?® but
upon hearing of Amiru-l umara’s movements, he vacated
that place, and went off in another direction  Amiru-l
umara took Supa without opposition, and left Jadu Ra
there to take charge of 1t, and to provide supples of corn

* Shayista Khan
* About forty miles south-east of Puna
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for the army  The danng frechooter Sivay ordered Ius
followers to ottach and plunder the hageare' of Amiru-l
umara < army wherever they met with it When the Anmar
was mformed of tlig, he appomnted §000 horee under
evperienced officers, to protect the bageage  But evers dav,
and m evern march, Snap s Daklimes ewarmed round the
Lageace, and falling suddenly upon 1t hhe Cossacke, they
carried ofi horses, camels, men and whatever they could
secure until thev beeame aware of the approich of the
troops  The Imperial forees pursued them and haracced
them so that they lost courage and giving up fichting for
flight, they dispersed At length they reached Puna and
Sivapur, two places bmlt by that dog (Sivanp)  The
Impenal forces took both these places ind held them

Then the roval armies marched to the fort of C hakna
and after examning ite bastions and walls, thev opened
trenches, erected batteries, threw up ntrenchments round
their own position and began to drive mine= under the fort
Thus having imvested the place, they ueed their best (ffarts
to reduce it The ramns 1n that country last ncarlv five
months, and fall mght and day, o that people cannot put
their heads out of their houses  The heavy masees of
clouds change dav into might, so that lamps are often
needed, for without them one man cannot see another of a
party  But for all the mushets were rendered useless, the
pounder spoilt, and the bows deprived of their strinps the
siege was vigorously pressed, and the walle of the fortress
were breached by the fire of the guns  The garricon were
hard pressed and troubled, but m dark mights they =alhed
forth mnto the trenches and fought with surprising boldnes=
Sometimes the forces of the freehooter on the outxide
combined with those mside in making a ssmultancous attack
i broad daxhight, and placed the {renches in great danger
After the siege had lasted fifty or sinty dave, a bastion
whieh had been mined was blown up, and stones, bricks and
men flew mnto the air ke pigeons  The brave soldiers of
Islam trusting in God, and placing their shiclds before them,
rushed to the assault and fought with great determination

' Kahi, “forage, provisions”
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But the infidels had thrown up a barrier of earth mside
the fortress, and had made mtrenchments and places
of defence 1n many parts All the day passed in fighting,
and many of the assailants were killed  But the brave
warriors disdained to retreat, and passed the night without
food or rest amid the ruins and the blood As soon as the
sun rose, they renewed theiwr attacks, and after putting
many of the garrison to the sword, by dint of great exertion
and resolution they carried the place The survivors of the
garrison retired into the citadel In this assault 300 men
of the royal army were slam, besides sappers and others
engaged 1n the work of the siege  Six or seven hundred
horse and foot were wounded by stones and bullets, arrows
and swords  The men m the citadel being reduced to
extremity, sent Rao Bhao Singh to make terms, and then
surrendered Next dav Amiru-l umara entered and ins-
pected the fortress, and having left Uzbek Khan in command
of 1t he marched After Sivajy  After a time he gave the
name of Islamabad to Chakna, and called Ja’far Khan
from Malwa to his assistance  Amiru-l umara reported
that the fort of Parenda had heen won without fighting®

Sulavman Shukoh

(Vol 11, p 123) Sulaiman Shukoh had for some time
found refuge in the hills with Pirth1 Singh, Zamndar of
Srinagar, and Tarbiyat Khan had been sent with an army
to overrun that territory _ Pirth: Singh now wrote, through
the medum of Raja Ja1 Singh, begging forgiveness for his
offences, and offering to give up Sulgiman Shukoh Kunwar
Rai Singh, son of Raja Jai Singh, was sent to fetch Sulaiman
Shukoh, and he brought him to Court on the 11th

Jumada-l awwal  He_was led_into the presence of the
Emperor, wha graciously took a_Jenmient course and ordered
him to be sent prisoner to the fortmth
Mihammad Sultan, who had been confined m Sahm-garh

14Tt was surrounded by its commandant named Ghahb, who
had been appomnted by Ali Mardan Khan "—’Alamgir-nama, p 596
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Scason of Scarcity

(Vol 1, p 123) TUnfavourable_season<_and want of ram,
combimed with war_and_movements of armies,_had made
grain \ ery_scarce_and_dear_ Many distniets lav entirely
waste, and crowds of people from all parts made_their ywav
to_the capital T Lvery street and barar of the city_was
choked with poor and helpléss people, so_thatat nag diffieult
forthe mhabitants_to_moyve about ~ An Imperial order was
1¢sted, that m addition to the regular “bulghur-hhanas,
where a%_and cooked grain Wa§_giten away, ten more
langar-khanag (frec houses of entertunment) ghould be
opened in the aitv, and twels ¢ bulghur-kTanas in the suburbs
and_among thi¢ tombs, and carciul men_were_apponted-to
superintend_them  Instructions were also assued for_the
aimrEto_make_provision_for langar disiributions, and orders
were ginven for_the rerission of taves on (th‘g transport of)
gram, with the view_of fayouring the gathering of stores

Fourra Yrar oF Tar Rriey, 1071 A H (1661 A\ D)

(Vol n, p 128) Prince Muhammad Mu’azzam married
(in 1071 A H) the daughter of Raja Rup Singh

Campargn of Khan-Lhanan Mu azzam Khan (M Jumla)
agawnst 4ssam o ,

(Vol u, p 130) The country of Asham (Assam) lies_to
tl{lg_{gs,t_nnd_nonth_owcngaU)ctmmjong.mnges _of_nlls
Its Tength 1s nearly 100 jarabi hos, and its width from the
mountains on the north to those on _the south side 1s eight
W&ld to be the native Iand of Piran

fiym, the wazir of Afrasivab, and the Raja of the
country traces his descent from this Piran  In the beginning
the Rajas were fire-worghippers, but 1n course of time-they
became 1dentified with_the 1dalators of Hind It 1s the
established practice in that countrv that every individual
pays annually one tola of gold-dust to the government of
the Raja When the Raja of that country or a great
Zamimdar dies, they dig a large tomb or apartment in the
earth, and 1n 1t they rlace his wives and concubines, as also
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his horses and equipage, carpets, vessels of gold and silver,
gran, etc, all such things as are used mn that country, the
jewels worn by wives and nobles, perfumes and fruit,
sufficient to last for several days  These they call the
provisions for his journey to the next world, and when they
are all collected the door 1s closed upon them If was jn
consequence of this custom that the forces of Xhan-khanan
obﬁig?amm sums ol money from underground
The country of Kamrup borders upon Assam, and the two
countries afﬂfﬁm’l?sftwenty years the people
of this country had been refractory  They were 1 the
habit of attacking the Imperial territories m the province
of Bengal and of carrying off the ryots and Musulmaps as

prisoners  So great mjury was done to hife and property
and great scandal was cast upon the Muhammadan religion

Islam Khan, Subadar of Bengal, led a y against
the country 1n the rei ah Jahan, F&%ﬁ}gs recalled
and appointed e office of wazir before the work was
accomplished Aftervards Shuja went to seek refuge with
the Zamindar of Rakhang, who was one of the zamindars
of those parts, and his fate was never ascertamned After
Khan-khanan had settled the affairs of Dacca and other
parts of Bengal, he resolved upon marching against Assam,
and began to collect men and suwﬁﬂl&ﬁé@
When the Raja of Assam and the Zamindar of Kuch Bihar,
named Bhim Naram, heard of fhis, they _vere greatly
aldrmed, and wrote penitent letters malgng submission and
seeking forgiveness These were forwarded to the
Emperor, bul orders were sent to Khan—khnnau_‘fﬂ_%e
extermination %{E%),m_af_tbﬁm So he marched against that
coumtry with arfillery, provisions for sieges, ang_a number
of boats, which are of great importance for carrying on war
m Those parts |[Long detads of the campagn] Kban-
khaﬁﬁﬁ'ﬁg'd‘ the khutba read and money coined 1 the name
of the Emperor He set aside the Government of the Raja,
and was desirous of pursuing him, but the rainy season was
coming on, and in that country 1t lasts five months, and

rams almost incessantly might and day  Large quantities
of gold end silver were obtamed from the places of sepulture
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Whin-hhonan ot e comn aneor of s artllory o tne
conquered fortrees of Glnr-pan ta tade charpc of 3, and
to Fot e puns mordor for artallon ae allapmpn tintan thet
country  Fhe Whmn bon retired tharty Yes namd a0 half
from Glar-zenw 0 Muhurs-pur, vl e ainsted ot the
tooe of u Inll, ma s not hable to iundation There he
totnd e mtaaments v luch to poes e ram o on leor
coven or arht Koo round he ~Otiencd ouwtpodde under
cvpeniencca offiecrs to guard nounst surpreee In the
Aevamest The wfidede ropo dadly made sttiehe on o dard
nichis, and Lilled misny mon and borses

Tirie Yratar 737 Do conm stongse o 1072 VA 1
(Tun2 A 1))

Vol u,p I3 7The fath vowr of the rarn e o I
Shauwil  Soon after the ceddbrition of the fith anme-
vereary, the Pmporor vt ed by bl In the
coure of 1 week the fiet pot norcd (bout v the e
o1 the capital wherc it mterruptad tuc ordin ity arcupe gones
of the people, ind exerted the {mpu of the dieaffected But
e Majoatn « health coon reeonered,  and on the 7th
Tumad -1 awwal ic started from Db for Tahore on Ins
vy to Kadimur

Murder of Prinece “urad Bal hi<h

(Vol 1, p 155 The wmthor of the ’ Homagir-nana h-
mven an account o the alhng of Murad Bakbich ac cuited
e own ploseure (marzr) T now pive my version of it ae I
have a=cert uned it from wnitten recorde and o< 1 have he ird
1 from the cadenee of truthiul men of the tune, and from
the mouth of my ovn father who wae o confidcntind cors ant
of Murad Bakheh, and untl lus <erviecs were no longer
needed hined st the foot of the fort (of Gwalor), mtent
upon rasmg a rope-ladder (Jamand) and of reccumg lus
master, without «ven thinkang of {alung cervice under
Aurangzed  When Mulbammad_Bakheh was eent to the
fortress, a fovounte concubme, named Sarsun Bar was at
Ins rmd to accompany lnm. The unfortunate
prisoner used to give way half what waec allowed Inm for lus
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support 1n cooked food to the Mughals and Mughal woman
who had followed him to Ins place of captivity, and lived
1n poverty at the foot of the fortress After many schemes
had been proposed, the Mughals contrived a plan for
fastening a rope-ladder to the ramparts at a given time and
place After the second watch of the night, before the world
was asleep, Murad Bakhsh communicated his intended
escape to Sarsun Bai, and promised to do his best to return
and rescuc her On hearing thig, Sarsun Bai began to weep
and cry out in such a way that the guards heard what. she
said, and witlr ightsand torches searched for and discavered
the ladder™ When the plot was communicated to Aurangzeb,
he felt some alarm for his thfone At the insfigation of
some of the IEmperor’sTiiénds, the sons of ’Al1 Naki, whom
Y shsh had put to death, brought a charge of murder
against him. The eldest son refused to demand satisfaction
for his father’s death, but the_sccond complied_with the
epressed wish, and brought a charge of murderin a _court
of tow—against—Murad—Bakhsh  The case_came at_length
before the Emperor; and he directed that-1t should be sub-
nitted to a judge After 1t had been decided according to
law, the order was given in Rabr’u-s san1, 1072 A H, foT the
judge to go along with the heir of the slamn man to Murad
Bakhsh to pronounce the sentence of the law, upon the
murder bemng proved The date of s death 1s found
the e A2 war_ba-har bahanah hushtand, “ Alas and alas!
on some pretest they killed him” His gracious Majesty
rewarded the eldest son for not enforcing his claim of blood

The Campawgn mn Assam

(Vol 1, p 157) I now revert to the campaign of Khan-
khanan 1 Assam (Long details of the sufferings of the troops
from the constant attacks of the natwes, from the ramns a

floods, from want of food and from sickness and disease)
The men of the army were reduced to such extremity that
some of the officers, after consulting together, were about t0
move off and leave Khan-khanan He got information of
this, and took measures to prevent 1t  He gave public
orders for the army to move 1ts position towards that held
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by the Rajy, but privately e prepared tor a (hackward)
moreh, ind comforted hic men with prospeets o1 peace and
return  When the As~~umcse got mtethgence of the move-
ment they assembled m great numbers, md chowed great
msolence  Diler Khan resolved to pum<h them, and
thousand~ of them were slhun and made priconer~  Khan-
khann ordered thit the priconers <hould have the heads
ot the <lam ticd round them md be thus exposed to the
derision of the eamp e then sent them to the outposts
to be wwun exposed, md afterv awrds put to daath - The
Reya at lenath_conscnted to terms ot poce He agrced to
pmy 120000 tolas ol Siver, Wid 2000710} i of gold and to
present fiftn elephente ind onc of his ugly dwghiers to the
LCriperor  He aléo wiced topresent fifteen elephints and
imadier dauchter to Khn-khwmn tocether with <ome each
and goods Tt wis further agrced that of the conquered
places q 1ew fortsand towns m cultivated distriets near the
frontier ot Bengal should be attached to the Tmperial
dominions

™ In the mddle of Tumada-l wwal, in the fifth vear of
the reign, the IXhon-khann begin e return mareh with an
armv broken down v dice e, and with m of the officers
and nobles at the point of death  The Khan-Lhan in himeen
was serioushy 1ll, but he strove to the It m the <ervice ot
e master  Concealing e own <ufierine or making hght
of 1t he everted himself meht and diw to direet and
comfort his army, until he wa< averpowered by diceree, ind
Knew that the time of Ins depart»re was near  Ife appomnted
certrin of Ins officers to march agamet the Raja of Kuch
Bihar who had failed m keeping Ins engigements and
paving trnibute  Then he spoke 1 few last words of handly
counsel, and died at Khizrpur on the frontiers of Kuch
Bihar, on the 12th Ramazan, at the bemmming of the sinth
year of the reign

Srvrit Year or Tir Reon, 1073 A H (1663 A D)
Swaj surpnises Shayista Khan at Puna

(Vol 1, p 171) The Amiru-1 umara (Shayicta Khan),
after taking several forts and slrong places, proceeded to
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Puna, and lodged there 1n a house which had peen built by
that hell-dog Stvajr  From thence he sent out detachments
to destroy the power of Sivaji, and to make him prisoper
A-regulation had heen made that no peison, espeeially no
Maliratta, should be allowed to enter the eity or the hnes
of the army without a pass, whether armed or unarmed,
excepting persons n the Imperial service  No Mahratfa
horseman was taken into the service Sivajs, beaten and
dispanited, had retired into mountains difficult of aceess, and
was continually changing his position  One day a party of
Mahattas, who were serving as foot-soldiers, went to the
kotwal, and applied for a pass tq admt 200 Mahrattas, who
were geecompanying a marriage party A boy dressed up as
a-bridegroom, and escorted by a party of Mahrattas with
diums and music, entered the town early in the evening
On the same day another party was allowed to enter the
town on the report that a number of the enemy had been
mad¢ prisoners at one of the outposts, and that anotber
patty was bringing them in_pmioned and hare-headed,
holding them by.ropes and abusing and reviling them as
they went along  They proceeded to the place agreed upon,
where the whole party met and put on arms At midmght
they went fo the cook-house, which was near the women’s
apartments Between the two there was a small window
stopped up with mud and bricks  They proceeded by a
way well known to them, and got into the kitchen It was
the month of the fast Some of the cooks were awake, and
busy n preparing the vessels for cooking, and others were
asleep The assailants approached noselessly, and, as far
as they were able, they attacked and killed unawares those
who were awake Those who were aslecp they butchered
as they lay So no great slarm was rawed ~ They then
quickly set to work about opemng the closed window in the
palace The nawse of therr pickaxes and the cries of the
slaughtered men awoke a servant who was sleeping 1n 2 room
next to the wall of the cook-house  He went to the Amiru-]
umara (Shayista Xhan), and informed him of what he had
heard The Amir scolded him, and said that 1t was only
the cooks who had got up to do their work Some maid-
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ervante then came one after another, to <1y that 2 hole
vas bemng made through the wall  The Anur then jumped
ip 1n great alarm, and seized a bow, come arrone, and a
pear  Just then some Mabrattas came up 1 front and
he Amir shot one_ with an arrow , but he got up to the \mr,
ind cut off his thumb  ‘T'vo Mahrattas fell into a reservoir
of "water, and Amiru-1 umara brought down another with
his spear  In the midst of the confusion two slave-grls
took Shavista Khan, Amiru-l umura by the hand, nd
dragged lum from the scene of strife to a place of cafety

A number of Mahrattas got into the guard house, ind hatled
every one thev found on his pillow, whether <leeping or
awake, and smd  “ Tlis 1= how thev heep wateh!” Some
men_got _into_the nalar-Lhana, and 1w the name oi the
Amiru-l umara ordered the drums to be beaten, <o such a
din was raised that onc man could not hear another speak

and the noise made by the ascailants grew ligher They
closed the doors  Abu-l Fath IXhan, son of Shavista Khan,
a brave voung man, righed forward and killed two or three
men, but was himself wounded and killed A man of
mmportance, who had a hou<e belind the palace of the
Amiru-l umara, hearing the outerv, and finding the doors
shut, endeavoured to cscape by a rope-ladder fiom a
window, but he was old and feeble, and somew hat rccembled
Shayista Khan The Mahrattas mistook him for the Amiru-l
umara, killed him and cut off lus head They also attachked
tWo of the Amir's women One of them was <o cut about
that her remamns were collected 1n a bashet whieh served
for her coffin The other recovered, although <he had
recenved thirty or forty wounds The acsailants gave no

thought to plundering, but made their way out of the house
and went off

In the morning Raja Taswant, who was commander of
Amiru-l umara’s supports, eame 1n to see the Amir, and make
his apology, but that hgh-born noble spoke not a word
beyond saymng, “I thought the Maharaja was in Fs
Majesty’s service when such an evil befell me” When this
occurrence was reported to the Emperor, he passed censure
both upon the Amir and Raja Jaswant The Subadan of
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defence  Ja1 Singh arrnved with lus son Iesar Smngh
After a bastion had been blown up on one side, 2 panic seized
the defenders of the foot of the hill  The besiegers then
attacked them and succeeded 1 making their way to the
top of the Inll, when the defenders called for quarter, which
was granted to them by the Raja and Diler Khan  The two
commandants waited upon Diler Khan, and weie sent to
the Raja, who disarmed the garrison, and togk possession of
the forts Eighty men, horsemen, mfantry and sappers,
were lost i the siege, and more than a hundred were
wounded

After the conquest of the two foits, Raja Ja1 Singh sent
Daud Khan and  with seven thousand hoise to plunder
and lav waste the country which Siiaj had won by force
and violence Great efforts were made on both sides, and
for five montbs the Imperial forces never rested from
harassing and fighting the enemy At Sivapur, which was
built by Sivaji, and at the forts of Kandana?, and Kanwan-
garh, not one trace of cultivation was left, and cattle out of
number were taken  But on the other hand, the sudden
attacks by the enemy, their brilliant successes, their assaults
in dark nmights, their seizure of the roads and difficult passes,
and the firing of the jungles full of trees, severely tried the
Impernial forces, and men and beasts in great numbers
perished But the enemy also had suffered great losses, and
took to flight The fort of Rajgarh,®* which Sivan himsel?
held, and the fort of Kandana, 1n which were his wife and ha=
maternal relations, were both invested and the besiezz=
presséd the garrisons hard  The roads on all sides ~==
blockaded,” and Sivap knew that, however much he =3¢ -
desire 1t, he could not rescue his family and carrs -"¢=
to a place of safety He also knew that 1f these-smmri vz-
were taken, s wife and family would be lLiablz -~ ~ ==
the consequences of his own evil deeds  Arr rmimd~ Ji-
sent some 1ntelligent men to Raja Jai Singh, bezZ e "=

N —_— - ”
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which he still held, and proposing to pay a visit to the Raja
But the Raja knowing well his craft and falsehood, gave
directions for pressing the attack more vigorously until the
mtelligence was brought that Sivaj: had come out of the
fortress Some confidential Brahmans now came from him,
and confirmed his expressions of submission and repentance
with the most stringent oaths

The Raja promised him security for his life and honour,
upon condition of his gomg to wait on the Emperor, and of
agreeing to enter mto his service He also promised hm
the grant of a high mansab, and made preparations for
suttably recerving him  Sivaji then approached with great
humihity = The Raja sent his munshr to recerve him,
and he alsq sent some armed Rajputs to provide agamst
treachery = The munshy carried a message to say that if
Sivay submtted frankly, gave up s forts and consented
to show obedience, his petition for forgiveness would be
granted by the Emperor If he did not accept these terms,
he had better return and prepare to renew the war When
Sivaj1 recerted the message, he said with great humihty that
he knew his hfe and honour were safe 1f he made his
submission The Raja then sent a person of higher rank
to bring him 1 with honour

When Sivajn entered, the Raja arose, embraced him,
and seated him near himself ~Sivaj then, with a thousand
signs of shame, clasped his hands and said, “I have come—
as a guilty slave to seek forgiveness, and 1t 1s for you erther
to pardon or to kill me at your pleasure I will make over
my great forts, with the country of the Kokan, to the
Emperor’s officers, and I will send my son to enter the
Imperial service As_for myself, I hope that after that
terval of one year, when I have paid my respects to the
Emperor, I may be allowed like other servants of the State,
who exercise authority n their own provinces, to hve wit
my wife and family in a small fort or two Whenever an
wherever my services are required, I will, on receiving
orders, discharge my duty loyally” The Raja cheered him
up and sent him to Diler Khan
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way He died" at the end of Rajab 1076_AH (22nd
January, 1666), 1n the eighth year of the reign of Aurangzeb,
who grieved much over his "death Sha%ﬁhm reigned
thirty-one years, and he was secluded undér restramnt nearly
eight years? - .

(Vol 11, p 188) Among the evenis of this year was the
subjugation of Sangram-nagar and Chatgam near Arratan
The gzamindars of these places had shaken off ther
allegiance, but Ummed Khan, eldest son of Shayista Khan,
Amiru-1 umara, defeated them The name of Sangram-
nagar was changed to ’Alamgir-nagar, and that of Chatgam
to Islamabad

Ninte YEAR OF THE REIGN, 1076 AH (1666 AD )
Swage at the Imperial Court

(Text, vol 1, p 189) Raja Jar Singh, m the war with
Bnapur, to be described presently, had, with the co-opera-
tion of Sivaji, done splendid service  After giving Sivajl
every assurance of a kind and gracious reception, he made
himself responsible for his safety, and sent him to Court
News of Sivaji’s arrival was brought as the festival of the
accession was being celebrated It was ordered that Kunwar
Ram Smngh, son of Raja Jai1 Smgh, with Mukhlis Khan,
should go out to meet and conduet that evil maheious fellow
mto Agra On the 18th Zi-1 ka’da, 1076, Sivap, and his son
of nine years old, had the honour of being mtroduced to the
Emperor He made an offering of 500 ashrafis and 6,000
rupees, altogether 30,000 rupees By the royal command he
was placed n the position of & pany-hazar: But his son, &
boy of exght years, had privately been made a panj-hazam,
and Nathuj1, one of lus relations, who had rendered great
gervice to Raja Jai Singh m his campaign against Bijapur
had been advanced to the same digmty, so that Sivaj had a

*“On the 26th Rajab, ;n the Fort of Agra, having thus entcred
the 75th solar year of his age "—Amal2 Salih f

1“Seven jears, five months and eighteen days The date ©
tis death 1s found m the words Shah Jahan Kard Wafat —Skah
Jahan-nama of Sadih XKhan

64



MUNTARIIABU-L LUBAB

clum to nothing less than the digmitv of a haft-hazar?
(7,000) Raja Ja1 Smgh had flattered Sivap with promises;
but as the Rqja hnew the Emperor to have a strong feeling
agamnst S agy, he artfully refruned from making known the
promises he had held out  The 1sfilbal, or reception of
Sn aj1, had not been such as he expected  He was annoyed?
giid so, before the robe and jewels and elephant, which vere
ready for presentation to lum, could be presented, he
complamed to Ram Singh that he was disappomnted  The
IQunwar tried to pacify him, but without eficct  When his
disrespectful bearing came to the knowledge of the Emperor,
he was dismssed with httle ceremony, without recenving
anv mark of the Impernal bounty and was taken to a house
outside the citv near to the house of Raja Jar Singh, as
had been arranged by Kunwar Ram Smmgh A letter was
sent to Raja Jar Singh, informing him of vhat had passed,
and Sinayn was forbidden to come to the Royal presence
untal the Raja’s answer and advice should arrme  His son
was ordered to attend the presence m the company of Ram
Simgh

Campaign against Byapur 5

(Text v0l 11, » 191) Raja Jar Singh, with Diler Khan
and his other associates, in obedience to orders, marched
agamst Byapur He took with him, as gwdes and
assistants, Mulla Yahya Byapur, Purdil Khan, Siva)1, and
Nathuyi, one of Smap’s relations, who was lis chief
supporter, and for whom clso 1 mansab of 5,000 had been
proposed His force amounted on paper (halam1) to 33,000
horse, but he had with him 25,000 Abu-1 Majd, grandson of
Bahlol Khan, and one of the bravest of the nobles of Bijapur,
separated from ’Adil Khan, and jomed Raja Jai Singh,
whom he assisted 1n subduing that country The Raja acted
mn all matters upon his advice, and he wrote to the Emperor
recommending that a mansab of 5,000 and 4,000 horse
should be settled upon him, which request was graciously
acceded to TForts belonging to Bijapur were taken by

* Three lines of the text are compressed nto these three words
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possession of the roval forces  In accoraance with Si aj’s
own desire, and 1 performance of the pronase made to lim,
under the Imperial orders he was sent off express with Ius
son at the end of the month of Ramazan to Court  After
the departure of Snaj, the siege of Byyapw v as carried on
for two months and a half longer, and theire were many hard
fights under the walls

At the end of Zi-1 ka'da the <1ege had gone on for eight
months, during which neaither cavalry nor infantry had
rested  All round Byjapur for forty or fifty hos not a trace
o1 grass or fodder was left  No supphies arrned <o the
Impenal armies were reduced to great strats The Raja
and Diler Khan therefore deemed 1t advigsable to remose to
the neighbourhood of Dharur, to have their v ounded tended,
to give rest to their troops, and to collect lead and powder
They also hoped to obtatwn there supphies of fodder and corn
A despatch to tlus effect was sent off to the Emperor  The
Dakhmms also 1inside the fortress found their provisions
drawing to an end and their weapons expended or damaged
Both besiegers and besieged were the-efore anvious for an
arrangement When the despateh reached the Emperor,
he 1ssued an order directing s generals to cease operations
agaimnst 'Adil Xhan  Raja Ja1 Singh was directed to proceed
to Aurangabad, and Diler Khan was reealled to Court

Swaj’s Escape

(Vol n, p 198) After Sivan retwned anery and dis-
appointed from the roval presence to his house, orders were
given to the hotwal to place guards round at*  Sivap, reflect-
ing upon lis former deeds and Inus present condition, was
sadlv troubled by the state of Ins affairs  "He thought of
nothing else but of delivering himself by_some crafty plan
from lus perilous position  His subtle mind was not long
In contrining a scheme  From the beginning he kept up a
show of friendship and intimaey with the anurs and with
Kunwar Ram 5mgh  He sent them presents of Dakhin

*The ’Alamgir-nama, p 970, savs that Sambha-j recened a
good deal of notice from the Lmperor, and that upon a letter of

remonstrance ammving from Raja Jai Singh, the guards were remoy ed
from Siap’s dwelling
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they occurred, giving the month and year, but, after this
year, with very great labour and pams, I collected mnforma-
tion from the papers in the public offices, and by mquiry
made from truthful persons, the confidential and old
servants of the Emperor and old eunuchs This, and what-
soever I myself obscived, after attaining years of discretion,
for thirty or foity years I laid up in the strong bov (of my
memory), and that I have written  And since I heard that
Bindraban Das Bahadur Shahi, who was long a mutasadde
of Shah ’Alam during the time he was a prince, had compiled
a history, and had included 1 1t an account of upwards
of thirty vears, bemng exceedingly anxious to see 1t, I made
great search for it  Subsequently when, after great trouble,
I obtained a copy, and examined 1t carefully from beginning
to end, n the hope that I might gather the rich fruits of his
labours, I discovered that his work did not contain one-half
of what I had collected and ncluded 1 my own history*

The King of happy disposition strove earnestly from
day to day to put in force the rules of the Law, and to
mamtain the Divine commands and prohibitions Orders
were also 1ssued prohibitmg the collection of the rahdar,
the pandart, and other mmposts which brought in lacs of
rupees to the State  Prohibitions were promulgated against
mtoxicating drinks, agamst taverns, and brothels, and
agamst the meetings called jatras or fairs, at which on
certamn dates countless numbers of Hindus, men and
women of every tribe, assemble at their 1dol temples—when
lacs of rupees change hands m buying and selling, and from
which large sums accrue to the provincial treasuries The
ministrels and singers of reputation 1 the service of the
Court, were made ashamed of thewr accupation, and were
advanced to the dignities of mansabs Public proclama-
tions were made prohibiting singing and daneing It 1s said
that one day a number of singers and mmustrels gathered
together with great cries, and having fittedup a bier with
a good deal of display, round which were grouped the public
wailers, they passed under the Emperor’s jharokha- darsan,
or interview-window When he imnquired what was intended

*8ee Col Lees m Journ Roy Ass Soc, NS, vol n, p 471
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by the bier and the show, the mmstrels said that Music
was dead, and they were carrymng his corpse for bural
Aurangzeb then directed them to place 1t deep 1n the ground,
that no sound or cry might afterwaids arise from 1t

In the 1e1gns of former kings, and up to this year, the
gharokha-r darsan had been a regular nstitution  Although
the King might be svffering from bodily indisposition, he
went to the jharokha once or twice a day at stated times,
and put his head out of the window to show that he was
safe This window, at Agia ana at Dehli, was constructed
on the side looking towards the Jumna Besides the nobles
1 attendance at the Court, hundreds of thousands of men
and women of all classes used to collect under the yharokha
and offer their klessings and praises  Many Hindus were
known by the name of darsam, for until they had seen the
person of the King at the window, they put not a morsel
of food mto therr mouths  His religious Majesty looked
upon this as among the forbidden and unlawful practices,
so he left off sitting in the window, and forbade the
assembhing of the crowd beneath it

TweLFTH YEAR OF THE REIGN?
Escape of Swan

(Text, vol 1, p 217) Siwvapn left Mathura after changing
his clothes and shaving off his beard and whiskers, carrying
with him his youthful son and forty or fifty individuals,
servants and dependants, who all smeared their faces with
ashes, and assumed the appearance of Hindu mendicants
The valuable jewels and the gold mohurs and the huns they
carried with them were concealed 1n walking sticks which
had been hollowed out for the purpose, and were covered
at the top with knobs Some was sewed up n old shppers,
and the wearers, pretending to be Hindu mendicants of
thiee different classes, Baragis, Gosamns, and Udasis,
proceeded by way of Allahabad to Benares  One very
valuable chamond with some 1ubies was encased m way and
contealed i the diess of one of lus followers and other
jewels were placed 1in the mouths of other attendants

*This does not appear 1 the f{ext
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So thev proceeded untid they reached a place of wineh
the faupdir "\l Kuh Khin, had recenved private and pubhe
notice of Snvap’e eseape The 1mupdar knowine of the
cseape of Snvan on hearing of the armal of theee thro
partics of Hindu devotees ordered tham 11 o be placcd
confinement and an mquiry to be made Al thece man
and some other travellers ranancd m confimcmont 2 meht
and a dov  On the <ceond mght Sy ot the coeond vatch
ot the meht proceeded alone ta the fydar m private ind
acknonledged that he was Sivap But, «aid he, “T hav
two gems, a dinmond imd a ruby o1 Lront value with more
than 2 lac of rupecs  If vou sceure me and <end me back «
priconer, or 1f vou cut off mv head and tarward that, the
wo pricelese jewels will be lost to vou  Herc am T and
here 1 my head, but <till keep off thmme hand from wretehed
me n this dangerous strut ' "\l Kub prercrred the reads
bribe to the hope of the reward which micht afterwards
acerue to him Ile took the two valuable jewels and on the
following morning, after maling maquiries he releaecd all
the devotees and travellers fram custady

Snivag1, Joohing upon hic escape ac a4 new leaee o1 hife
hastened to pursue - journey in the direction of Benares
He himeelf m rapad travelhng and willang boat even the
regular runners, but fter reaching Allahabad s voung
<on Sambh 1, who aceomp imed Inm v 1< foot-core and worn
out  Sivay therefore it Benares gave a quantity of jovels
and money and placed hic bov 1 the charge of @ Brahman
named IKabhalas who was the hereditary fumiv priest of
his famuly, and who happened 1t that time to be at Benares
Snap promised that if be reached home alve, be would
urite to the Brahiman who was< then to conduct the boyv to
his father by the road and i the manner prescribed mn the
letter  He warned Inm against histening to the wishes of the
bov or attending {o letters from lus mother Having thus
provided for the eare of e hov, he continued hic Might,
and he had hardlv entered Benares before the government
messengers brought the news of Sivap’s esecape Sivan
then continued his fhght v wav of Bihar, Patna and
Chanda, which 15 a thickly wooded country and difficult, of
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passage DLsery place he came to, he and his followers
changed their disguises, and so paszed on from place to place
sceretly till he reached Haidarabad, and came to Abdu-llah
Kutbu-l Mulk There he told such stories and used such
arts and wiles to forward his purpose that he deceived
’Abdu-llah Shah

/

Conguests of Sivan

(Vol 1, p 220 ) Sundry forts which had belonged to the
Kuth-Shahi kings had passed into the hands of the
’Adil-Shalis  Sivan had a great reputation for skill in the
reduction of forts and he swore to ’Abdu-llah Shah that
if he would suppls him with forces and the means for
conducting s1egcs, he would 1n a short time wrest these forts
from Bijapuris, and hand them over to the officers
appomntcd to accompany him, he would not even accept
come forts which had belonged to himself, and'were 1n the
possession of the officers of Aurangzeb, 1f he recovered them
by the means <upplied him He vowed also that for the
remamder of his life he would remain the devoted servant
and adhcrent of "Abdu-llah Shah The ultimate objects of
the arch decerver never entered into the consideration of
‘’Abdu-liah Shah  He provided a sufficient force and a
suitable siege tramn, and he appointed to 1t several officers
acquainted with siege operations, whom he enjoined to serve
heartily i obedience to and 1 accord with Snan

Sivaji, with the force placed under his command,
marched on his enterprise By fraud and stratagem and
by his marvellous skill 1n the conduct of sieges, every forg
that he approached fell mto s hands after a few days
mnvestment He cajoled the officers who had been sent with
him to take charge of the capiured forts, with plausible
statements, with promises of giving them the command of
more 1mportant places, and by using the money and property
he had obtamed from the captured strongholds So he
carried them with him to other forts, and 1 a short time he
reduced Sattara, Parnala, and ten or twelve other renowned
forts belonging to Byjapur, which 1t would Have taken years
and lacs of expense to conquer He then marched agamnst
Rajgarh, and other forts which had been captured by Raja
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J u Smgh, Diler Khan and other Imperial generals the hevs
of whieh he Inmeel? had currendered  Having mactered
them all, he placed one or two of them m charge of the
officers of "Abdu-llah Shah

According to common teport, and the oral statemcnts
of men of Hudarabad, Sivap came to that ety i the first
or second vear of the reign of Abul Hasan, and <ucceeded m
wheedhing and satisiving that <overeign Whin be had
finiched hie fortress-t~hme, aecordine to s wont he took
up s abode it Ryygarh and there agam raced the «tandard
of rebethon  In the dave when the fortifications of the port
of Surat were not vet completed, he attached and took the
place!  There he obtamned an immense booty in pgold and
silver, comed nd uncomed and m the <tufis of Kachmr,
Ahmadabad, and other places  ITe alco mude vrisoners of
some thousand Hindu men and women of name and <t ition,
and Musulmans of honourable poution  Arers m money
and goads thus eame into the hande of that evil nfidel

Aurangzeb, on bemg mformed of the capture and
plunder of Surat, ordered that the fortifications of th it port
should be completed, and he placed Diler I{han and Khan
Jahan in command of an armnv to pumsh Sivap It i< <ad
that Snay got together come ten or twehve thousand Kachh
and Arab horees so0 that when he <ent out an armv most of
the horsemen vere barmr< 1¢, they 10de horees helonging
to him  He rebuilt the forte which had formerly stood on
the seashore, and he constructed ileo vessels of war which
were hept under the guns of the fortrese  With these vessels
he attached and plundcred ships shich were procceding to
Lurope and to Mecea

When Snivay had satisfied himself of the cecurity of
Rajgarh, Ins old retreat, and of the dependent terntory, he
turned Ins thoughts towards finding some other more n-
accessible Il as a place for s abode  After dihgent
search he fixed upon the hill of Rahin,® a verv high and
strong place The ascent of this place was three hos, and

*This was in the thirteenth vear of the reign, 1081 AH
(1671 AD), according to the Afa-asirer ‘Alamgmn

*The name was afternards changed to Rar-garh It hes due
east of Jinjera—See Grant Dufi, vol 1, p 190

75
KK



KHAFI KHAN

1t was situated twenty-four kos fiom the sea, but an mlet of
the sea was about seven kos from the foot of the hill The
road to Surat passed near the place, and that port was ten
or twelve stages distant by land Rajgarh was four or five
stages off The hills are very lofty and difficult of ascent
Ramn falls there for about five months m the year The
place was a dependency of the Kokan, belonging to Nizamu-
Mulk Having fixed on the spot, he set about building his
fort When the gates and bastions and walls were complete
and secure, he removed thither from Rajgarh, and made
1t his regular residence  After the guns were mounted, and
the place made safe, he closed all the roads around, leaving
only one leading to his fortress One day he called an
assembly, and having placed a bag of gold and a gold
bracelet worth a hundred pagodas before the people, he
wordered proclamation to be made that this would be given
to any one who would ascend to the fort, and plant a flag,
by any other than the appomted road, without the aid of
ladder or rope A Dher came forward and said that with
the permission of the Raja he would mount to the top of the
hill, plant the flag, and return He ascended the hull, fixed
the flag, quickly came down agan, and made his obeisance
Stvaj1 ordered that the purse of money and the gold bracelet
should be given to him, and that he should be set at Iiberty,
and he gave directions for closing the way by which the
Dher had ascended

At the first, Rahiri was attached to the Kokan, and
belonged to Nizamu-1 Mulk Afterwards this country and
several of the dependencies of Bijapur passed mto the
possession of the Emperor Shah Jahan When the Impenal
government became friendly with Biyapur, the Kokan, which
had belonged to Nizamu-1 Mulk, was granted to *Adil Shah
an exchange for territory newly acquired by Brsapur Fath
Khan, an Afghan, was appomted governor of the country
on the part of Byapur, and he posted himself mn the fort 0
Danda-Raypur:, which 1s situated half i the sea and half
on land Subgequently he built the fort of Jazira® upon an

*Jazira, the 1sland, but 1t 18 more commonly known under the
Maratht form “Jinjera ”
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1sland in the sen about a cannon-shot distant from Danda-
Rajpury, 1 2 very secure position, o that, 1f the governor
of the country was hard pressed by an enemy, he might have
a secure retreat i that place

After Snap had tined Ins abode at Ralin, which -
twenty hos from Danda-Rajpun, he appointed 2 comman-
dant of that fortress  In a short time, he reduced and
occuprled seven other forts emall wd great, m that
neighbourhood and then resolved unon the conquest of
Danda-Rajpurt  I'ath Khan had observed the triumphant
progress of Sivap, and how fortrees after fortress had fallen
mto ns hands  So Tath Khan lost courage, he abandoned
Danda-Rajpurt and retired to the 1sland fortress in the sen
Snvap then resohved to eficet the conquest of the 1sland aleo,
and he so conducted matters that Fath Xhan wa< coon
reduced to extremities and he offered 1o surrender the place
to Snajp, upon a pledge of sccurity to himself and the
garrison

Tath Khan had in ns service three Abvesinian <laves,
Sidi Sambal, Sidi Yakut, and Sidi KXhairnat, each of whom
bad ten Abysziman <laves, which he had trained and dnilled
The management of the island and o1 manv domestic
concerns was 1n the hands of these Abveamane  These three
men got mformation of the enemy < power, and of Fath
Khan's 1intention of surrendering the 1sland to Snap
Thev took counsel together, and rcsohved that no good could
come from allowing the 1sland to pass into the hands of anv
mfidel  So they determined to tahe Fath Khan prisoner,
and to make Sid1 Sambal governor of the fortress  In the
fourteenth year of the reign these Abyvesimians seized Tath
Khan unawares, placed chains upon his legs and vrote o
statement of the facts to 'Adil Shah Byapuri  They also
wrote to Khan Jahan, the Subadar of the Dakhin, begging
the aid of the Imperial forces, and requesting him to send
his forces by sea from Surat Khan Jahan graciously
bestowed mansabs and precents on each of the three
Abvssinians

Khan Jahan aleo took measures to thwart the designs
of Sivapn  He got together some ships at the fortress (of
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Surat), and began the rebuilding which had been ordered
Then he collected some ships of war with the mtention of
taking a cruise  One night he attacked the vessels of Sivaj
which lay near the fort of Danda-Rajpuri, and captured
them with two hundred sailors trained for warhke work
One hundred of them were Mahrattas, and had lately been
appomted to this duty by Sivaji Stones were tied to the
feet of these men, and they were thrown into the sea From
that day forth the animosity between the Abyssinians and
Sivaj1 grew more violent  Sivajr collected forty or fifty
vessels of war to defend the forts of Kalaba and Gandir,
which were the strongest of his newly-built forts on the
seashore He then turned his thoughts to the reduction of
the fort of Jazira (Jinjera), and the captire of the
Abyssimians  There were frequent naval fights between
the opposing forces, in which the Abyssinians were often
victorious

Sid1 Sambal was advanced to a mansab of 900, and then
he died Before he expired he made Sidi Yakut s
successor, and enjomed all the other Abyssmians to pay
him a loyal and cheerful obedience Sid1 Yakut was distin-
guished among his people for courage, benigmity and
dignity He now strove more than ever to collect ships of
war, to strengthen the fortress, and to ward off naval
attacks He was armed and ready might and day He
frequently captured ships of the enmemy, and cut off the
heads of many Mahrattas, and sent them to Surat  He
used to write reports to Khan Jahan, and he frequently
recerved marks of approbation from him He was con-
stantly revolving 1n his mind plans for wresting the fort of
Danda-Rajpur: from the hands of Sivajn ~ He got together
some rockets!, which he fastened to trees, and discharged
them at might against the fort

Stva]1 also was prosecuting his plans for the reduction
of Jazira But he now retired to a dwelling about three kos
to celebrate the holi, leaving in command at Rajpur1 some
officers experienced 1n siege work, to prosecute ncessantly
the operations agamst Jazira durmg his absence, and he held

*Tophae-Hawar, it “aerial guns”
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out to them the reward of 14 man o1 gold and other presents
One might while the garricon of Danda-Rajpun were cele-
brating the hoh, and were intonuiented or mattentive, Sidi
Yakut sent on shore four or five hundred men under Sach
Kharnat with ropes ladders and other apparatus  He
hmself drew thirty or torty boats Iaden with «iege materiel
under the walls of Rajpuri, and pave the «gnal apreed
unon to announce s arrmal  Thev found the parnecon off
their guard and Sidi Kharnat ascaulted the place with
loud cries from the land «ide  When the enemy took the
alarm, and rushed to repel the at*ack on that side, Sich
Yzahut planted his scaling-lndders, which he had brought
1n his boats and by means of the<e and of ropes, Jus brave
followers scaled the walls, and quicklv made their was
up Some of the ascsmlante were enact nte the <ea, and
were drowned, others tell under the swords of the defenders
but the storming party forced it wav into the fort, and
rawised the emv, “ Stnike TTall ' Jut at thic time the powder
magazine caught fire, and blew up a number of men,
mcluding ten or twelve who were with Sidi Yakut  The
smohe and the noice made 1t difficult ta distingmich friend
from foe but Sidi Yakut raiced hie war-erv, and encouraged
his men to slaughter the defenders who had eseaped the fire
Sidi Khairry at also scaled the walls on his cide and the place
was taken

I the author, was in that countrv <ome time, and 1
repeatediy heard from many men, and from the mouth o1
Yakut Khan himself, that when the magazine blew up,
although Snajy was twentyv kos off, it anoke him from
sleep and he smd that some musfortune had fallen on
Danda-Rajpuri, and he sent men to ascertain what had
happened

At this time Sivajpi’s forces had gone to attack the
neighbourhood of Surat  Within the space of four or five
kos from Rajpun there were s\ or seven Nizamu-l Mulki
forts which had fallen mnto the hands of Sivaj, but he was
unable at this time to render them any assistance  So,
Sidi Yakut seized the opportumity to attack them  Si\ forts
surrendered after two or three davs’ resistance, but the
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commandant of one fort held out for a week 1n the hope of
relief from Sivajr The Abyssinians pushed forward therr
approaches and kept up such a fire that he was obliged
to swrrender Sidi Yakut granted quarter to the garrmson,
and seven hundred persons came out But notwithstanding
his word, he made the children and pretty women slaves,
and forcibly converted them to Islam The old and ugly
women he set free, but the men he put to death  This
struck such terror mto the hearts of Sivaj1 and his followers
that he was obliged to confine himself to securing Rahin
Sidi Yakut sent an account of his victory to Prince
Muhammad Mu’azzam, Subadar of the Dakhin, and to
Khan Jahan His mansab was raised, a robe of honour was
sent to him, and he recerved the title of Khan Similar
honours were also given to Sid1 Khairiyat

(Text, vol 11, p 229) A report reached Sivaj: that his
son Sambha, whom he had left at Allahabad with the
Brahman, was dead, and Sambhaji’s wife wanted to become

a sats, but a few months afterwards the Brahman
arrived, bringing Sambhaj1 with him
@ Tazxes $

(Text, vol 11, p 229) An order was promulgated exempt-
mg the commercial goods of Musulmans from tax
throughout the dommions of Hindustan But after a short
time, upon the reports of the revenue officers, and by
recommendation of good and experienced persons, &I
order was 1ssued that every article belongmg to
Musulmans, the price of which was not large, shou
pass free, but that goods of value should pay duty
Goods belonging to partners were not to be troubled with
duty The revenue officers then reported that Musulmans
had adopted the practice of dividing their goods imnto small
parcels m order to avoid the duty, and that they pBSSEd
the goods of Hindus m therr names, and thus the payment
of the zakat preseribed by the Law was avoided So an
order was given that, according to the Law, two and 2
half per cent should be taken from Musulmans and
five per cent from Hindus
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[DISTURBANCES AMONG THE Y USUFZAIS]

v

War with Byapur

(Text, vol 1, p 236) 1In the sixteenth year of the reign,
corresponding to 1083 AH (A D 1673), Khan Jahan
fought a battle with Bahlol, the Bijapur general, near the
town of Malkher? about four stages from Byapur Islam
Khan Rumi fought splendidly, and the Imperal army was
worsting the enemy 1n all directions, when an explosion of
gunpowder took place, which so frlghtened the elephant of
Islam Khan that the driver lost all control of it, and the
animmal carried off his rider to the lines of the enemy, where
Islam Khan was dragged off the elephant and killed A
good deal of the baggage of the Imperial army was
plundered, and many men were slain n the battle
Aurangzeb recerved the news of the defeat of Diler Khan
and the death of Islam Khan in the Dakhin, while he was
at Hasan Abdal on his march agamnst the Afghans, in the
beginning of the seventeenth year of his reign, and he was
obliged to defer the punishment of the Dakhinis for the
time The Emperor returned from Hasan Abdal to the
capital at the end of the eighteenth or nineteenth year of
his reign

Riot of Hindu Devotees

(Text, vol 11, p 252) One of the remarkable occurrences
of this year® was the outburst of the Hindu devotees called
Sat-namis, who are also known by the name of Mundihs
There were four or five thousand of these, who were
householders 1 the parganas of Namaul and Mewat
These men dress lhke devotees, but they mnevertheless
carry on agriculture and trade, though their trade 1s on a
small scale In the way of their religion they have digni-
fied themselves with the title of “ Good name,” this being

*Just before this the dates become confused

*See Grant Duff, vol 1, p 78 It les about thirty miles
south-east of Kulbarga

* According to the Ma-asir, 1t was the fifteenth year
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army brought down two or three men Thus they were
credited with magic and witcneraft, and stories were
current:y reported about them which were utterly incredible
They were said to have magic wooden horses like live ones,
on which their women rode as an advanced guard

Great Rajas and veteran amirs were sent against them
with powerful armies But the revolters were eager for
the fight, and advanced to about sixteen or seventeen kos
from Dehli The royal army went forth boldly to attack
them, but the zamindars of the neighbourhood and some
cowardly Rajputs seized the opportunity to throw off theiwr
obedience, and to withhold the government dues They
even broke out into open violence, and the flames daily
mcreased The XKing ordered his tents to be brought out
He then wrote some prayers and devices with his own
hands, which he ordered to be sewn on the banners and
standards, and carried against the rebels At length, by
the exertions of Raja Bishan Singh, Hamid Khan and
others, several thousands of them were killed, and the rest
were put to flight, so that the outbreak was quelled

G Re-Imposition of the Jizya

With the object of curbing the infidels and of dis-
tinguishing the land of the faithful from an infidel land,
the jizya or poll-tax was imposed upon the Hindus
throughout all the provinces® Upon the publication
of this order, the Hindus all round Dehli assembled
m vast numbers under the Jharokha of the Emperor
on the river front of the palace, to represent their
mabihty to pay, and to pray for the recall of the edict
But the Emperor would not hsten to their complaints
One day, when he went to public prayer in the great mosque
on the Sabbath, a vast multitude of Hindus thronged the
road from the palace to the mosque, with the object of

* According to the Ma-gsr, the jizya was 1mposed m Safar,
1090, in the 22nd year of the reign (AD 1680), and 1t 1s not
associated with the outbreak of the Sat-namis, which according to
that work, occurred five years before
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seekmg relief Money-changers and drapers, all kinds of
shopkeepers from the Urdu bazar, mechanics, and work-
men of all kinds, left off work and business, and pressed
into the way Notwithstanding orders were given to force
a way through, 1t was 1mmpossible for the Emperor to reach
the mosque Every moment the crowd increased, and the
Emperor’s equipage was brought to a standstil At
length an order was given to bring out the elephants and
direct them aganst the mob Many fell trodden to death
under the feet of the elephants and horses For some days
the Hindus continued to assemble in gieat numbers and
complain, but at length they submitted to pay the jzya

Death of Raja Jaswant Singh

(Text, vol 11, p 259 )* Intelligence now ariived of the
death of Raja Jaswant Singh, who had gone to Kabul with
remnforcements After the death of the Raja, his foolish
servants took away the Raja’s two sons, named Ajit Singh
and Dalathaman, who were of tender years, and the Rams
also Without waiting for permission from Aurangzeb,
and without even obtaning a pass from the subadar of
the province, they set off towards the capital When they
reached the ferry of Atak, they were unable to produce
any pass, so the commander of the boats refused to let
them proceed They then attacked him, Ikilled and
wounded some of his men, and by force made good their
way over the river and went onwards towards Dehh

There was an old standing grievance 1n the Emperor’s
heart respecting Raja Jaswant’s tribute, which was
aggravated by these presumptuous proceedings of the
Rajputs He ordered the kotwal to take his own men,
with an addifional force obtamed from the mansabdars,
as well as some artillery, and to surround the camp of the
Rajputs and keep guard over them After some days &
party of Rajputs sought permission to go home Ther
request was made known to Aurangzeb, and as 1t seemed
right and proper, 1t was granted

*Sec the account of this given by the Ma-aswr—= ’Alamgir
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Meanwlnle the Rajputs had obtaned two boys of the
same age as the Raja’s children They dressed some of
the female attendants in the gorments of the Rams, and
taking every precaution that their stratagem should not
be discorered, thev left these women and the boys under
guard m their camp The (real) Rams, disguised as men,
went off at mght in charge of two trustv servants and a
party of devoted Rajputs, and made thair wav with all
speed to their own country The brave and active chiefs,
who might have stopped or overtaken them, were heeping
guard over the tents m which the pretended children of
the Raja were After two or three watches, when a report
of the fact wasz made, some officinls were sent to make
mquiries, and 1t was repeatedhh stated that the Ramis and
the children were still there Orders were then given for
taking all the Raja’s followers into the fortress The
Rajputs and the disgmised women who were ready to fight
like men for the honour of their Raja, made a determined
resistance  Many were killed, but a party escaped

The flight of the Rams was not clearly proved Some
men, who wished to show their zeal, and to cover their
neghgence mn the matter asserted that the boys had escaped,
and that the wazir had sent out a force to secure them
The roval forces went i pursuit twenty kos from Dehl,
but they could not overtake the Rajputs, and returned
unsuccessful  The two (substituted) boys were given nto
the chorge of the women of the royal harem, and were
there brought up The two boys which the Rajputs
carried off were for a long time rejected by Aurangzeb,
who refused to acknowledge that they were the sons of
Jaswant, until all doubt was removed by the Rana of
Chitor, who married Ant Singh to a girl of his family

The Rana and other Rajputs  Defection of Prince Akbar

(Text, vol 11, p. 261) At the beginning of Zi-1 hiyja of
the twenty-second year of the reign, Aurangzeb started
from Ajmur, with the intention of bringing the refractory
Rajputs to punishment A strict farman was sent
to the Rana of Chitor, calling upon him to assent to the
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payment of the yzya, and directing him to bring from the
territories of Jodhpur the two alleged sons of Raja
Jaswant Smgh After a short stay at Aymir, the army
marched with the intention of ravaging Jodhpur, and other
Rajput districts The Rana, feeling himself incapable of
resistance, sent his vakils with tribute and a letter
declarmmg his obedience 'm the matter of the nzya, but
offering to give over two or three parganas (districts) n
commutation He declared that he was not supporting
the sons of Jaswant, and finally begged forgiveness for
Ins offences Aurangzeb left XKhan Jahan Bahadur to
complete the arrangements in this quarter, and returned to
Dehly  His journey to Ajmir and back occupied seven
months and twenty days

It was soon after reported that the mean-spirited
Rana had again broken his engagements, and showed
rebellious designs, so that Khan Jahan could bring him to
no final settlement This kindled the flames of the
Emperor’s wrath, and towards the end of the same year, he
set off again to Aymur, with the mntention of pumshing the
Rana and the other evil-disposed Rajputs He wrote to
Prince Mu'azzam, directing him to come from the Dakhin
to Ujjam, and Prince Muhammad A’zam was ordered to
march with all speed from Bengal When the king’s tents
were pitched near Ajmir, Prince Muhammad Akbar was
sent with a large force to attack and chastise the Rana
Shah Kul: Khan, who was promoted and 1eceived the title
of Tahawwur Khan, was placed 1 command of his
advanced guard

When the Rana heard of these preparations, he laid
Udipur, his capital, waste, and with the treasure and
famly and followers of himself and Jaswant Singh, he fled
to the mountains and difficult passes The Prince was
ordered to follow him into the hills with a strong force of
brave men suited for mountain warfare Another force
was sent to ravage the country of the Rana, and destroy
the crops When Prince Mubhammad Mu’azzam arrived
at Ujjam, he was directed to march agamst the Lake of
Ana-sagar, which belonged to the Rana, and was about
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eighty kos from Ajymir His orders were to station his
army about that neighbourhood, and to trample every
scrap of cultivation under the hoofs of his horses

It was now announced that Prince Muhammad A’zam
had shown such alacmty in the execution of the orders
1ssued to him, that he had compressed four months’ march
mto less than one, and came up with lis army He was
ordered to march through the mountains and central
fastnesses of the Rana, into the territories of the Rahtors,
and there to kill, ravage and make prisoners among the
Rajputs He was also ordered to employ a force in prevent-
mg the transport of supplies to the Rana, and mn stopping
cultivation Nearly twenty-five thousand horse, Rahtors,
belonging to the territories of Jaswant, and other Rajputs,
assembled to support the Rana, and had the boldness to
attack the royal forces, and to fall upon their supplies They
allured several thousand of the royal forces into the heart
of the Rana’s fastnesses There they attacked them, and
killed many, both horse and foot, but the royal forces at
length prevailled and beat them Notwithstanding that
the Rajputs held all the roads through the lills, and came
down occasionally from the hills, and attacked the Prince’s
forces by surprise, the Prince’s army fought bravely, and
Tahawwur Khan and others rendered distinguished service
m chastising the enemy ‘They employed themselves 1n
laying waste the country, destroying temples and bwld-
mgs, cutting down fruit-trees, and making prisoners of the
women and children of the infidels who had taken refuge
m holes and rumned places

Orders were also 1ssued to Muhammad Amin Khan,
subadar of Ahmadabad, directing him to take up a position
with his forces between Ahmadabad and the territories of
the Rajputs, and to march against them wherever he heard
of them XKhan Jahan Bahadur Kokaltash was reappomted
subadar of the Dakhin, and sent to lay siege to the fort
of Salir, which had fallen mnto the possession of the enemy

When the Rana was hard pressed, and his allies were
crippled, when not a scrap of gramn was left, and not a

*0r “Salhir” in the ghats of Baglana
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trave of cultivation was to be found, the Rana and the
Rahtor Rajputs had recourse agam to lies and stratagems
They first addressed themselves to Prince Muhammad
Mu’azzam, and sought to make lim an wmtercessor for their
forgiveness, or to persuade him to rebel and join them The
Prince paid no heed to therr allurements, and Nawab Bay,
the mother of the Prince, bemng mformed of what was
passing, gave good counsel to the Prince, and strongly
dissuaded him from yielding an assent, and from giving
any aid, assistance, or mtercession on behalf of the Rejputs
She even persuaded him not to allow the vakils of
the Rana to approach him When they despawred of
success 1n this quarter, the Rajputs betook themselves to
Prince Muhammad Akbar, taking advantage of his youth,
and the favour of some of his friends Durga Das was
therr spokesman He was noted among them for his
plausibility, and he used all hig arts and wiles to persuade
the Prince that they would supply him with forty thousand
Rajput horse, and with abundance of treasure This so
dazzled the Prince that he was deluded, and several of his *
evil companions artfully used thewr persuasions So the
mexperienced Prince was led astray from the path of
rectitude, and through hs youth and covetousness he fell
mnto the snares of the Rajputs

Prince Muhammad Mu’azzam, when he heard of these
doings, wrote a few words of friendly counsel to the Prince,
tc whom he was much attached He also wrote a letter
to Aurangzeb, informing him that the false and deceitful
infidels were using all their wiles to mislead the Prince,
and that he must watch agamnst being taken unawares
Aurangzeb entertammed no suspictons of Muhammad
Akbar, but report had cast an evil aspersion on the name
of Prince Muhammad Mu’azzam at the time when
Aurangzeb was at Hasan Abdal The infidels had
addressed themselves to Prince Muhammad Mu’azzam 1n
the first instance, and Aurangzeb had received mforma-
tion about 1t, so he now thought that Mu’azzam’s letter
about his brother Akbar was sheer calumny Accordingly
he wrote to him, and accused him of making a false charge,
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and praving that the Almighty would keep lim in the rnight
course and preserve him from h<lening to the evil sugges-
tions of desigming people

Soon afterwirds the <ceret became public  Thirty
thousand Rayputs under Durga Das< jomned the Prince  The
news spread from tent to tent and was the talk of young
and old It was reported that he had ascended the throne,
and that coms had been <truck m Ins name, that
Tahawwur Khan had been made a haft-hazari  and
had recenned the fitle of Amiru-1 umara, that Mujahid
IKhan and other great servante of the State, who were
with the Prince had recened distinguished honours, which
some of them had felt themselves constrammed to accept
The Prince was domg hne best to win the afiections of all,
and was smd to be marching agamst \urangzeb

On the forces bemng <ent off, under the command of
Prince \kbar, aganst the mfidels onlv A<ad Khan and a
Limited number of officers and men were left in attendance
upon the Lmperor Al his retinue, counting the cunuchs
and writers, did not exceed seven or eight hundred horse-
men A great panic fell upon the royal camp, and wild
confusion followed A letter under the royal signature was
sent off 1n haste to Prince Muhammad Mu'azzam, urging him
to come with all hic armyv, and with the greatest haste, to
Aurangzeb  When the Prince recened 1t, he marched with-
out a2 moment’s delan to jon his father Leaving his
ladies and attendants behind under protection, he set off
with all speed, and, pressing mine or ten days’ journey into
the space of two or three, he jomned lhis father, bringing
with him Prince Muizzud-din and Muhammad ’Azim

When Muhammad Mu’azzam arrived with his mine or
ten thousand horse and they heard the reports about the
mighty force of seventy thousand horse with which Prince
Muhammad Akbar was approaching to the attack, no man
of the army had any hope of escape The evpressions of
some of Prince Muhammad Mu'azzam’s thoughtless com-
pamions roused Aurangzeb’s caution and prudence
Suspicion arose in his heart, and he thought 1t advisable
to order that his guns should be pointed against the Prince’s
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army, and he sent a message desiring the Prince to leave
his army, and to come to him 1 all speed with his two sons
The Prince obeyed the summons, and hastened to wait
upon his father

The precautions taken by the Rajputs prevented
intelligence being obtained of the movements of Prince
Muhammad Akbar Shahabu-d din, son of Kaheh Khan,
a brave and intelligent man, was sent out with a force to
reconnoitre On coming 1n sight of the Prince’s army,
Shahabu-d dmn’s brother, Majalud Khan, who was with
the Prince and had found 1t nmecessary to temporise, but
watched for an opportunity to escape, went to the Prince,
and said that 1f he were allowed he would go to his brother
and bring him over to the Prince’s side Permission being
given Mujahid Khan took all the money and valuables he
could carry, and jomned his brother The two brothers
then went together to the Emperor

Aurangzeb had been greatly depressed by the adverse
news which reached him, but on hearing of the approach
of the two brothers, he recovered his spiits He directed
that Shahabu-d din should “be addressed with the title of
Khan, and he also conferred great favours on Mujahid
Khan From the latter he learnt the state of the Prince’s
army, and about those who were acting with him from
choice or from necessity Some other men of note now
came over, and 1t was ascertamned that after the departure
of Mujahid Khan, dissensions had arsen in the Prince’s
army

Khwaja Makanm, a confidential adherent of Prince
Muhammad Mu’azzam, led an advanced force towards the
army of Prince Muhammad Akbar A skirmish took place
The Khwaja was wounded, and so were two or three
men on the other side, but he ascertained that Tahawwur
Khan had advanced from the Prince’s army with a small
escort, intending to desert the Prince and jomn Aurangzeb
On this bemng reported to the Emperor, he ordered that
Tahawwur Khan should take off his arms before being
admitted to the presence The Khan demurred to putting
off his arms, so Prince Muhammad Mu’azzam made a sign

90



MUNTAKHABU-L LUBAB

to kill the unhappy man It was now stated to the
Emperor that Tahawwur Khan had come under the orders
of Prince Muhammad Akbar, to make known his pre-
tensions and demands On hearing this, Aurangzeb’s anger
blazed forth, and he placed his hand upon his sword, and
ordered that the Khan should be allowed to enter with s
arms But one of the attendants, mn an msulting way,
placed his hand upon the Khan's breast to stop him The
Khan struck him a blow on the face and retreated, but his
foot caught 1n a rope and he fell down Cries of “ Strike [
slay 1" arose on all sides Numbers fell upon him, and he
was soon killed, and his head was cut off After he was
dead, 1t was found that he had armour under his clothes,
but there were various opinions as to what his real mnten-
tions were

The author of thms work heard from Khwaja Makarim,
afterwards Jan-misar Khan, and from several of his
contemporaries, m their old age, that Tahawwur Khan
returned 1 good faith, in consequence of a letter he had
received from ’Inayat Khan, his father-in-law, who was a
private secretary of Aurangzeb, but that he felt the order
to put off his arms was an msult to his position, his
services and his character However 1t may be, his murder
caused great divisions in the Prince’s army, and among his
Rajputs, and they were much dispirited

It was commonly reported that Aurangzeb craftily
wrote a letter to Prince Muhammad Akbar, and contrived
that 1t should fall mnto the hands of the Rajputs In 1t he
praised the Prince for having won over the Rajputs as he
had been mstructed, and that now he should erown his
service by bringing them mto a position where they would
be under the fire of both armies This letter was the cause
of great divisions among them Such 1s the story I have
heard, but not from any trustworthy person For all the
mighty force which Prince Akbar brougg"z agamst his father
the sword was not drawn, and no battle was fought, but D18
army was completely broken The Prince was soon 1n-
formed that the Rajputs had abandoned him There
remamed with him only Durga Das, two or three thousand
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horse Of all his old servants and men, these alone
remamed He lost all courage, self-rehiance, and hope,
and being utterly cast down, he took to flight Prince
Muhammad Mu’azzam was ordercd to pursue him

TwWENTY-THIRD YEAR OF THE REGN, 1090 A H
(AD 1679-80)

Affairs of the Dakhin  Death of Swapn

(Text, vol n, p 270) Xhan Jahan Bahadur Kokaltash,
after arrving at the Khupnsta-bunyad Aurangabad, accord-
ing to order, laid siege to the fort of Salir Many Rajputs
were killed and many Musulmans also fell He pressed the
siege for four or five months, but making no impression, he
‘withdrew to Aurangabad

The hell-dog Sivajn went forth with an army on a
plundering expedition, and while Khan Zaman, the subadar,
was at Burhanpur, he entered Khandesh, and plundered the
town of Dharan-ganw,' one of the most flourishing places
1 that country Afterwards he ravaged and burnt
Chopra and other parganas He then marched against
Jalna, a rich mercantile place in the Balaghat In
the course of the same year he was attacked with illness
and died? The date of his death 1s found 1n the words,
“Kafir ba-jahannam raft,” “The nfidel went to hell,”
which was discovered by the writer of these pages Sivaj
left two sons, Sambha and Ram Raja The former
succeeded im He made Kabkalas,® the Brahman who
brought him from Allahabad, his minister

’

*These places hie about 70 miles west of Burhanpur Chopra
18 the most northerly

*“On the 24th Rabru-l akher, Siva returned from ridmng, he
was overcome by the heat, vomited blood, and expired "—Ma-
asiru-l "Alamgere

*Both the MSS used agree with the printed text in this
spelling of the name, but Grant Dufi, who refers to our author,
}:V’Iéf;elﬂ the name “Kuloosha ”, and 1s followed by Elphinstone with
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Sivajir had always striven to mamtain the honour of
the people 1n his territories He .persevered 1n a course of
rebellion, 1n plundering caravans, and troubling mankind,
‘but he entirely abstained from other disgraceful acts, and
was careful to mamntamn the honour of women and children
of Muhammadans when they fell into his hands His
mjunctions upon this point were very strict, and any one
who disobeyed them received punishment  But the son,
unlike his father, obtained an evil name by collecting round
him women of all tribes, and by assailing the honour of the
women of the places in which he dwelt His father never
showed any backwardnéss in attacking and plundermng
prosperous places, but he never made any attack upon
Aurangabad and Burhanpur, the provincial capitals of the
Imperial dynasty If any of his counsellors advised an
attack upon these places, he very wisely and prudently for-
bade 1t, “for,” said he, “1f we attack these places, the
honour of Aurangzeb will be wounded, and he will march
hither himself, and then, God knows how the strife will
end !

When Sivajr was dead, his wretched son Sambha
desired to surpass his father He raised the standard of
rebellion, and on the 20th Muharram, in the twenty-third
year of the reign, corresponding with 1091 AH (15th
February, 1680), he attacked Kakar Khan Afghan, who
acted as collector of the jizya, under Khan Zaman, the
subadar of the Dakhin Sambha was returning with nearly
twenty thousand men from a plundering expedition 1
Birar He made a forced march of three or four kos, as
was the practice 1n those days, and early in the morning
made his attack while his victims were entirely i1gnorant
of his approach Thus he fell upon Bahadur-pur, one kos
and a half from Burhanpur This place was rich, and there
were many bankers and merchants 1n 1t Jewels, money,
and goods from all parts of the world were found there 1
vast abundance He surrounded and attacked this place,
and also another town called Hafda-pura, which was out-
side of the fortafications, and his attack was so sudden
and unexpected, especially upon Bahadurpur, that no one
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was able to save a dam or a diwram of lus property, or a
single one of his wives and children

Kakar Khan, with his men in the city, saw the smoke
of these towns risimng to the sky, but he had not & force
sufficient to go out and attack the plunderers, so he shut
himself up within the walls and looked after the secunity
of his gates and defences Seventeen other places of note,
such as Hasan-pura, etc, mn the neighbourhood of the city
all wealthy and flourishing places, were plundered and
burnt Many honourable men girded on their swords, and
joming m the fight, attained martyrdom Others submitted
themselves humbly to the will of God Some who were
near the fortress took their wives and children by the hand,
and fled n distress within the walls For three days the
plunderers ravaged these towns at their will Large sums
of money fell into theirr hands, much of which had been
buried for long periods, and sometimes 1n places unknown
even to the householders They then repeatedly attempted
to carry the fortress by assault But the officers took their
stations at the gates and other points of attack, and with
great bravery beat off the assaillants Bemng unable to
enter the city, the plunderers carried off with them the
gold, silver, jewels, and other articles of value which were
portable, but many other things which they had taken they
were obliged to leave behind, because they could not carry
them The property which was thrown mto the streets of
the bazars and burnt exceeded all computation

Intelligence of this raid upon the’neighbourhood of
Burhanpur was carried by runners to Aurangabad, to
Khan Jahan Bahadur Kokaltash  He immediately took
horse, and accomplished three or four days’ march mn one
day and might, and reached the pass of Fardapur, thirty-
two kos distant There 1t became necessary to wait three
or four watches to rest the animals, and to provide means
for crossing the river According to the current reports of
some men who took a worldly view of things, and had a bad
opmion of Khan Jahan, sorhe emissaries of Sambhaji came
to him with an immense sum of money, and prevailed upon
him to halt there for four or five watches One thing 18
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certain After the enemy were repuleed from Burhanpur,
the burden of thar plunder, and the hnowledge of Khan
Jahan« purant, prevented them  from  reaching  ther
rcnowned but dictant fortrescee Thev were obhged to go
to the tort of Sahr, i Baglana, which wa< the nearest of
their etronghelds  Thev wert Ly wav of Muctafabad or
Chopra Undcr theee circumstances the proper course for
Khan Tahan wac to leave Iardapur wathout delav  and,
beirme towards s left land to pace through Dharan-
canw  and  Chopra to intereept  the marquders  But,
throuch the ropri-ontitione o Shambhap's ameearies, he
went towards Ine night hand  contramv to what was
de-irable and procceded®to Idal-abad  When the enems
heard this he made the most of lue opportumity, and
carried off a1l the plunder he could transport and all s
priconer~ by a rapid march, through Chopra, to the fort
of R[alir wiieh he reached m four or fine dave  The
principal inhabitante of Burhanpur wrote a statement to
Aurangzeb, desenibing the cuccess of the enemy, the loss
inflicted on the property and honour of Muhammadans,
ind the diccontinuance of the pubhie pravers on I'ndays
Aurangzeb then wrote 2 lctter «trongly cencunng Khan
Jahan ind announcing i< own intention of procceding to
the Dakhin In Ius anger he took away from Khan Tahan
all the increa<ed honours and emoluments he had conferred
upon him in that vear Considering the dicorders in the
Dakimn and the fight of Prince Muhammad Akbar, he
gave orders for his travelling equipage to move towards
Burhanpur

TwF\TY-TOURT:I YEAR OF THE Rrigy, 1091 A H
(AD 1680)

Prince Al bar

(Text, vol 1, p 275) When Prince Muhammad Akbar
took to flight, not more than three or four hundred men
remamed with lim  Some of them were lis own old
followers, and others were Rajputs All his properties
and treasure and guns fell mto the hands of the royal

95



KHAFI KHAN

army, as well as one son, a boy of tender years, named
Neku Siyar, and two daughters One son, who had
arrived at years of discretion, remamed with the Rajputs
The Prince himself was distracted, and knew not whither
to go At one time he thought of gomng to Dehlh and
Lahore by way of Ajmir Then he proposed to go to
Persia Whichever way he turned the faujdars and
zamindars, under orders from the Emperor, blocked his way.
Prince Muhammad Mu’azzam*received orders to pursue
him, but the common report 1s that he only made a femnt
of doing so, and marched leisurely

Akbar proceeded by way of Lahore and Multan, and
under the guidance of the zamindars he then passed by
difficult roads through the hills towards the Dakhin .
Orders had been repeatedly sent to Khan Jahan Bahadur,
subadar of the Dakhin, and to all the faujdars, directing
them to stop him wherever he might come, to take him
prisoner alive 1f possible, 1f not, to kill him Under these
orders Khan Jahan pursued the Prince with the mtention of
making him prisoner He came within fourteen or fifteen
kos of him, but on approaching nearer he made ¢nly a femt
of arresting hhm The fact was reported to the Emperor
by Mir Nuru-llah, who was very unceremonious i these
matters A strong letter of censure was written upon the
matter, and strict directions were sent to all the news-
writers

Prince Akbar then proceeded to Baglana, to the
territory of Raja Deb1 Singh, the commandant and fau)dar
of Malir Raja Deb1 sent out a force to take him prisoner,
but when the force followed the Prince escaped ifrom
Baglana A few of his Rajputs remamed behind, and
these were taken to the Raja  Whilst the Raja was making
quiries of these men, another party of his horsemen over-
took one of the Prince’s followers, who had upon his back
a blood-stained jacket belonging to the Prince, but which
he had thrown off in consequence of the heat They
attacked and wounded this man, and carried him off to the
Raja, under the impression that he was the Prince The
Raja did not believe 1t, and abused his men for their
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stupiditn,: Prince  Akbar, after pacsmg through  the
territoriee of the Tinmgic found ungmet refuge for a winle
in the lnlle of Baclana By means of a bribe of money, he
mduced the ll-men to gde lim to Ralur, belonping to
Sambha  Thie elieftan eame forth to receine lim, pave
Inm a houec of ns onn to dwdll i about, three hos from
the fort of Ralun, and fixed an allowance for Jue support

Twrsty-rirtit Yran or Tur Rren 1002 ATT (AD 16S1)

(Tent, ol n, p 2798 After the Jd-r fitr, Aurangzeb
started tor the Dokl to pumsh the anfidele and to
pursiue Prince Muhanunad Akbar On the 11th Z1-1
Iadt he renched Burhnpur the Daru-e curur (abode of
jovt  Khan Tihin Bahadur, the Subadar, and Amn
Ithan the Diwan of the four «ubae of the Daklin, wath
the fiuyders and the offiertls and nobles there, waited upon
him Mamyv pgreat men of Byapur of the Kuth Shaln
avnacty, ind ot the Mahirattas, also came to pav thar
1eepeete

The mfidel imhabitants of the ety and the country
round mude « “ent opresition to the pavment of the yzya
There was not 4 distniet where the people with the help
o1 the fauydars ind mukwddams, did not make dicturbances
ind reaistance \r "Abdu-] Karimm, an excellent and
honest man, now recenced ordere to colleet the yzya m
Burhanpur A suitable foree of horse and foot was
appomted to «upport lum, and the kotwal was directed to
puni<h every one who reasted payment

A fire brohe out m a house near the citadel and the
chauh  There wcre several sachs! of powder in the houce,
the roof was blown off, and many men were burnt It
came to Aurangzch s hnowledge that there were thirty sachs
of gunpowder mn 2 cellar under Ius gleeping apartment  An
miestigation wa< made, nnd 1t appeared that at the verv
commencement of the reign, when Aurangzeb left Burhanpur
to proceed to Dehly, the gunners left this powder there, and
during all that time 1t bhad never been tahen out  The
Imperor severely censured the officials who were answer-

? Kulah
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able for this neglect, and degraded some of them He told
them that 1f this had happened in the reign of Jahangr,
that King would have blown them all up with the
powder Aurangzeb’s humanity and kindness was such that
the severest punishment was reduction of dignity, and this
even was soon restored through the intercession and kind
offices of men high 1n office

Aurangzeb passed three or four months very pleasantly
at Burhanpur, he then left for Aurangabad Before he
departed, Mir ’Abdu-1 Karim, the Amin-1 puzya, reported
that the nzya of the city of Burhanpur for the past year,
amounting to 26,000 rupees, had been paid nto the public
treasury During the three months that he had been
office, he had settled the sum of one lac and 80,000 rupees
as the amount payable by half the towns connected with
Burhanpur He now hoped that he might be allowed to
leave with His Majesty, and that the collection of the
nzya might be deputed to some one else He was
applauded and promoted He was allowed to accompany
the Emperor, and his deputies were to collect the tax

After Aurangzeb reached Aurangabad, Prince Muham-
mad Mu’azzam was sent to take the forts and punish the
infidels of Ram-darra 1 the XKokan, and Prince
Muhammad A’zam was directed to reduce the fort of Salr,
near the fort of Malir in Baglana, which had been held
for some time by the Mahrattas Prince Muhammad
Mu’azzam penetrated mto the Kokan, and passing through
1ts inmost recesses, passes and thick woods, he laid the
country waste in all directions and put many nfidels to
the sword XKhwaja Abul Makarim, afterwards Jan-nisar
Khan, and others, greatly distinguished themselves m this
campaign, but the gram and mllet and vetches of that
country were 1njurious to strangers, and the climate was
very uncongenial to camels and horses Men in great
numbers and quadrupeds beyond compute perished Horses
were so scarce that there was not one left in the stable of
the Prince which was fit to carry him Most men were
obhiged to walk, and no provisions arrived for the enemy
closed the roads on every side Life became supportable,
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and 1t was mmpossible for the Prince to remain there On
the facts bemng reported to the Emperor, he gave orders
for the recall of the army

TWENTY-SIXTH YEAR OF THE REIcy, 1093 AH (A D 1682)

(Text, vol 1, p 281) The fort of Salr, agamst which
Prince Muhammad A’zam had been sent, 1s not one capable
of mnvestment It 1s near the sea, and there are so many
ravines near, that hundreds of thousands of horsemen
could not invest that lofty fortress Neknam Khan
was commandant of Malir and faujdar of Baglana When
the Prince was ordered to conquer 1t, Neknam opened
negotiations with the commandant of Salr, and by
promises and presents, mduced him to surrender the
fortress

[Three officers 1 succession Shahabu-d dwn,.Khan
Jahan, and Kastm Khan, fail to tahe the fortress of
Ram Sj']

Prince ALbar

(Text, vol 1,p 284) hen Prince Akbar went to Rahir,
and became the guest of the accursed Sambha, he was at first
treated very kindly and respectfully, and provision was
made for the necessary expenses of his followers One day
a haz 1n the presence of Muhammad Akbar, in a stupid
flattering way said to Sambha, “ May all the Maharaja’s
enemies be trodden under foot” The Prince heard this,
and being angry, reprimanded the kaz for his folly He
also told Sambha that such vain words ought not to be
spoken 1n his (the Prince’s) presence, and that 1t was also
unbecoming 1n Sambha to listen to them The report also
came that an army had been sent under the command of
T'tikad Khan to effect the conquest of Rahir1  Prince
Muhammad Akbar therefore thought it advisable to make
his way as best he could to Persia He bought two small
ships, furnished them with provisions for forty days, and
was about to start Sidi Yakut Khan Habshi, who secured
the seas in those parts, was at first desirous of stopping
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the progress of the Prince, but he at last conmived at it.
The Prince, with Ziau-d din Muhammad Shuja’r and forty
or fifty persons, put his trust in God and embarked on his
voyage His ships were separated and endured great dis-
tress, the account of which would be too long for
admission here

Through stress of weather, the Prince’s ship fell upon
an 1sland belonging to the Imam of Maskat The people
of the 1sland made him prisoner and sent hia to the Imam
This ruler 1s one of the great zamindars or rulers who
were dependent on Persia He affected to treat the Prince
with hospitality and respect, but in' reality he kept him
under surveillance, and wrote to Aurangzeb offering to
surrender the Prince for the sum of two lacs of rupees and
for a charter exempting goods carried in the ships of
Maskat from the payment of duty in the port of Surat If
Aurangzeb would send onme of his officers, the Imam
promised to give up the Prince

Upon receiving this letter, Aurangzeb wrote to the
officials of the port of Surat, directing them to act m accord
with the proposition of the Imam So the people at Surat
sent Haj1 Fazil, an old sailor 1n the royal service, to take
Prince Akbar i charge When ntelligence of Prince
Akbar’s arrival in Maskat, and the evil designs of the
Imam, became known to the King of Persia, he 1ssued
peremptory commands to the Imam, directing him to send
the Prince (his guest) to him without delay, or an army
would be appomted to deliver him and pumsh the Imam
So perforce the Imam delivered up the Prince to Shah’s
officers When the Prince approached Isfahan, Shah
Sulaiman went forth to meet him On the death of
Shah Suvlaiman, his successor showed the Prince even
greater hospitality and attention, so that the Prince asked
for an army and money to assist him 1n Hindustan Shah
Husain excused himself and the Prince then asked
permigsion to go to Garmsir in Khurasan This was
granted, and provision was made for his maintenance
He retired thither, and died there towards the close of
the reign of Aurangzeb
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TWENTY-SEVENTH YEAR OF THE REIGN, 1094 A H
(AD 1683)

(Text,vol n,p 290) The author of this work has not been
able to obtain such satisfactory accounts of these two or
three years (1n do sth sal) as to be worthy of bemng com-
mitted to writing But he has here recorded what he
has heard from the mouths of trustworthy witnesses, also
what he heard from his late brother, Muhammad Murad
Khan, who was a servant of the Court, and on whose
statements he places 1mpleit trust, and lastly, what the
author himself witnessed 1n his travels and at Haidarabad
He has compared and considered the information derived
from these various sources, and has reduced 1t to writing
If there should appear to be any excess or deficiency, the
pardon of the reader 1s solicited

Siege o) mam-aurra

(Text, vol 1u, p 290) In the beginning of the twenty-
seventh year Prince Mubammad Mu'azzam marched from
Abmadnagar to lay siege to the forts of Ram-darra,
belonging to Sambha, which were in a part of the country
never before penetrated by an Imperal army The
roll of his army numbered 20,000 horse On the
march through the narrow passes, there were many sharp
fights with the enemy, in which numbers of the royal
soldiers fell, but the enemy were put to flight On
reaching the village of Sampganw, the fort of that place
was wnvested ‘The besiegers showed great bravery, and
took the fort 1n two days They then entered the country
of Ram-darra It was m a very strong position, and the
arr of the place did not suit the mvaders The enemy
swarmed around on every side, and cut off the supplies

On one side was the sea, and on two other sides were
mountamns full of poisonous trees and serpents The
enemy cut down the grass, which was a cause of great dis-
tress to man and beast, and they had no food but cocoa--
nuts, and the grain called Audun, which acted hke poison
upon them Great numbers of men and horses died
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Grain was so scarce and dear that wheat flour sometimes
could not be obtammed for less than three or four rupees
Those men who escaped death dragged on a half existence,
and with crying and groaning felt as 1f every breath they
drew was their last There was not a noble who had a
horse m his stable fit for use When the wretched state
of the royal army became known to Aurangzeb, he sent
an order to the officers of the port of Surat, directing them
to put as much gramn as possible on board of ships, and
send 1t to the Prince’s succour by sea The enemy got
mtelligence of this, and as the ships had to pass by their
newly-erected fortresses, they stopped them on their way,
and took most of them A few ships escaped the enemy,
and reached their destination, but no amir got more than
two or three palas of corn The order at length came for
the retreat of ‘thé army, andwit-fell back fighting all the
way to Ahmadnapar, where Aurangzeb then was

Kutbu-l Mulk

(Text, vol 11,p 292 ) It now became known to the Emperor
that Abu-1 Hasan Kutbu-1 Mulk, Sovereign of Haidarabad,
had entrusted the government of his kingdom to Madana
and Akana, two infidels who were bitter enemies to the
Musulmans, and brought great and increased troubles upon
them The King himself was given up to luxury, drinking
and debauchery Aurangzeb having turned hus atten-
tion to the conquest of Haidarabad, and the subjugation of
Abu-l Hasan, he first sent Khan Jahan Kokaltash with
his sons and with a detachment agamst certam
adherents of Abu-]1 Hasan, who had taken possession of
some districts dependent upon Zafar-nagar, on the pretence
that they had formerly formed part of the country of
Telingana Their instructions were to chastise these men,
and to recover the districts After this, Prince Muhammad
Mu’azzam with were sent to effect the conquest of
the country of Telingana

Aurangzeb now sent Mirza Muhammad, the superinten-
dent of his ghusl-khana, to Abu-1 Hasan Kutbu-l Mulk,
with 2 message to this effect  “ It has come to our hearing
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that vou have two very fine diamonds of 150 surkhs n
weight, with sundryv other ranticc We wish you to
ascertain the value of these gems and to <end them to us
for the balance of tmibute due’ But he told his envoy
confidentiallyv that he did not <end lim to obtaun the two
diamonde which he did not at all want but rather to
ascertn the truth ot the evil reporte which had reached
Iim Upon the armval of Mirza Muhammad, he
demanded the dimmonds, according to Ins nstructions
Abu-1 Ha<in swore that he hid no such gems, and that
if he had, he would hive been happy to send them without

anv demand bemeg made for them Such stones as
Ins predecessors possessed had been <ent to the late
Lmperor

Airza Muhammad returned and Abu-1 Hasan learnt
that armies had been <ent agamnet im under the command
ot Khan Jahan and Prince Muhammad Muazzam  He
then szent Ibrahim Khan, otherwise called Husamn who
had recenved the title of Khabhlu-llah IKhan, and was
Commender-in-chiet, and one of the chief nobles of
Hawdarabad with  , and 4 force of thirty or forty
thousand horse, to oppose the armies sent agamst Inm

When the two armies approached ecach other,
between the territorics of Biapur and Haidarabad, Prince
Muhammad Muazzam was desirous of avoiding actual
war by all means in Ins power He sent a message to
IKhahlu-llah Khan, offering peace, on the following terms
Abu-l1 Hasan must express regret for Ins offences, and ask
formiveress He must remove Madana and Akana from
the management of affairs, and place them in confinement
The parganas of Siranm, Ramgr, etec, which had been
taken by force, upon unjust grounds, from the possession
of servants of the Imperal throne, must be restored The
balance of tribute due must be forwarded without delav
The foolish amirs of the Dakhin in their pride, sent
improper answers, regardless of the Imperial anger So
preparations for battle were made on both sides

The lmmits of this brief history will not admit of a
detailed account of all the actions fought by Khan Jahan
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Bahadur Kokaltash, but a short account of one engage-
ment 1s given In this action Khan Jahan had not more
than ten or eleven thousand horse, and Khalilu-llah Khan
had more than thirty thousand Khan Jahan’s army
was so outnumbered and overpowered that all chance of
escape seemed difficult, and the enemy’s forces came on
every moment with greater strength One of the
enemy’s chiefs pressed forward, with a loud ecry, to the
elephant of Khan Jahan, with the intention of hurling a
javelimn at hm  Khan Jahan encountered him shouting
out, “I am a nobleman,” and, allowmng lim no time to
throw his javelin, Khan Jahan drew his bow to his ear, and
prerced his assailant with an arrow, so that he fell head-
long fiom his horse The royal army was still very hard
pressed, mntelligence constantly came in from the front and
rear that the enemy were 1n overwhelming force, and the
only course left for the army of Khan Jahan was to retreat
At this juncture the driver—ofaw ciepimntbelonging to

Reya_RBam _Singh placed a heavy chamn in its meuth and
made 1t charge upon the_enemy’s_sdvanced force
Wherever the elephant charged, the noise of the cham

and the blows of his trunk struck terror into the enemy
The hoises of two or three officers took fright, and threw
therr riders  Thus the army of the enemy was put fo flight,
and Khan Jahan celebrated his victory, and pitched his
camp on the field of battle Many horses, elephants and
guns fell into lns hands., He ihen_sent an officer who
wrested " the Tort of_ Siram from-the_hands.of the-enemy,
and p]lacm@son therein P A )
“The eneiny advanced also_agamst Prince Mu'azzam,
and for some days kept up a deceptive correspondence
Fighting began and went on for three days, with great loss
to both sides  On the fourth day the action was continued
with ncreased violence, and the enemy were_at_length com-
pelled to retreat The Prince, Khan Jahan, and the other
Impdriatofficers did not deem 1t expedient to pursue them
They determined to remain where they were, and sent a
despatch of the victory to Aurangzeb The Emperor had
for some time felt a httle dissatisfied with the Prince, and
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he was displeased with Khan Jahan for the heence and
debauchery which prevailed i lns camp, and which he
had repeatedly censured without efiect  He was also
annoyed with him for not having pursued and secured
Prince Akbar when that Prince was near his territory
Whenever he wrote to hum, he got 2 g&auey answer
For these and other reasoas Aurangzeb was quite offended
with Khsn Jahan

TWeNTY-LICHTH YFAR oF THF RFIGY, 1095 A H
' (AD 168%)

The War with Kutbu-l Mull. of Hardarabad

(Text, vol 11, p 300) The despatch of victory and the
intelligence of the retreat of the enemy reached Aurangzeb,
but lis satisfaction was turned into displeasure when he
learnt that the enemy had not been pursued He wrote an
angry letter to the Prince Shah ’Alam?® and to Khan Tahan,
and was much dissatisfied The generals of Abu-1 Hasan
did not after this dare to venture upon an engagement, but
from time to time roving parties of them annoyed the
Imperial forces at might with rockets They sometimes
showed themselies 1n reconnaissances by dav, and fell
back upon their camp The Prince and Khan Jahan
were offended and made no attack upon them, and
remained for four or five months mactive without moving
This aggrieved Aurangzeb still more, and he wrote a strong
letter of censure with his own hand to the Prince and
Xhan Jahan This letter greatly incensed the Prince
The morning after the receipt of the letter, he held a
council of war with Khan Jahan, and the other nobles
Khan Jahan was opposed to fighting, and some amirs agreed
with lim  Saiyid ’Abdu-llah Xhan and two or three rajas
advised active operations Nothing was decided that day,
and next day Saiyid ’Abdu-llah Khan in private (urged

*Prince Mu’azzam had recened this title by which he s
hereafter called
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an attack upon the enemy) Prince Shah ’Alam wrote to
Muhammad Ibrahim, the commander of the enemy’s army,
offering terms of peace on condition of the parganas of
Siram, Kir (or Khir), etc, bemg restored to the Imperial
officers Muhammad Ibrahim consulted with his
officers as to the answer to be given, and the answer
given was that they had taken the parganas at the point of
the sword and spear, and were ready to fight for them .
(Frghting recommenced) and the enemy were at length
defeated and put to flight The Prince pursued them into
their camp, and great consternation fell upon them

One of the enemy’s generals then sent two officers to
the royal army to represent that the combatants on both
sides were Musulmans, and therefore the honour and
safety of the women should be regarded They asked for
a8 truce of three or four hours to remove the women to a
place of safety, and after that they would be ready to fight
agamn So the fighting and plundering was stayed The
enemy sent therr women to a fort which was near, and at
the end of three pahars the fighting recommenced on every
side The enemy kept up the fight till evening but
then they retreated

The Prince sent & message to the enemy, to the effect
that 1n battles numbers of Musulmans on both sides are
killed, 1t would therefore be better i1f two or three chiefs
from both sides should meet and fight 1t out This would
be a real trial of strength, skill and courage and 1t would
be seen which side had the favour of God Next day
messengers brought the news that the enemy’s horse had
fled towards Haidarabad The Prince marched mn pursuit,
and came near to Haidarabad

Madana Pant and his friends had raised suspicions n
the mind of Abu-l Hasan, that Muhammad Ibrahim had
been the means of bringing the Prince thither
Abu-l Hasan was very angry, and was itent upon
seizmg Ibrahim, and putting him to death Muhammad
Ibrahim got intelligence of this, and went to offer hms
services to the Prince, who received him with great
favour When intelligence of this desertion became known

106



MUNTARIATT -1, 1T BAR

i Hudiribad  Abu-l Haom wae greatly alirmed  and
without consulting with anv of hus nobles or even earing
am thine tor e property or the honour of i own womer
and fumh or of others he fled with a fev cervants by
mght vith boves full of <uch vnaluibles a< he conld earry
to tha 1ort of Gollbondr When this faet bocame publie, the
clores o Abu-l Haan were plundored e ddeo wae the
properiy of the merchaints vorth four or five hrors of
rupces  Tho women of the <oldicrs and of the mhabitants
of the ety wire ~ubjected to dichonour and proat dis-
order «nd decttaetion prevatled  VMany thousand gentlemen
hemnz unable to tike horee, and earmv off their property, n
the pretest dictres~ took the hands of thar elaldren and
wines many of whom could not (ven «eize o verl or <ieet
to cover them and fled to the fortress

Before Prince shabh "Alun pof antelhipence of what was
pacsng the rufians and plunderers of the aity began thar
work of pillage ind dovictation Nobles merehante and
poorcr men vied  ath eneh other a< to who, by etrength
of arm ind by oypenditure of money, <hould get ther
famhce wd property nto the tortress Betore break of
day the Impenal forecs attiched the eity, and 2 frightfui
<cenc o1 plunder imd destruetion followed for m every part
and royd ind market there were laes upon lacs of money,
stuffe, carpete horee<, and clephant< belonging to \bu-l
Ha<in ind hic nobles Words cannot expre-s how many
women nd children of NMusulmans and Hindus were made
priconers, or how many women of ligh and low degree
were dicshonoured  Carpets of great value, which were too
heavy to carmy, were cut to peces with swords and daggers,
and cvery it was ctruggled for Prince Shah ’Alam
appointed officers (sazaval) to prevent the plunder, and
thev did their best to restrmin at, but mn vn  The kotwal
of the army received orders to go with the Imperial diwan,
with an escort of four or five hundred horse, to take
possession of what was left of the property of Abu-1 Hasan

Some persons now ecame from Abu-l Hasan to the
Prince, most humbly and ecarncstly begging formiveness of
the sins which he had and had not committed The Prince
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theieon strictly enjomed his officers to repress the plundei-
g, and to pumsh those who were setting places on fire
The disorder was i some measure diminished, but the
plunderers were not really stopped in their work After a
good deal of negotiation the Prince took pity upon Abu-l
Hasan and the inhabitants of the place He accepted his
proposals upon certain conditions A tribute of one kror
and twenty lacs of rupees was to be paid, in addition to
the usual annual tribute Madana and Akana, the two
brothers, and the chief causes of the war, were to be
mmprisoned and deprived of all authority The fort of
Siram and the pargana of Xhir, and other districts which
had been conquered, were to remam in the hands of the
Imperiahists, and Abu-1 Hasan was to ask forgiveness of
his offences from Aurangzeb '

While the negotiations were pending some women
of great influence 1n the harem, without the knowledge of
Abu-l Hasan, laid a plot for the murder of Madana and
Akana Whilst the two doomed wretches were pro-
ceeding from the darbar to thewr own houses, a party of
slaves attacked them and killed them Rustam Ras also,
who had reached the house, was killed Many Brahmans
lost therr lives and property on that day The heads of
the two brothers were cut off, and were sent to Prince Shah
’Alam by the hands of a discreet person

When the Prince’s despatch reached Aurangzeb, he n
public approved of the terms of peace, and sent an
officer to receive the tribute Privately, however, he censuied
the Prince and Khan Jahan, and summoned the latter to
his presence

War with Byapur

(Text, vol 11, p 316) Aurangzeb determined that he would
march m person to effect the conquest of Biapur, and he
started with that intention on the 4th Sha’ban Prince
A’zam, with some evperienced nobles and a suitable force,
was sent to reduce Biyjapur  On approaching the place, he
found that the forces of the Dakhin, under the command of
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'Abdur Ruf and Sharza Khan, hovered round him in all
directions In thet year calamtv had fallen on the crops
and gramn was very dear The Dakhim forces occupied the
country all around, and prevented all supplics of corn from
reaching Byjapur, so that gramn became very scarce and
dear mn the (Imperial) army, and 1t was difficult to get a
loaf At length, after many severe actions  the forces
of the enemy were diiven back, and convoys of provisions
were brought safely into the camp of Prince Muhammad
A’zam, and he was reliecved from the difficulties which had
beset him  Great favears and honours weie bestowed
on Ghaziu-d din Khan for the service he had rendered n
bringing 1n the conto}

The protiacted duration of the siege of Byapur, and the
mformation he had received of the disaffection of the allies
who accompanied Prince Muhammad A’zam, made
Aurangzeb determine to proceed thither mn person At the
beginning of Sha’ban i the twenty-eighth year of the
reign, he set out from Sholapur, and on the 21st of the month
he arrived before the fortress, to the great dismav of the
besieged He appointed  several of his best officers to
assist the Prince i carrying on the siege, and addressed to
them some soul-stirring words They set heartily to work
constructing lines of approach, drving mines and filling up
the ditch

Some mischief-making people reported to Aurangzeb
that on a day when an attack was made Shah Kuli was
mside the fortress along with Sikandar, also that a person
named Saiyid ’Alam used to come out of the city by might,
and have inteiviens in secret with the Prince  This was
confirmed by the report of Ruhu-llah Khan kotwal Orders
were accordingly given for the arrest of Saiyid ’Alam when
he came out to see Prince Shah ’Alam, and also for the
apprehension qf Shah Kuli  Shah Kuli was at length seized
and brought before Aurangzeb, who exammed him and
endeavoured to extract from him the truth about his visits
to the city Nothing but demial was obtamed from the
prisoner, so the order was given for binding him and sub-
mitting him to the torture  After receiving a few blows, his
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spnit gave way, he divulged the whole secret, and named
several others who had been concerned with him Aurangzeb
gent for Prince Shah ’Alam, and'in a private interview
reproached him with these secret negotiations The Prince
denied them and said that Shah Kuli was no servant of his
Orders were given for the confinement of Saiyid ’Abdu-llah
Khan, and for the expulsion of several other persons from
the army Aurangzeb’s feelings had been estranged from
Prince Shah ’Alam since the transactions at Haidarabad,
and he was now still more offended with him He made
no outward change m the Prince’s rank and allowances, or
in the honours due to him as heir apparent, but his
estrangement daily increased

TWENTY-NINTH AND THIRTIETH YEARS OF THE REIGN, 1096
AND 1097 AH (AD 1685-86)

Conquest of Byapur and Hawdarabad

(Text, vol 11, p 322) By the exertions of Ghaziu-d din
Khan Firoz Jang, and other renowned warriors, and through
want of supplies, the garrison of Bnpapur was in great
distress, and many men and horses had perished Sharza
Khan and other nobles asked for terms on behalf of
Sikandar, and at the beginning of the thirtieth year of the
reign 1 Zi-l1 ka’da, 1097 (October 1686), the keys of the
fortress were surrendered to Aurangzeb The corquest was
celebrated with great display, and Sikandar was placed m
confinement 1n the fort of Daulatabad, a sumitable provision
bemg made for his support

At the end of Muharram, Aurangzeb notified his inten-
tion of goimng to pay a visit to the tomb of Hazrat Banda-
nawaz Saryid Muhammad Gisu, and marched towards
Kulbarga He sent a kind farman to Abu-l1 Hasan, and
another to Sa’adat Khan, his own hajib at Haidarabad,
asking for payment of the tribute He also wrote privately
to Sa’adat Khan, to the effect that 1t was his intention
shortly to march against Haidarabad and conquer 1t, but
Sa’adat Khan was meanwhile to do his utmost to obtam
money from Abu-1 Hasan Sa’adat Khan flattered Abu-I
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Hasan with hopes of favours from Aurangzeb, and exerted
himself to obtain payment of the tribute Abu-1 Hasan, m
the hope of finding safety, told Sa’adat Khan that he was
unable to find the money but he offered mstead the jewels
and valuables belonging to his wives and others He there-
fore asked ham to send his young eunuch to select and take
away the jewels and other things Sa’adat Khan refused
to send the eunuch, and negotiations went on for some days
until the mmtelligence was brought that Aurangzeb was at
Kulbarga

Abu-1 Hasan, i the extremes of fear and hope, sent for
Sa’adat Khan, and delivered into his charge several trays
of jewels and valuables, without even settling the value of
them  These were sealed up, and it was arranged that
Sa’adat Khan should carry them to his house In the course
of the next two or three days Abu-1 Hasan would do his
best to obtain the tribute money, and would send 1t to the
house of Sa’adat Khan The value of the jewels was then
to be settled, and the whole was to be sent to Aurangzeb,
with a letter from Sa’adat Khan commending Abu-1 Hasan’s
willingness and obedience, and praymmg for merciful
consideration Abu-l Hasan sent some loads of fruit for
Ahurangzeb, and Sa’adat Khan also sent some baskets with
them

Two or three days later intelligence was brought that
Aurangzeb had left Kulbarga and had arrived at Golkonda
Everybody now said that his object was to conquer
‘Golkonda ALu-l Hasan sent to Sa’adat Khan, saving
that he had no longer hope of any consideration from
Aurangzeb, and demanded back the jewels which he had
placed 1n his charge Sa’adat Khan replied that  he had
sent the jewels to Aurangzeb 1 the baskets which
accompanted Abu-1 Hasan’s present, of fruitt A great scene
followed Abu-1 Hasan placed a guard over Sa’adat Khan’s
house The latter sa1d that he had only obeyed the orders,
and acted m accordance with his wishes 1n sending the
jewels  “For this,” said he, “you are now about to kill
me My master has long desired some pretext for destroying
you, he cannot have a better one than the murder of
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lis hapb If I am spared, I can do something to obtan
forgiveness for you, and I will exert myself to the utmost ”

In some matters Sa’adat Khan had befriended Abu-l
Hasan agamst the designs of his own master So Abu-l
Hasan, thinking of what might follow, reframned from
mjuring him, and made him present

When Aurangzeb drew near to Haidaiabad, Abu-l
Hasan felt that the time of his fall was near, but he sent
a letter to Aurangzeb, renewing his protestations of
obedience, and reiterating his claims to forgiveness
Aurangzeb wrote a reply, the gist of which was as follows
“ The evil deeds of this wicked man pass beyond the bounds
of writing, but by mentionming one out of a hundred and a
little out of much, some conception of them may be formed
First, placing the rems of authority and government n the
hands of wvile tyrannical infidels, oppressing and affhcting
the saiyids, shaikhs, and other holy men, openly giving
himself up to excessive debauchery and depravity, mdulging
m drunkenness and wickedness night and day, making no
distinction between infidelity and Islam, tyranny and justice,
depravity and devotior, waging obstinate war 1 defence of
infidels, want of obedience to the Divine commands and
prolibitions, especially to that command which forbids
assistance to an enemy’s country, the disregarding of which
had cast a censure upon the Holy Book 1n the sight both of
God and man Letters full of friendly advice and waining
upon these points had been repeatedly written, and had been
sent by the hands of discteet men No attention had been
paid to them, moreover 1t had lately become known that a
lac of pagodas had been sent to the wicked Sambha  That
i this msolence and intovication and worthlessness, no
regard had been paid to the mmfamy of his deeds, and"no
hope shown of deliverance 1in this world or 1 the next

Abu-1 Hasan, secing that there was no longer any hope
for him, sent forth s forces, under the command of his
best officers, to meet Aurangzeb, urging them to fight
vahantly, and to endeavour to make Aurangzeb prisoner
On the 24th Rabr’u-l awwal the royal army took ground
at gun-shot distance from Golkonda, and the work of the
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siege began  Abu’l Hasan had forty or fifty thousand horse
outside the walls, with whom the royal army had frequent
encounters, and a sharp fire of guns and rockets was kept
up” from the fortifications Some distinguished officers of
the royal army and many men were lost on both sides
After the arrival of Firoz Jang, the whole management of
the siege was placed 1n lus hands

Prince Shah ’Alam had fallen under the displeasure of
his father at the siege of Byapur, still, at the siege of
Golkonda the lines on the right side were under his
command  But the days of his fortune and prospenty
had been overshadowed by some years of troubles
and misconduct He now secretly received messages
and presents from Abu-l Hasan, to secure his services,
and the services of his associates, in obtaming forgive-
ness of past offences The Prince’s objects were that
peace and war should be dependent upon his approval as
heirr apparent, and that as far as possible he should bind
Abu-1 Hasan to his interests He never reflected that this
course must eventually end i lis fall and disgrace Some
meddhng mischief-making people got information of what
was gomg on, and mformed Aurangzeb The manager of
the Prince’s equipages now reported to him that the carriages
belonging to his zanana were far away from his tents, and
were open to attack from the garrison  He accordingly
ordered that they should be brought nearer to his tent

Some of Prince Muhammad A’zam’s companions
mnformed Aurangzeb that Shah ’Alam was about to make his
way 1mto the eity  On hearing this Aurangzeb was greatlv
enraged He called Hayat Khan, and another of Shah
’Alam’s confidential servants, to his presence, and questioned
them i private as to the Prince’s mtention They replied
that the Prince’s object was to obtam, by his influence, a
pardon for Abu-1 Hasan, and, failing n that, to do his best
for the reduction of the fortress Of evil intentions he had
none But for all their pleas and protestations they could
not remove the suspicions which Aurangzeb had of his son

Orders were given for a force to be sent to bring the
Prince before im  Hayat Khan said there was no necessity
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for that If the Emperor sent an officer to call the Prince,
he would come at once, for he had no thought but of
obedience So on the 18th Rabi’u-s sami, m the twenty-
ninth year of the reign, an officer was sent to the royal
presence The Prince obeyed mmmediately, and waited on
his august father The Emperor ordered that all the
establishments of the Prince should be seized, and lis
mansabs and jagirs confiscated  [Harsh treatment of
Nuru-l Nissa, the Prince’s unfe, and of her eunuchs ] But
here we will refrain from entering upon the unhappy details
of the Prince’s imprisonment, and his liberation, and will
proceed with the account of the conquest of Golkonda

Day by day, and week by week, the approaches were
pushed forward under the direction of Ghaziu-d din Firoz
Jang, but they were encountered with great daring by the
besieged under the command of Shaikh Nizam, Mustafa
Khan Lari, otherwise called ’Abdu-r Razzak, and others
The fighting was desperate, and many were killed on both
s1des After one sharp encounter, in which a sally of the
garrison was driven back with loss, Shaikh Minhaj, Shaikh
Nizam, and others, deserted Abu-1 Hasan, and came over to
the besiegers, when Aurangzeb granted to them suitable
mansabs and titles Muhammad Ibrahim, who was the
first to quit the way of error, and to enter upon the royal
road of rectitude, recerved a mansab of 7,000 and 6,000 horse,
with the title of Mahabat Khan He exerted himself above
all others i endeavouring to reduce the fortress Shaikh
Nizam recerved a mansab of 6,000 and 5,000 horse, with the
title of Takarrub Khan Of all the nobles of Abu-1 Hasan,
the one who never forsook him until the fall of the place,
and who throughout exerted himself in an mconceivable
manner, wag Mustafa Khan Lan or, as he was also called,
"Abdu-r Razzak

The siege was protracted for a long time, and from
the 1mmense stores of ammunition 1 the fortress, an un-
mtermitting discharge was kept up night and day from the
gates, and towers, and walls, of cannon-balls, bullets, rockets
and other fiery missiles The smoke arisimng from the
constant firing removed the distinction of day and mght,
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and no di paceed without the hesegers «ufiering « loss
Mlled and wounded  The accalante exerted themsehes
vigorouslv  cspeenilh md <o m the course of a month
and <comc divs the hnes were earried up to the very edge
of the diteh ind orders were 1scued for filbng st up 1t g
cqid thie Surang-ch ameelt, after ob<erving the rite of
purifiention <ened the «cams of the fir<t cotton bag ta bhe
filled with ¢arth and thrown mto the moat  Iigh mounds
vere ruscd and heavy pune were pliced upon them and
pomied acunat the fartrose Their heavy fire greath
haracsed the defenders  The «earcity and dearness of gram
wnd fodder tvithin the e1tv ) was extreme <o that many men
o1 wealth were dicheartcwd  who then ean deseribe the
position of the poor and needy”  Throughout the Dakhin
in the corlv part of thic vear there was a searaity of ramn
when the jowar imd bajra came mto ear <o they anel up
and peniched  Theee productions of the autumn harvest
wre the mun <upport of the people of the Daklin - Riee 1
the prineipal food of the pe op{o of Hadarabad, and the
cultis ation ot thie had been «topped by war and by <careity
of run The Daklimis and the force~ of the hell-dog
Sambh hid come to the a<astince of Haidarabad and
hovering round the Imperil forees thev eut off the supplies
ot pram  Pedtilence (uaba) broke out, and ecarried oft
many men  Thus greqt numbers of men were lost  Others
unable to bear the pange of hunger and wretchedness went
over to Abu-l Ha<in and some treacherously rendered awd
to the besieged

When the <tege had been earried on for some time
Aurangzeb recalled Prinee Mubammad V’zam whom 1n
conzequence of the unfathfulness of Prinee Shah "Alam he
had sent to settle the country round Ujjain and Akbarabad
and who had got as far as Burhanpur  He alco summoned
Ruhu-llah Khan, an experienced and aghly -trusted noble-
man from Byapur  Soeon after the Prince’s arrval the
dearness of gramn passed all bounds In the middle of
Rajab, when the siege had lasted three months it was
resolved to make an attempt to take the place bv surprise at
night, by means of scahng-ladders and ropes A fewn
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brave men succeeded 1n ascending the ramparts,  but the
barking of a dog gave the alarm, and the defenders rushed
to the walls and soon despatched those who had gained the
top They also threw down the ladders, and so made an
end of those who were mounting  Others opened fire
When the leaders of the stormimg party gained the summit
of the ramparts, one of Aurangzeb’s servants ran off to report
their success, without waiting to see the result of the enter-
prise  Aurangzeb, on recenving his report, ordered the
drums of victory to be beaten, and ordered out his royal
equipage and State dress  Neat day spies reported that
Abu-1 Hasan gave the dog a gold collar, a plated chain, ete,
and directed that the dog should be kept chamed near to
himself

In the middle of Sha’ban a heavy ramn fell for three
days, which was the cause of very great distress to the
besiegers, and destroyed many of their works The
enemy also took courage, and made a sally i great force,
m which they did great damage, and killed many men
and took some prisoners  Abu-l Hasan treated his prisoners
with hospitality and honour He took Sarbarah Khan to
his granaries and magazines and showed him his stores of
corn and heaps of tieasure  He then wiote a letter to
Aurangzeb, reciting  and offering to present a kror of
rupees, and also to pay a hror of rupees for each time that
Aurangzeb had besieged the place, so that any further
slaughter of Musulmans might be prevented If his
proposals were not accepted, he offered to supply five or six
hundred thousand mans of gram for the troops ~ When
these proposals were reported to Aurangzeb, he said, “If
Abu-1 Hasan does not repudiate my authority, he must come:
to me with clasped hands, or he must be brought bound
before me I will then consider what consideration I can
show him ” He then 1ssued orders to the officials of Birar
for the preparation cf 50,000 bags of cotton, and for other
matirlals for carrying on the siege and filling up the
moa

On the 19th Sha’ban 1t was reported that a triple mine
had been driven under the bastions of the fortress, and
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chirged with gunpowder  Orders were then given that a
toree <hiould be collectad i the hnes s if about to make an
att wh upon the undormmead work, <o that the enemy might
obscrve thie and accemble his men there  The mines were
thin to be fired Abdu-r Ra=z11 Lan and others of the
beateea hovme obarved these procecdings, commenced
countermiming They puched their work with sueh <kill
and retnaty that thoy drew the powdor md match from
one mmc ind poured wter mto the other two  The
Imperiid troops collccted sor the as<wlt and raced ther
cries und the zunners watched the ramparts for the proper
momnt for firine the mime Whan the <ignal was given,
one minc (\ploded but a< part o1 the powder had been
ovtrectea nd of the remaming part that wiich lay nearest
to the fortres= v 1~ vot the blowmg up ot the ba<tion did
more mury to the beweccr~ thin the besieged The
garricon then <alhicd HHrrth imd ocenpred the trenches, kithng
W whom thay found thivem than After 1 <evere ~trugegle,
m which man nun fell on both <ides the trenches were
reconerca  The cecond mime was exploded and thousands
ol «tones great and «mll vere hurled mto the air, but, s
m the former « ive they fell upon the heads of the be<egers,
md great number v cre halled md wounded

Gre t wailimge and complamts aro<e from the troops
engiged m the <were The cnnonade recommenced on
both «ade~ and m iny more of the besiegers fell \lthough
Tiroz Tine cverted himeelf mo«t <trenuousy, he made no
impres<ton upon the plice  he long delw Rhindled the
anger of Aurinazeb e called his ehief< and officers
together and  placing meelf at about a  pun-shot
distance from the walls, he ordered an as=iwlt to be made
undcr s own eves  Prodigies of valour were exhinted
But 2 storm of wind and run aroce and obstructed the
progress of the aseatlants, and thev were foreed to fall
back drenched with rain The garricon again made a sally,
took possession of the trenches, smked the heavy guns, on
the mounting of which immense money and labour had been
expended, and carried awayv all thet was portable They
pulled out of the moat the logs of wood, and the manv
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thousands of bags which had been used to fill 1t up, and
used them to repair the breaches made by the mines It
was afterwards determined that the third mine should be
sprung i the presence of Aurangzeb But although fire
was applied, nothing resulted An examination as to the
cause was mstituted, but nothing was discovered until 1t was
learnt from spies that the enemy had cleared out the powder
and cut the match Firoz Jang had received two arrow
wounds The command of the army was then given to
Prince Muhammad A’zam

Several of the officers of Abu-1 Hasan had come over
to the side of Aurangzeb, and had received suitable titles,
mansabs, and presents  Shaikh Minhhaj, having heard of
this, was about to desert, but Abu-1 Hasan placed him m
confinement, and seized his house Of all his nobles, none
remained faithful to Abu-1 Hasan but ’Abdu-r Razzak Lan,
who had received the title Mustafa Khan, and ’Abdu-llah
Khan Pan1 Afghan At the end of Sha’ban, the siege had
lasted eight months, and Abu-1 Hasan’s men still woiked
mdefatigably At length, ’Abdu-llah Xhan made secret
overtures to Aurangzeb, and agreed to open one of the gates
of the city for the admission of s troops

Aurangzeb frequently communicated with ’Abdu-r
Razzak Lari, and promised him a mansad of siv thousand,
with s\ thousand horse, and other regal favours But that
ungracious faithful fellow, taking no heed of Ius own mterest
and Iife, 1n the most insolent manner exhibited the Emperor’s
letter to the men in lus bastion, and tore 1t to pieces In
their presence, and he sent a message by the spy who had
brought 1t to say that he would fight to the death hke the
horsemen who fought with Imam Hossamn at Karbala

The besiegers continued to show great resolution 1n
pushing on the siege They cast mto the ditches thousands
of bags filled with dirts and rubbish, and thousands of
carcases of amimals and men who had perished durmg the
operations Several times the valour of the assailants
carried them to the top of the walls, but the watchfulness
of the besicged frustrated their efforts, so they threw away
their Iives 1n vam, and the fortress remamned untaken But
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the fortune of ’Alamgir at length prevailed, and after a
siege of eight months and ten davs, the place fell mto his
hands, but by good fortune, not by force of sword and spear

THIRTY-FIRST YEAR OF THE REIicN, 1098 AH (A D 1687)

(Text, vol 1, p 361) At the beginning of the month Z1-1
ka'da, at the commencement of the thirty-first year of the
reign, agreeing with 1098 A H (September 1687), by the
efforts of Ruhu-llah Khan, a negotiation was concluded,
through Ranmast Khan Afghan Pani, with ’Abdu-llah
Khan, who was one of the confidential officers of Abu-l
Hasan, and had charge of the gate called the Rhirk:
(wicket) In the last watch of the might Ruhu-llah Khan
and , at 2 sign from ’Abdu-llah, entered the fortress by
means of ladders Prince Muhammad A’zam, mounted on
an elephant, had a large force ready to enter by the gate
Those who had got 1n went to the gate, posted their men,
opened the gate, and raised the ery of victory

'Abdu-r Razzek Lar heard this, and, springing on a
horse without any saddle, with a sword in one hand and a
shield in the other, and accompanied by ten or twelve
followers he rushed to the open gate, through which the
Impenal forces were pouring i Although his followers
were dispersed, he alone, like a drop of water falling into
the sea, or an atom of dust strugeling in the rays of the
sun, threw himself upon the advancing foe, and fought with
mconceivable fury and desperation, shouting that he would
fight to the death for Abu-1 Hasan Every step he advanced
thousands of swords were aimed at him, and he recerved so
many wounds from swords and spears that he was covered
with wounds from the crown of his head to the nails of
his feet But his time was not vet come, and he fought
his way to the gate of the citadel without bemng brought
down He received twelve wounds upon his face alone, and
skin of his forehead hung down over his eyes and nose  One
eye was severely wounded, and the cuts upon his body
seemed as numerous as the stars  His horse also was
covered with wounds, and reeled under his weight, so he
gave the rens to the beast, and bv great exertion kept his
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seat The horse carried him to a garden called Nagina,
near the citadel, to the foot of an old cocoa-nut tree, where,
by the help of the tree, he threw himself off On the
morning of the second day a party of men belonging to
Husam Beg passed, and recognising him by his horse and
other signs, they took compassion upon him, and carried
him upon a bedstead to a house TWhen his own men heard
of this, they came and dressed his wounds The remainder
of the story of this brave devoted warrior shall he told
hereafter

The shouts and cries, and the groans of lamentations,
within and without made Abu-1 Hasan aware that all was
over He went 1nto his harem to comfort his women, to
ask pardon of them, and take leave of them Then though
his heart was sad, he controlled himself and went to his
reception room and took his seat upon the masnad, and
watched for the coming of his unbidden guests When the
time for taking his meal arrived, he ordered the food to be
served up As Ruhu-llah Khan and others arrived, he
saluted them all, and never for a moment lost his digmty
With perfect self-control he received them with courtesy,
and spoke to them with warmth and elegance

Abu-1 Hasan called for bhis horse and accompanied the
amirs, carrying a great wealth of pearls upon his neck
When he was mtroduced into the presence of Prince
Mubammad A’zam Shah, he took off his necklace of pearls
and presented 1t to the Prince n a most graceful way The
Prince took 1t, and placing his hand upon his back, he did
what he could to console and encourage hm  He then
conducted him to the presence of Aurangzeb, who also
recetved him very courteously ~ After a few days the
Emperor sent him to the fortress of Daulatabad, and settled
a swtable allowance for providing him with food, raiment,
and other necessaries Officers were appointed to take
possession of the effects of Abu-1 Hasan and his nobles

’Abdu-r Razzak?, senseless, but with a spark of lfe
remaming, was carried to the house of Ruhu-llah Khan As
soon as the eyes of Saf-Shikan Khan fell upon him, he cried
out, “ This 18 that wvile Lar1! cut off his head and hang 1t
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over the gate ' Ruhu-Hah rephad that to cut off the head
of a dving man without orders, when there was no hope of
e curvinvig was {ar from bemg humane A httle ard
made the matter known to Aurmgzeb who had heard of
Abdu-r Rzz ks danng and courage and lovalty  and he
graciouely ordered that two <urgeons, one a Luropean, the
other 2 Hindu should be <ent to attend the wounded man,
who were to make dulv 1ports of Ine eondition to
Auringzeb

The Empcror <ent 1or Rubu-llah Khan and told him
that if Abu-l Hacvin had po-scsced onlyv one more geryvant
devoed hike "Abdu-r Razzak, 1t would hawe tiken much
longer to subcie the tortres«  The <urgeons reported that
they hid counted noarly caovents wounds, besides the many
wounds upon wounds whieh could not be counted  Although
one cve was not mjurcd 1t was probable that he would lose
the aght of both  They were directed earefully to attend
to his cure At the end o1 sinteen dave, the doctors reported
that he had opened one (v¢, and <poken a few faltering
words expresemng hope of recovery \urangrzeb sent a
message to I torginving im s offences, and desiring
him to <«cnd e eldest ~on Abdu-! Kadir with his other sons
that they might recenne suitable man<abs and honours, and
return thanks for the pardon grinted to their father, and
for the man<abs and other {avours W hen thie gracious
mes=ege reached that devoted and peerless hiero he gasped
out a few words of rexerence ana gratitude but he <aid that
there was httle hope of ns recovery I, however, 1t pleased
the Almighty to spare lnm and give lum a second life, it was
not hikelv that he would be fit for <ervice, but should he
cver be capable of service he felt that no onc who had
eaten the salt of A\bu-l Hasan, and had thriven on lus
bounty, could enter the <ervice of King ’Alamgmr
(Aurangzeb)  On hearing these words a cloud was scen to
pass over the face of His Majesty, but he hindly said
“When he 1s quite well, let me know " Most of 'Abdu-r

*In a subsequent page the author <avs that he hned for some

time with ’Abdu-r Rarzzak near Rahin This accounts for the long
notice he has given of that brave soldier

121



KHAFI KHAN

Razzak’s property had been plundered, but such as was
left was given over to him

' Some time afterwards it was reported that ’Abdu-i
Razzak had got quite well, and an order was issued to the
subadar to send him to the royal presence ’Abdu-r Razzak
tried to excuse himself and expressed a wish to go with lus
children on the pilgrimage to Mecca, on returning from
which blessed journey he would devote himself to prayer
for the long life of His Majesty Orders were then given
for airesting him and sending him to Court Firoz Jang got
information of this, and with great sympathy nvited
’Abdu-r Razzak to come and stay with him He kept him
for some time with maiked kindness, and after the lapse of
a vear ’Abdu-r Razzak entered the Imperial service with a
mansab of 4,000 and 3,000 horse

The property of Abu-1 Hasan which was recovered after
1ts dispersion amounted to eight lacs and fifty-one thousand
huns, and two hrors and fifty-three thousand rupees,
altogether six Arors eighty lacs and ten thousand rupees,
besides jewels, mlaid articles and vessels of gold and silver
The total in dams was one a1 b fifteen krors sinteen lacs and
a fraction, which was the sum entered on the records

The mud fort of Golkonda was built by the ancestors
of Raja Deo Rai, and 1t was acquired by the Bahman
Sultans after a good deal of resistance Upon the fall of
the Bahmam dynasty, their territories fell mto the hands of
a number of petty chiefs, but Sultan Muhammad Kuh
entitled Kutbu-1 Mulk, who had been one of the nobles of
Sultan Muhammad Shah Bahmani, brought some of the
provinces of the Dakhin under lus rule For the old mud
fort of Raja Deo Rai, which stood upon the summit of a
lill, he substituted one of stone After some descents, the
kingdom came to Muhammad Kutbu-l Mulk, for all the
descendants hore the name of Kutbu-l Mulk  He took
great pamns in repainng the fort of Golkonda  He had a

*In the text ten pages intemene hefore this finish of ’Abdur

Razzik's story 1e brought It appears m the thirty-second year
of the reign -
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wife named Bhagmati, of whom he was very fond At her
request, he bult a city two kos distant from the fortress to
which he gave the name of Bhagnagar Some time after
the death of Bhagmati, the name was changed to Haidara-
bad, but n the vernacular language of the people 1t 1s still
called Bhagnagar That woman® had established many
brothels and drinking shops in that place, and the rulers
had always been addicted to pleasure and to all sorts of
debauchery Abu-l Hasan exceeded all his predecessors n
his devotion to pleasmwe So the city got an evil name for
Iicentiousness After the conquest by Aurangzeb 1t was
called the hostile country (daru-l thad)  [Swrender of the
fort of Sakar between Hardarabad and Byapur )

THIRTY-SECOND YEAR OF THE REIGN, 1099 AH (A D 1688)

[Surrender of the Fort of Adhom to Prince Muhammad
A’zam Shah)

THIRTY-THIRD YEAR OF THE REIGN, 1100 AH (AD 1689)

(Text, vol n, p 372) The plague (ta’un) and pestilence
(waba), which had for several vears been 1n the Dakhin’as
far as the port of Surat and the city of Ahmadabad, now
broke out with violence in Bijapur, and 1n the 10yal camp
It was so virulent that when an individual was attacked
with 1t, he gave up all hope, and thought only about his
nursing and mourning The black-pated guest-slayer of
the sky sought to pick out the seed of the human race from
the field of the world, and the cold blast of destruction tried
to cut down the tree of hife in every living bemng, and to
remove every shoot and sign of hife from the surface of the
world The wisible marks of the plague were swellings as
big as a grape or banana under the arms, behind the ears,
and m the groin, and a redness was perceptible round the
pupils of the eyes, as 1 fever or pestilence (waba) It was
the business of heirs to provide for the interment of the
dead, but thousands of obscure and friendless persons of no
property died mn the towns and markets, and very few of

*The words are explieit
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1alcon of destiny  After bathing, he lingered theie, viewing
the lofty hills, the arduous roads full of ascents and descents,
and the thick woods of thoinv tiees Unlike his father,
he was addicted to wine, and fond of the society of hand-
some women, and gaie himself up to pleasure Messengers
prought him mtelbgence of the active movements of
Mukarrab Khan, but he was absorbed 1n the pleasures which
bring so many men of might to therr rmn

Mukarrab Khan started boldly from lus base at
Kolapur, which was forty-fite kos distant from the retreat
to which Sambha had resorted  He took with him two
thousand horse and one thousand foot, selected men The
1eports brought to him represented that the road was steep
and arduous, over high hills, and that thirty or forty
men without aims might hold the road against a laige army
by throwing down stones But that brave leader heeded
none of these objections He set out and made a rapid
march, and in the most difficult places they came to he
himself went first on {oot Thev pressed on, and
approached near the place where the doomed one was
staving

It 1s said that Sambha’s scouts informed him of the
approach of the roval aimy, o1 the “ Moghul army,” as it
was called in the language of the JMlahrattas But the
heedless fellow scouted the 1dea of any Moghul aimy pene-
trating to that place He ordered the tongues of the
reporters to be cut out, and did not even take care to have
his horses ready or to prepare any earth works

Mukarrab Khan, with his sons and nephews ten or
twelve brave personal attendants and two or three hundred
horsemen, fell sword 1n hand upon the heedless Sambha,
who too late thought of defending himself Kabkalas, his
raziwr, was well known for his courage and darmng  He did
his best to save him, and, with a partvy of Mahrattas,
advanced to meet the assailants At the commencement of
the fight he recemed an arrow in the nght arm, which
rendered the limb useless He fell from his horse, exclaim-
ing that he would remain there Sambha, who was about
to take flight, sprang from his horse and said that he would
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stay with lim  Four or five Mahrattas were cut down, but
all the rest of Sambha’s men fled IKabkalas was taken
prisoner, Sambha went for refuge into an 1dol temple, and
there hid himself The place was surrounded, and he was
discovered  Several of his followers, of no importance,
were killed, but he and his family, including his son Sahu, s
boy of seven or eight years of age, were all made prisoners
All his men and women, twenty-six individuals in number,
were taken, and also two women belonging to Ram Raja,
his vounger brother, whom he kept confined m one of his
forts The hands of all of them weie bound, and they were
brought to the feet of the elephant on which Mukarrab
Khan was nnding  Although Sambha, 1 the brief interval,
had shaved off his beard, smeared his face with ashes and
changeéd his clothes, he was discovered by a necklace of
pearls under his garments, and by the gold rings upon the
legs of his horse Mukarrab Khan made him ride behind
him on the same elephant, and the other captives were
chamed and carried off, some on elephants, some on horses

A despatch was sent to His Majesty, but news of the
exploit reached him first through the news-reporters and
was a cause of great rejoicing  When the intelligence came
that Mukarrab Khan was approaching with his prisoners,
His Majesty ordered  a large party to go out two kos
from Akluj!, where he was staying, to give the victors
ceremonious reception It 1s said that durmng the four or
five days when Mukarrab Khan was known to be coming
with his prisoners, the rejoicings were so great among all
classes, from chaste matrons to miserable men, that they
could not sleep at might, and they went out two kos to meet
the prisoners, and give expression to thewr satisfaction In
every town and wvillage on the road or near 1t, wherever
the news reached, there was great delight, and wherever
they passed, the doors and roofs were full of men and
women, who looked on rejoicing

After their airival, Aurangzeb held a Darbar, and the
piisoners were brought in  On seeing them, he descended

*On the south of the mver Nirm about half-way between
Byapur and Puna It 18 the “Aldus” of Elphmnstone’s map
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from his throne wmd made two rul’als as 1 mark of e
eratitude to the Ahmghty It 1c <mid that Kabkalas
observed this  He was well versed in Hind1 poetrv, and
Uthough s head and neek and every hmb was firmlhy
secured so that ne cquld use onlv his eves and tongue, when
he saw Aurangzeb make these signs of devotion, he loohed
at Sambha, and repeated some Hindi hmes to this effect,
“0 Raja, at the sight of thee Kimg "Alamgn (Aurangzeb),
for all Tus pomp md digmin cannot heep his seat upon
Ins throne, but has peiforee descended fiom 1t to do thee
honour”

After they had been «ent to their places of confinement
<ome of the councillors of the State adviced that their hves
should be spared, and that they should be kept in perpetual
confinement, on concition of surrendering the keys of the
fortresses held by the adherents of Sambha But the
doomed wretches hnew that, after all, their heads would
fall upon the se diold or that, if by abject subrussion and
baseness, they eseaped death, they would be kept m confine-
ment deprived of all the pleasures of hfe, and everv dav
of Iife would be 2 new death So hoth Sambha and
Kabkalas indulged m abusive language and uttered the
most offensine 1emarks m the hearing of the Emperor’s
servants  But 1t was the will of God that the stock of this
turbulent family should not be rooted out of the Dakhin,
and that King Aurangzeb should spend the rest of his hfe
1n the work of repressing them and taking their fortresses
The Emperor was mn favour of seizing the opportunmty of
getting rid of these prime movers of the strife and hoped
that with a little exertion their fortresses would be reduced
He therefore rejected the advice, and would not consent
to spare them on condition of recerving the keys of the
fortresses He gate orders that the tongues of both should
be cut out, so that they might no longer speak disrespect-
fully After that, their eyes were to be torn out Then
with ten or eleven other persons, they were to be put to
rleath with a variety of tortures, and lastly he ordered that
the skins of the heads of Sambha and Kabkalas should be
<tuffed with stiaw and exposed mn all the cities and towns
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of the Dakhm, with beat of drum and sound of trumpet
Such 1s the 1etribution for rebellious, violent, oppressive
cvil-doers

Sahuy, the son of Sambha, a boy of seven years of age,
was spared, and orders wele given for his being kept within
the limits of the palace Suitable teachers were appointed
to educate him, and a mansab of 700 was granted to him
Some women, ncluding the mother and daughters of
Sambha, were <ent to the fortress of Daulatabad

When the author was staymng along with ’Abdu-
Razzak Lar near the foit of Rahni, which Sivaj: built, he
heard from the people of the nelgflbourhood that Sivaji,
although an infidel and a rebel, was a wise man  The
count1y 1ound may he called a specimen of hell, for 1t 1s
hilly and <tony, and 1n the hot season water 1s very scarce,
which 1s a great trouble to the inhabitants Sivajl had a
well dug near Ins abode A pavement was laid down round
the mouth, and a stone seat, was erected Upon this bench
Sivayl would take his seat, and when the women of the
traders and poor people came to draw water, he would give
their children fimit and talk to the women as to his mother
and sisters When the raj descended to Sambha, he also
used to st upon this bench, and when the wives and
daughters of the raiyats came to draw water, the vile dog
would lay one hand upon their pitcher, and another upon
then waist, and drag them to the seat Theie he would
handle them 10ughly and mndecently, and detain them for a
while The poor woman, unable to help herself, would dash
the pitcher from her head, but she could not escape without
gross msult At length the raiyats of the country settled
by his father abandoned 1t, and fled to the territory of the
E‘lrlgglz, which was not far off He received the reward of

18 deeds

TuirTy-FirTH YEAR or THE REeN, 1102 AH (AD 1691)

(Text, vol 11,p 391) Aurangzeb was desirous of rewarding
Mukarrab Khan for his splendid and unparalleled success

He granted to him an mcrease of 1,000 horse, gave him
the title of Khan-Zaman Fath-Jang, a piesent of 50,000
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rupees, and of a horse, elephant, etc, etc  His son Ikhlas
Khan, who held a man<ab of 4,000 personal and 4,000 hoise
had 1t mereased a thousand, and received the title of Xhan-1
‘Alam  His four or fite sons and nephews al<o recen ed
titles and marks of favour

About this time 1t was reported that Rajgarh, one of
the forts of Sivapn and Sambha, had been taken  Abu-l
Khair Khan was appomted 1ts commandant Before the
news of the capture of Sambha reached that neighbourhood
the enem) imvested the place, and summoned \Abu-1 Khair
to surrender Although the force under Firoz Jang was
near at hand, Abu-1 Khair was frightened and was so craven
as to surrender on a promise of safely to s hife, lus family,
and his property IHe left the place at might with some
of his women 1n dulis and the rest on foot and he had with
him several baskets and boves of clothing, money, jewels
cetc  The Malrattas had gathered round, waiting for him
and although they had promised secunitv to Iife and
property, they stripped him of all he had, and left Inm m
nuscrable plight Tn the middie of the mght he reached
the armv of Firoz Jang, full of complaints and remorse
He was deprived of his mansab and jagir and was sent on
the pilgrimage

Turbulence of the Jats@

(Text, vol 11, p 394) It was now reported from Agra that
when Aghar Khan came there under orders from Kabul, a
party of Jats attacked the caravan near Agra  They seized
the cattle and plundered the carts which were i the rear
and carried off some women as prisoners Aghar Khan
pursued them to the neighbourhood of a fort where after
a sharp struggle he rescued the women  He then boldly
mvested the fort, but he was killed by a musket-ball His
son-in-law was also killed Khan Jahan Kokaltash had
formerly failed in evecuting a commission to restrain the
Jats, and for this and some displeasing actions he was
Eec{g}led, and Prince Bedar Bakht was appointed on the
u

An order was 1ssued that no Hindu should ride 1n a
palki or on an Arab horse without permission
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THIRTY-SIXTH YEAR or THE REley, 1103 AH (A D 1692)

(Text, vol 1, p 397) In the beginning or towards the
mddle of this year, Aurangzeb moved from Gugaon® and
Shikarpur to Bidr, and after a while from thence to Gulka,
one day’s march from Bijapur, where the camp was pitched
The evil days of Prince Muhammad Mu’azzam now drew
to a close, and 1t pleased the Emperor to show him kindness
He directed that the shaving of the head and other

ngours of prison discipline should be forbidden, and he held
out to the Prince hopes of release

The Hind1 names of many places end with the letter A,
which there was a tendency to pronounce like alif 1n such
names as Malwah, Bangalah, Baglanah, and Parnalah
Orders were given that such names should be written with
an alif, as Malwa, Bangala, Baglana, etc

Mukhlis Khan, darogha of the artillery, 1eported that
some of the Mahratta~chiefs had taken Ram Raja, brother
of the late Sambha, out of confinement, and had raised him
to the raj 1n succession to his father and brother They had
assembled large forces with the vain mtention of besieging
fortresses  He sent robes and presents to the officers in
command of his own forts, and, like his father and brother,
he appointed different leaders to plunder the country and
to get possession of forts

The Poituguese @

(Text, vol 11,p 400) It was mentioned 1n the history of the
reign of Shah Jahan that Christian traders had come to
India to the ports on the seashore The officers_of the King -
of Portugal occupied several neighbouring ports, and had
erected forts n strong positions and under the protection of
lills  They bwilt villages, and m all matters acted very
kindly towards the people, and did not vex them with
oppressive taxes They allotted g separate quarter for the
Musulmans who dwelt with them, and appointed a kaz
over them to settle all matters of taxes and marriage But
the call to prayer and public devotion were not permitted

3;:;1)'118 previous march was from Akluy) to Gurgaon (Text,
p
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n their settlements If a poor traveller had to pass through
their possessions, he would meet with no other tiouble, but
he would not be able to say his prayers at his ease On
the sea, they are not like the English, and do not attack
other ships, except those ships which have not received their
pass according to rule, or the ships of Arabia or Maskat,
with which two countries they have a long-standing enmity,
and they attack each other whenever opportumty offers
If a ship from a distant port 1s wrecked and falls into their
hands, they look upon 1t as their prize But thewr greatest
act of tyranny 1s this If a subject of these misbehevers
dies, leaving young children, and no grown-up son, the
children are considered wards of the State They take
them to their places of worship, their chuiches, which they
have built 1n many places, and the padris, that 1s to say the
priests, mstruct the children in the Christian religion, and
bring them up m their own faith, whether the child be a
Musulman Sawyid or a Hindu Brahman  They also make
them serve as slaves In the ’Adil-Shahi Kokan, close to
the sea, 1n the fine and famous fort of Goa, their governor
1esides, and there 1s a captain there who exercises full
powers on the part of Portugal They have also established
some other ports and flourishing villages Besides this, the
Portuguese occupy the country from fourteen or fifteen kos
south of Surat to the boundaries of the fort of Bombay,
which belongs to the English, and to the borders of the
teintories of the Habshis, which 1s called the Nizam Shala
Kokan In the rear of the hills of Baglana, and in strong
positions, difficult of access, near the fort of Gulshanabad,
thev have built seven or eight other forts, small and great

Two of these by name Daman and Basi, which they

obtained by fraud from Sultan Bahadur of Gujarat, thes
have made very strong, and the villages around are flourish-
mg Therr possessions measure 1 length about forty or
fifty hos, but they are not more than a Los or a hos and a
half in width Thev cultivate the skirts of the lills, and
arow the best products, such as sugarcane, pmeapples, and
1ice, and cocoa-nut trees, and betel-nut vines, in vast
numbers, from which they derive a verv large revenue
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They have made for use 1n their districts a silver com
called ashrafi, worth nine anas  They also use bits of
copper which they call buzurg, and four of these buzurgs
pass for a fulus The orders of the King (of India) are not
current there = When the people there marry, the girl 1s
given as the dowiy, and they leave the management of all
affairs in the house and out of 1t, to then wives They have
only one wife and concubinage 1s not permitted by their
religion

Ram Raja

(Text, vol 11, p 413) Messengers now brought to the
knowledge of the Emperor that the forces of Ram Raja had
marched 1n various directions to ravage the territories and
reduce the forts belonging to the Imperial throne  The
fort of Parnala was onc of the highest and most celebrated
of the forts belonging to Byapur, and had been captured
by the royal forces with a good deal of difficulty It was
now taken with little exertion by Ram Raja’s officers, and
1ts commandant was wounded and made prisoner It was
also reported that Ram Raja had gone to the assistance
of the chiefs of Jinj1, and was busy collecting men Thus
information greatly troubled His Majesty =~ He was about
to send Bahramand Khan to lay siege to Parnala, when
intelligence came that Prince Mt 1zzu-d din had sat down
before 1t So he resolved to proceed m person to Barampur:

THIRT: -SEVENTH YEAR OF THE REIGN, 1104 AH
(AD 1693)

The Mahrattas

(Text, vol 11, p 414) This year Aurangzeb stayed at
Bawrampuri!, the name of which was ordered to be changed
to Islampu1 Forces were sent agamst the fort of Parnala
and other forts in various places After the execution of
Sambha, many of the Mahratta chieftains 1ecerved 1nstruc-
tions from Ram Raja to ravage the country They hovered
round the Imperial armies, and were exceedingly daring

! Elphinstone calls 1t “ Birmapur: near Panderpur (Pundharpm)

on the Bma” The Survey Map has “Brumhapooree,” lower
down the mver than Pundharpur, and south-west of Sholapur
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Among them was Santa Ghorpura and Dahma Jadu, two
experienced warriors and leaders of from fifteen to twenty
thousand horse Other Mahratta chiefs submitted to their
leadership, and great losses were inflicted on the Imperial
forees

Santa more especially distinguished himself 1in ravaging
the cultivated districts and i attacking the royal leaders
Every one who encountered him was either killed or wounded
and made prisoner or if any one did escape, 1t was with his
mere life, with the loss of his army and baggage Nothing
could be done, for wherever the accuised dog went and
threatened an attack, there was no Imperial amir bold
enough to resist him, and every loss he mflicted on their
forces made the boldest warriors quake Ismail Khan was
accounted one of the bravest and most skilful warriors of
the Dakhin, but he was defeated in the first action, his
army was plundered, and he himself was wounded and made
prisoner After some months he obtaned his release, on
the payment of a large sum of money  So also Rustam
Khan, otherwise called Sharza Khan, the Rustom of the
time and as brave as a lion, was defeated by him m the
district of Sattara, and after iosmg his baggage and all that
he had with him, he was taken prisoner and had to pay a
large sum for his ransom ’All Mardan Khan, otherwise
called Husain1 Beg Haidarabadi,  was defeated and made
prisoner with several others  After a detention of some
days, they obtained their release on paymng a ransom of
tw) lacs of rupees

These evil tidings greatly froubled Aurangzeb
Further, news came that Santa had fought with Jan-nisar
Khan and Tahawwur Khan, on the borders of the Karnatik,
and had inflicted upon them a severe defeat and the loss
of thewr artillery and baggage  Jan-nisar Khan was
wounded, and escaped with difficulty Tahawwur Khan
was also wounded and lay among the dead, but was restored
to hfe  Many other renowned amirs met with simlar
defeats Aurangzeb was greatly distressed, but i public
‘he said that the creature could do nothing, for everything
was 1n the hands of God
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THirR1Y-F1cH1H YEAR OF THE Rricy, 1105 A H
(AD 1694)

Siege of Jinpe  Arrest of Prince Kam Balhsh

t Lext, vol 1, p 418) Prince Muhammad Kam Bakhsh
with Jamdatu-l Mulk Asad Khan and Zul-fikar IChan
Nusrat Jang, approached Jinp!, and encamping about a
cannon-shot off the fortress, began to prepare for the <iege
The fortress of Jinj1 occupies several adjacent hills, on cach
of which stands a fort bearing a distinct name  Two of
these llls are very high, and the forts were well furnmisher
with artillerv, provisions, and all necessary stores It was
mmpossible to mnvest all the forts, but the lines were allotted
{o different commanders, and every exertion was made for
digging mines and erecting batteries The garrison al<o
did ther best to put the place mn order, and make a stout
defence  Irom time to time they fired a gun or two The
zamindars far and near of the country round and the
Nihratte forces surrounded the 10yal army on all «ides,
and <howed great avdacity in cutling off supplies  Some-
times they burst unevpectedly into an entrenchment, doing
great damage to the works, and causing great confusion n
the besieging force

The siege had gone on for a long time, and many men
fell, but although the enemy’s reheving foree dav by day
mcreased, Zul-fikor Khan Nusrat Jang and the other
zenerals £o pressed the siege that it went hard vath the
garrison . The command of the army and the general
mean igement of e1vil and revenue affmrs m that part of the
comtry were n the hands of JTamdatu-1 Mulk and Nusrat
Teng  This gave great offence to Prince Muhammad Kam
Bibheh and Jamdatu-l Mulk and Nusrat Jang had to
wlimonieh hum, and <peal. to him <harply about snme
vouthful folles  The Prmee wac preatly offended  The
Prince viched that the <ege <hould be carred on in hi-
n~r1e, but the gencrals acted on their own anthonitv. D
by oy the diccen<ions increace ] The heaieged vere avare

'T phty rales enuth-test of Madrw
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of these d.fierences, and contrived to open communications
with the Prince, and to fan the flames of his discontent, so
that creat danger threatened the army

Intelhzence now ecame of the approach of Santa, and
the enenn + torces so elosed round the royval army and shut
up the roads that for some days there were no communi-
cations whatever between the army and His Majesty
Messages still eame to the Prince from the garrison, exaiting
his apprehensions and holding out allurements  He was
vened with Tandatu-1 VMulk’s opposition, and no communi-
cations 1rrived from the Emperor, so he was on the pomt
of going over to the cnemy  Jamdatu-1 Mulk and Nusrat
Tang were informed of thig, and thev surrounded his tents
and made the Prince prisoner

W hien these troubles and discords were at therr height
Santa came down uron the roval armv with twentyv-five
thousand horse and reduced 1t to such straits, that the
commanders deemed 1t evpedient to leave their baggage
and some of their matciiel to be plundered by Santa, and
to retire mto the hills for refuge ILxerv one was to carry
off what he could and the 1dea was that Santa would stop
to plunder what was left, and not follow the retreating
force  Accordinaly the two geneinls retircd fighting for
some hos, t1ll thev reached the shelter of the hills, when
thev beat off Santa A few days afterwards thev renewed
the siege, and the garrison was hard pressed According to
report, a sum of monev reached the enemy  and thes
evacuated the fortress and retired

When mntelhigence of the arrest of Prince Muhammad
Kam Bakhsh reached Aurangzeb, he apparenthy acquiesced
m 1t as a matter of necessitv' The news of the reduction
of the fortress came soon afterwards, and he applauded the
services performed by the two generals In reahty, he was
offended, and summoned the Prince with the two generals
to his presence The Prince was brought up under arrest
After warting upon Aurangzeb, he addressed a few words
of admomtion to Jamdatu-l Mulk, but afterwards the
marks of s displeasure became more appaient  Orders
were ginven to set the Prince at liberty
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Capture of a Royal Shyp by the English The English at
Bombay

(Text, vol 1, p 421) The royal ship called the Ganj-
sawar, than which there was no larger 1n the port of Surat,
used to sail every year for the House of God (at Mecca)

It was now bringing back to Surat fifty-two lacs of rupees
m silver and gold, the produce of the sale of Indian goods at
Mocha and Jedda The captain of this ship was Ibrahim
Khan There were eighty guns and four hundred muskets
on board, besides other implements of war It had come
within eight or nine days of Surat, when an English ship
came 1n sight, of much smaller size, and not having a third
or fourth part of the armament of the Gany-2 sawar When
1t came within gun-shot, a gun was fired at 1t from the royal
ship By 1ll luck the gun burst, and three or four men were
killed by its fragments About the same time, a shot from
the enemy struck and damaged the mainmast, on which the
safety of the vessel depends The Englishmen perceived
this, and being encouraged by 1t, bore down to attack, and
drawing their swords, jumped on board of their opponent
The Christians are not bold i the use of the sword, and
there were so many weapons on board the royal vessel
that, 1f the captain had made any resistance, they must have
been defeated But as soon as the English began to board,
Ibrahim Khan 1an down mto the hold There were some
Turk: girls whom he had bought 1n Mocha as concubines
for himself He put turbans on their heads and swords nto
their hands, and meited them to fight These fell mto the
hands of the enemy, who soon became perfect masters of
the ship They transferred the treasure and many prisoners
to therr own ship When they had laden their ship, they
brought the royal ship to shore near one of their settlements,
and busied themselves for a week searching for plunder,
stiipping the men, and dishonouring the women, both old
and young ‘They then left the ship, carrymng off the men

Several honourable women, when they found an opportunity,
threw themselves into the sea, to preserve thewr chastity,
and some others killed themselves with knives and daggers
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This loss was reported to Aurangzeb, and the news-
writers of the port of Surat sent some ripees which the
Enghsh had comed at Bombay, with a superscription
contaming the name of thewr impure King  Aurangzeb then
ordeied that the Englhsh factors who were residing at Surat
for commerce should be seized Orders were also given to
I'timad Khan, supeirmntendent of the port of Surat, and
Sid1 Yakut Khan, to make preparations for besieging the
fort of Bombay The ewvils ansing from the Enghsh occu-
pation of Bombay were of long standing  The Enghsh
were not at all alarmed at the threatenings They knew
that Sidi Yakut was offended at some shghts he had
recetved  But they were more active than usual n building
bastions and walls, and 1n blocking up the 10ads, so that
1 the end they made the place quite impregnable I'timad
Khan saw all these preparations, and came to the conclusion
that there was no remedy, and that a stiuggle with the
Enghsh would 1esult only m a heavy loss to the customs
tevenue He made no serious preparations for carrymg the
roval order into execution, and was not willing that one
rupee should be lost to the revenue To save appearances,
he kept the Enghish factors in confinement, but privately he
endeavoured to effect an arrangement After the confine-
ment of their factors, the Enghish, by way of reprisal, seized
upon every Imperial officer, wherever they found one, on
sea or on shore, and kept them all in confinement So
matters went on for & long time

Durmng these troubles I, the writer of this work, had
the misfortune of seeing the English of Bombay, when I
was acting as agent for ’Abdu-r Razzak Khan at the port
of Surat T had purchased goods to the value of nearly
two lacs of rupees, and had to convey them from Surat to
’Abdu-r Razzak, the faujdar of Rahii My route was
along the seashore through the possessions of the Portuguese
and English On arriving near Bombay, but while T was
vet 1 the Portuguese territory, in consequence of a letter
from ’Abdu-r Razzak, T waited ten or twelie days for the
escort of Sidi1 Yakut Khan ’Abdu-r Razzak had been on
friendly terms with an Enghshman in his old Haidarabad
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dayvs, and he had now written to hun about giving assistance
to the convoy The Englishman sent out the brother of
his dwaen, very kindly mviting me to visit him  The
Portuguese captam and my companions were averse to mn
gomng there with such valuable property I, however, put
my trust i God, and went to the Englishman I told the
dwwan’s brother, that if the conversation turned upon the
capture of the ship, I mght have to say unpleasant things,
for I would speak the truth  The Enghshman's vahil
advised me to say freely what I deemed 11ght, and to speak

nothing but the truth

When I entered the fortress, I obseived that from the
gate there was on each side of the road a hine of youths, of
twelve or fourteen years of age, well diessed, and having
excellent muskets on their shouldets  Every step I
advanced, young men with sprouting beards, handsome and
well clothed, with fine muskets mn their hands, were visible
on every side As I went onwards, I found Enghshmen
~tanding, with long beards, of sumlar age, and with the
~ame accoutrements and dress ~ After that I saw musketeer«
(bark-anda:z), 1oung men well dressed and airanged, drawn
up m ranks Further on, I saw Enghshmen with white
beards, clothed 1n brocaae, with muskets on ther shoulders,
Jrawn up 1n two ranks, and n perfect array Neat I saw
<ome Enghsh children, handsome, and wearing pearls on
the borders of then hets In the same way, on both sides,
1s far as the door of the house where he abode, I found
drawn up mn ranks on both sides nearly seven thousand
musheteers, dressed and accoutred as for a review

I then went straight up to the place where he was
~cited on a chan  He wished me Good-day, us usual form
of salutation, then he rose from his chair, embraced me,
ind signed for me to sit down on a chair in front of him
After a fen hind inquires, our discomiee turned upon
hfferent things, pleasant and unpleasant, itter and sweet,
but all he saxd was m a kind and fuendly spirit towards

\bdu-r Razzak  He mquired why lus factors had becn
placed in confinement  Knowing that God and the Prophet
of God would proteet me, I ansnered, “ Although you do
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not achnowledge that shameful action, worthy of the
reprobation of all sen<ible men, which was perpetrated by
vour wiched men, this question vou have put to me 15 as
if a wise man <hould ask where the sun 1s when all the world
1s filled with its ravs ™ He rephed, “ Those who have an
l-feehing agnst me cist upon mie the blame for the fault
of others How do vou know that this deed was the work
of mv men ? by what satisfactory proof will vou establish
this 2" T rephed, “ In that ship T had a number of wealthy
acquamntances and two or three poor ones, destitute of all
worldly wealth T heard from them that when the ship was
plundered and thev were taken priconers, some men, 1n
the dress and with the looks of Enghshmen, and on whose
hands and bodies there were marhks, wounds, and scars, sawd
in their own languace, ‘ We got these sears at the time of
the siege of Sidi Yakut bul to-dav the scars have been
removed from our hearts’ A person who was with them
Lknew Hindi and Persian, and he translated their words to
mv friends ™

On hearnne thhs, he laughed loudly, and said, “ It 1s
true they may have said so Thev are 1 party of English-
men, who, having 1ecenned wounds 1n the siege of Yakut
Khan, were taken prisoners by him Some of them parted
from me, jommed the Habshi, and became Musulmans
They staved with Yakut Khan some time and then ran
away from him  But thev had not the face to come back
to me  Now thev have gone and taken part with the
dingmars, or sakanas who lay violent hands on ships upon
the sea, and with them they are serving as pirates Your
sovereign’s officers do not understand how they are acting,
but cast the blame upon me”

I smilinglv rephed, “ What I have heard about your
readiness of replv and your wisdom, I have (now) seen
All praise to your ability for giving off-hand and, without
consideration, such an evculpatory and sensible answer !
But you must recall to mind that the hereditary Kings of
Bijapur and Haidarabad and the good-for-nothing Sambha
have not escaped the hands of King Aurangzeb Is the
1sland of Bombay a sure refuge?” I added, “ What a
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manifest declaration of rebellion you have shown in comning
rupees | ”

He rephed, “ We have to send every year a large sum
of money, the profits of our commerce, to our country, and
the coms of the King of Hindustan are taken at a loss
Besides, the comns of Hindustan are of short weight, and
much debased, and mn this island, m the course of buymg
and selling them, great disputes arise* Consequently we
have placed our own names on the comns, and have made
them current 1 our own jurisdiction” A good deal more
conversation passed between us, and parv of 1t seemed to
vex him, but he showed himself throughout very thought-
ful of ’Abdu-r Razzak Khan, and mindful of his obligation
to protect him  When the mnterview was over, he proffered
me entertamnment in their fashion, but as I had resolved
from the first that I would not depart from the usual course
m the present mterview, I accepted only air and pan, and
was glad to escape

The total revenue of Bombay, which 1s chiefly derived
from betel-nuts and cocoa-nuts, does not reach to two or
three lacs of rupees The profits of the commerce of these
misbelievers, according to report, does not exceed twenty
lacs of rupees The balance of the money required for the
mamtenance of the English settlement 1s obtamned by
plundening the ships voyaging to the House of (3od, of
which they take one or two every year When the ships
are proceeding to the ports of Mocha and Jedda laden with
the goods of Hindustan, they do not interfere with them,
but when they return bringing gold and silver and Ibrahimt
and ral,! their spies have found cut which ship bears the
richest burden, and they attack it

The Mahrattas also possess the newly-bwlt forts of
Khander:, Kalaba, Kasa, and Katora,® in the sea opposite
the 1sland fortress belonging to the Habsiis Thewr war-
ships cruise about these forts and attack vessels whenever

** Rix-dollars ”—Shakespeare’s Dictionary

*The 1slands of Khandernt or Kenery, Kolaba and Kansa near
Jinjera  Katora has not been identified
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fort, and of the lines they threw up to protect themselves
from the assault of the enemy Their camels and cattle
fell into the hands of the Mahrattas While fighting went
on, the gates of the fort were kept closed, and the traders
and inhabitants within let down food from the walls and
sold 1t, On the fourth or fifth day the enemy got intelli-
gence that Himmat Khan was coming with a force to the
1escue  Santa left half his force to keep Kasim Khan’s
army 1vested, and with the other marched against
Himmat Khan On learning that another force belonging
to Ram Raja would act agamst Himmat Khan, he returned
to his former position

Meanwhile matters went 11l with the royal forces, and
Kasim Khan with a few other officers, resolved upon taking
refuge 1n the fort secretly, without the knowledge of their
brethren 1n arms Kasim Khan went out at night
with the ostensible purpose of making the rounds Several
reasons made 1t mevpedient to enter the gate, near which
so many men and officers were gathered, $0 he ascended
the walls by a rope-ladder Ruhu-llah Khan, Saf-shikan
Khan and a crowd of soldiers in great tumult made their
way 1 by the gate Muhammad Murad Khan and others
hearing of this followed the example In fine, for a
month they were besieged within the four walls, and every
day affairs grew worse with them They were compelled
to kill and eat their baggage and riding horses, which were
themselves nearly starved For all the greatest care and
economy, the stores of gramn n the fort were exhausted
To escape from staivation many men threw themselves
from the walls and trusted to the enemy’s mercy People
brought fruit and sweetmeats from the enemy’s bazar to the
foot of the walls and sold them at extravagant prices
Reverses, disease, deficiency of water, and want of gram,
reduced the garrison to the verge of death Kasim Khan,
according to report, poisoned himself, or else died from
want of the usual potion of oprum, for he was overcome
with disappointment and 1age

Ruhu-llah Khan and the other officers were compelled
to make overtures for a capitulation Some officers
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went out to settle the terms of the ransom Santa said,
“Besides the elephante and horses and monev and
property, which vou have with you, I will not take less
than a lac of huns, equnalent to three lacs and 00,000
rupees % Daklim officer said “ What are you thinking
of ! this 15 a mere tnfle  Thie 1= a rancom winch 1 would
fix for Ruhu-llah Khan ilone”™ Fmally seven lacs of
rupees was settled a< the ransom the pavment of which
was to be distributed among the officers  Each ones share
was settled ~nd he made an engagement to payv 1t as
rancom and to leave a relation or officer of rank with Sante
as bail for pavment  Santy’s officers <at down at the gate
ot the fort and allowed each officer to tahe out his horse
and his personal clothing, the others weie allowed to carm
out as much as thev could bear m their arms  Evervthing
clse money and jewels, horses and elephants, ete, werc
confiscated by Santa The government and pers<onal
property lost during tlis war and siege cvceeded fifty or
aixty lacs of rupees

Santa was dehghted with the terms he had made with
the defeated army Soon afterwards he heard that
Hiumat Khan was approaching by forced marches to the
relief of the besteged arriv Santz dinvided his forees into
two diisions, and marched to meet him At the distance
of sinteen Los the foree under command of Santa fell m with
Himmat Khan, and a great battle followed Himmat
Khan fought with great spint and bravery  Numberless
Mahrattas were slam, and many of lus own army perished
Santa’s forces retreated, and the royal foices were led
agamst the second army Himmat Khan made arrange-
ments for the purswit By orders of Santa many
musketeers had taken positions in the thick jungle ana
among the trees to mmpede the advance of Himmat Khan
Some of the best marksmen had chmbed the trees, and
concealed themselves among the thich branches W hen
Himmat Khan approached, a ball entered his forehead and
killed him immediately All the baggage and elephants
and munitions of war belonging to Himmat Khan then fell
bodily into the hands of Santa
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THIRTY-NINTH YEAR OF THE REieN, 1106 A H
(AD 1694-95)

The Royal Princes

(Text, vol 1n, p 434) Prince Muhammad A’zam Shah
had gone to Kharpa (Kaddapa), to pumsh the rebels and to
settle affairs The msalubrity of the chmate affected s
health, and dropsy supervened He returned to Court, and
experienced physicians were appomted to attend him
His 1llness became so serious that his couch was placed
near the chamber of the Emperor, who showed his paternal
soheitude by administermg his medicine, by partaking of
food with him, and domng everything he could to restore
him to health God at length gave lnm a perfect cure

Directions were now given for the release of Prince
Shah ’Alam who had been kept under restramnt for seven
years His release unth the provision made for hwm
was very annoymg to Prince Muhammad A’zam and his
partisans

While Prince Shah ’Alam was mn confinement, the
Emperor had shown great favour to Prince Muhammad
A’zam Shah, who considered himself to be the her apparent
But now that the elder Prince was restored to full hberty,
and to a greater share of attention than before, Prmce

Muhammad A'zam was much aggrieved One day
the King took the hand of Prince Shah ’Alam, and placeu
him on lus night hand Then he took the hand of

Prince Muhammad A’zam, and made signs for hun to sit
down on his left This greatly annoyed Prince Muhammad
A’zam, and an open quarrel was imminent After a
time Prince Muhammad Mu’azzam, who had been entitled
Shah ’Alam, was honoured with the title Bahadur Shah,
and was sent to settle the affairs of Agia, and to punish
the rebels i that quarter Soon afterwaids Prince
Muhammad A’zam was ordered with his sons to Kabul,
and Prince Mu'1zzu-d din to Multan

Death of Santa Ghorpura

(P 445) The death of Santa at tlus time was a great
piece of good fortune for Aurangzeb The evact partic-
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approached him suddenly, and killed him unawares He
then cut off his head, and, placing 1t in a bag, fastened 1t
behind him on his horse, and carried 1t off to Dahina Jadu
On the road the bag fell off, and was picked up by some
runners and horsemen belonging to the army of Firoz Jang,
who were 1 pursuit of Santa The head was recognised,
and was carried to Lutfullah Khan, commander of Firoz
Jang’s advanced guard It was finally sent to
Aurangzeb, who gave the bearer of 1t the title of Khush-
khabar Khan The drums of joy were beaten, and the
head was ordered to be exposed with ignominy before the
army and i several places of the Dakhin

’Abdu-r Razzak Lam

(P 448) ’Abdu-r Razzak Lari, from the day of entering
the royal service, had sought for an excuse for gomng to his
native country He was now deprived of the faujdan
of Rahir1, and summoned to Court He did not go, but
wrote desiring to be relieved from his mansab, and to be
allowed to go to Mecca The leave was given, but
every means was taken to satisfy him, and to avert him
from his design But he would not consent, so he recerved
wrnitten leave to depart with his family and property and
with marks of favour His three sons did not accompany
bim, but remaimned at Court i

Forriere YEAR oF THE REIGN, 1107 AH
(AD 1695-96)

Ram Raja  Prince Akbar  Flood

(Text, vol 1, p 450) Ram Raja, brother of Sambha,
having left the fort of Jat, in the district of Rajgarh, went
to Jm) and other strong places He then proceeded to the
fort of Sattara, where he remained seven months When
he was mnformed of the murder of Santa, he sent for Dahina
Jadu, to consult with him about getting together an army
and recommencing the war

Prince Muhammad Akbar, after the accession of Sultan
Husamn to the throne of Persia, repeatedly asked for the
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help of w army to reinstate i Tendustan The now
Shih ke e predecescor  (veused Tameelf I he
Prince then complimed that the chmate of T«fahan did not
agree with im ind a<had permission to reaide for nov il
m Gamar The request was granted, and a-agnments
were made of the ravannee of that provinee for s <upport
So the Prince procceded thither waith an appomted e-cort
of 10000 I azidbashee

In the month o1 Mubarrim of tins vear the rner
Bhanra* near wineh the rov il cump was mtched, rose to
o great height and overfloned, ennang enormous destrue-
tion  The wmre had balt many houses  there  The
waters begin to overflon at mudmeht when all the vorld
wis aqsleep The floods cartied off about ten or
tuehve thousand men with the e~tablichments of the King
and the princes and the anurs horse« bullocke and eattle
m countles< numbers tants ind furmiture bevond all count
Numberless houses were destroved and come were so
completely carried away that not a trace of them wos Jeft
Greatl 1ear fell on all the The Kimng vrote
out pravers with his own hand and ordered them to be
thrown mto the water, for the purpose of causing 1t to
subside

Formy-FirsT Yrar o1 TiE Rriey, 1108 A H
(A D 10696-97)

{Attempt to Mwrder Stdv Yakut Khan of Jazira)

ForTi-SECOND YFiR OF THE REIGY, 1109 A H
(AD 1697-98)

The Mahrattas

(Text, vol n, p 457) Niba Smdhia and other office™s
of Ram Raja, with an army of eight thousand horse, came
to the district of Nandurbar, and attacked and burnt

*The Bhima  The name 1s wntten here “Bhanra,” but the
}nﬁlﬁ.\ m”aLes it “Bhanbara” In the Badshah-nama 1t was
unra

’
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several villages When he heard that Husam ‘Al Khan
was approaching from Thalir,* he suspended his operations
agamnst Nandurbar, and went to meet him Husain Khan
had only seven or eight hundred horse and two or three
thousand provincial musketeers and archers, but he went
forth to meet the enemy They encountered each other
at two kos from the town of Thalir, and a fierce action
ensued The -number of Sindha’s forces enabled him
to surround Husain ’All Khan, about three hundred of
whose men were killed The day went aganst Husain
'All, and he had received two or three wounds Dripping
with blood, he threw himself from his elephant, but he
had no strength left for fighting, so he was surrounded
and made pnsoner All his baggage, his men, and
elephants were captured

In addition to the cash and property which they had
got by plunder, the enemy fixed two lacs of rupees as the
price of the ransom of the prisoners After much exertion,
nearly one lac and 80,000 rupees was raised from the jagirs,
and from the property which had been left in the town of
Thalir  To make up the balance, the sarrafs and merchants
of Nandurbar were importuned to raise a sum, small or
great, by way of loan But they would not consent The
mhabitants of the town of Nandurbar had not paid the
chauth to the Mahrattas, and bemng supported by the
fouwydar, they had closed their gates, which greatly annoyed
the enemy (Mahrattas) Husam ‘Al Khan also was
greatly mcensed by their refusal to assist him, so he took
counsel with the enemy, and agreed after a siege of & day
or two, and some exhbition of force, he would open the
gates to them He made 1t a condition that the rawyats
should not be plundered, but that the great and wealthy
men, the sarrafs, the merchants, and the mukaddams, might
be put to the rack and tortured until the balance of the
ransom due to the Mahrattas was discharged The result
was that a sum of one lac and forty thousand rupees was
paid to the Mahrattas instead of eighty thousand, and that

*“Talner,” east of Nandurbar

148



MUNTARHABU-L LUBAB

Husain 'Ah Khan himself realised nearly thirty thousand
rupees When (the result of the action) was reported to
Aurangzeb, he was very angry and said that there was no
use m fighting when too weak to win

ForTy-THIRD YEAR OF THE REIGN, 1110 A H
(AD 1698-99)

Campaign aganst the Mahrattas Swege of Sattara

(Text, vol 1, p 459) The darnng mroads of the
Mahrattas brought Aurangzeb to the resolution of waging
8 holy war agamnst them, and of reducing the fortresses
which were their homes and defences His camp had now
rémained at Islampun four years, and fine mansions and
nouses had been bwlt there, so that a new city had sprung
up, and men thought they would never move far away
Orders were given for throwing up earthwoiks round the
place, and the officers and men worked so well that
fifteen or twenty days a defence was raised which might
have occupied six or seven months The Nawab Kudsiya
Zmatu-n Nissa, sister of Prince Muhammad A’zam Shah,
and mother of Muhammad Kam Bakhsh, with other ladies
of the roval household, were left there under the charge
of Jamdatu-l Mulk Asad Khan Orders were giien that
all amirs and officers should leave their wives and families
and property behind The people belonging to the royal
establishments were also to remamn Strict orders were
also grven that no ahadr shourd take his wife or children
with him  Great stress was laid upon this order, but in the
marches and campaigns of Hindustan such orders could
not be enforced without resorting to such punishments as
the Princes of the house of Timur held to be inconsistent
with their sense of justice So the order was not obeyed
as 1t ought to have been On the 5th Jumada-l awwal the
armyv marched towards the fort of Basant-garh® and
twenty days 1t arrived at Murtaza-abad, or Mirich  There
Prince Muhammad A’zam Shah came, in obedience to
summons, from Birganw

*Between the Xistna and Xoeena, about thirty miles south of
Sattara
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Ram Raja, brother of the deceased Sambha, had,
under the pressure of the royal armies, abandoned Ins
fortresses and fled, taking refuge i the hills and places of
difficult access When he heard of the royal design upon
the fortresses, he went off towards Birar, ravaging the
towns and imnhabited places The zamindar of Deogarh,
m consequence of disturbances in his country and the
superior force of those who disputed the imheritance, had
fled to the Court of Aurangzeb, and had received the title
of Buland-bakht upon his becoming a Musulman Upon
hearing of the death of s competitor, he hastened back
to Deogarh without leave, and opposed the officers who
were appointed to collect the tribute He now jomned Ram
Raja m plundering the country His Majesty ordered that
his name should be changed to Nigun-bakht, and that
Prince Bedar Bakht should march agamst him with a
surtable foree Ruhu-llah Xhan Bakhshe, with Hamidu-d
din Khan, were sent to plunder the environs of the forts
of Parnala and Sattara When the royal army came near
to Basant-garh, Tarbiyat Khan, the commander of
artillery, was ordered to take steps for mvesting the place
and throwing up hnes The word was given fo1 an
assault, but the besieged were frightened and surrendced
Aurangzeb gave to the place the name Kilid-1 futuh, Key
of Victory

At the end of Jumada-s sani the royal army airived
opposite Sattara, and the camp was pitched at the distance
of a hos and a half Prince Muhammad A’zam Shah en-
camped on another side, and the amirs and officers weie
posted according to the judgment of Tarbiyat Khan
They all vied with each other in throwing up hnes,
digging mines, and n carrying on other siege operations

On both sides a heavy fire was kept up, and
the garrison rolled down great stones, which came bound-
g down and crushed many men and animals The ram
obstructed the arrival of corn, the enemy were very daring
m attacking the convoys, and the country for twenty hos
1ound the fortress had been burnt so that grain and hay
became very scarce and dear A battery twenty-four
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vards (dara) gh was thrown up m face of the Inll,
on the Prince « side nlco the balteries were earnad to the
foot of the mil  \ bundred and <ty thousand rupees
were pud 1or the «erviees of the troops and maunahs of
that country who arc very (fhctent m «acges Matters
went hard wath the parncon, and the chanee of finng a
gun or 4 muchet wae no Jonger e thor power, ol they
could do w1~ to roll down <tones from the walls

Stone-masone were emplovad by the beaegors to cut
two vaulte 1 the <ide of the rackh four vards long and ten
vards broad wluch were to be used s <titions for centinels
But when they were found not to answer for thie purpose,
they were filled wath powder On the morning of
the 5th Z1-1 hkada, m the tourth month of the <ge, one
of these woe fired  The rockh and the vall above 1t were
Llown mto the air and {ell in<ade the fortrces Many o1
the garricon were blown up ind burnt The hesicgers, on
beholding tne puched boldhy 1orwards At that time the
second nune was fired A portion of the rock above was
blown up but mestead of fillhing mto the fortrese, 1< was
expected, 1t came down upon the heids of the hesiegers hhe
a mountun of destruction and <cveral thousands! were
buried under 1t The garricon than <ot about 1epur-
mg the walls, and thev 1gun opened fire and rolled down
the hfe-destroning ~tones

When Aurangzeb was mformed of the disaster, and
of the despondency of hic men he mounted hic horse, and
went to the scene of action 1= 1f m search of death  He
gate orders that the bodies of the dead <hould be piled
upon each other, and made to serve as shields agamst the
arrows of calamity, then with the ladder of resolution, and
the scaling-ropes of boldness, the men should rush to the
assault When he pereenved that lis words made no
mmpression on the men, he was desirous to lead the way
himself, accompanied by Muhammad A’zam Shah But
the nobles objected to this rash proposition  Afterwards
he addressed Ius soldiers in encouraging words  [and gave
fresh orders for the conduct of the siege]

% Nearly two thousand "—Afa-asir-1 *Alamgin
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An extraordinary incident now occurred A great
number of Hindu infantry soldiets had been killed all at
once (in the explosion), and thewr friends were unable to
seek and bring out their bodies The violence of the shock
had entirely disfigured them, and 1t was not possible to
distinguish between Musulman and Hindu, friend and
stranger ~ The flames of ammosity burst forth among
all the gunners agaimnst the commander of the artillery So
at might they secretly set fite to the defences (marhala)?
which had been raised at great tiouble and expense against
the fire from above, in the hope and with the design that
the fire might 1each the coipses of the slaughtered Hindus
A great conflagration followed, and for the space of a week
served as a bright lamp both for besiegers and besieged
A number of Hindus and Musulmans who were alive in the
huts were unable to escape, and were burnt, the hving with
the dead

Death of Ram Raja

(Text, vol 11, p 468) The news-writers now reported
that Ram Raja, after meeting with some reverses m his
rald upon Birar, was returning to the hills of his own
territory On his way he died, leaving three sons of
tender years, and two wives Soon afferwards 1t was
announced that the eldest son, 2 boy of five years of age,
had died of small-pox The chiefs then made Tara Bay,
the chief wife, and mother of one son, 1egent She was a
clever, intelligent woman, and had obtamned a reputation
during her husband’s hifetime for her knowledge of civil
and military matters Tara Bai proceeded to the hills of
difficult approach

On receiving this intelhigence, the Emperor ordered
the drums of rejoicing to be beaten, and the soldiers
congratulated each other saying that another prime
mover m the strife was removed, and that 1t would
not be difficult to overcome two young children and
a helpless woman They thought their enemy weak, con-

*“Which were constructed entirely of wood '—AMa-asir-
"Alamgin, p 419
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temptible and helpless, but Tara Bai, as the wife of
Ram Raja was called, showed great powers of command
and government, and from day to day the war spread and
the power of the Mahrattas increased

Surrender of Sattara and Capture of Parli

(Text, vol 11, p 470) At the death of Ram Rejr, a chief
named Parsa Ram wes 1n the fort of Parli® acting n that
country as diwan in revenue matters for Ram Raja On
hearmng of his decease, without consulting with the comman-
dant of the fort, he came and made lus submussion to
Aurangzeb The commandant also, bemng dismayed, sent
a proposal of surrender upon terms At the same time
Sobhan, the commander of Sattara, was troubled by blowing
up of the wall on one side of the fortress and the burming
of a great number of lis men The death of Ram Raja
added to Ius perplexity He was at feud waith the comman-
dant of fort Perli, and he sent a message to Aurangzeb,
through Prince Muhammad A’zam, oflering to capitulate
on honourable terms, 1f the proposal of the commandant
of Parli were rejected He was willing to gine up the keys
of Sattara, at once, and would undertake to place Parh n
Aurangzeb’s hands unconditionally 1n a short time, without
any promise of security On the 16th Zi-1 ka’da he
surrendered the keys, and more than three thousand
persons, male and female, came out of the fort upon
promise of safety Great rejoicings follewed Sobhan was
brought, bound hand and neck, to the foot of the throne,
but orders were given for the forgiieness of his offences,
and for loosenmng his bonds He was appointed to a
mansab of five thousand and two thousand horse, and a
horse, an elephant, etc, were presented to him

After the swrrender of Sattara, Aurangzeb marched
agammst Parll, the commandant of that fort having been
diverted by his adwvisers from his intention of surrender-
mg Parh 1s a more lofty fort than Sattara, and it had
been put mnto a state of preparation On the 10th

*Six miles south-west of Sattara
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Z1-1 hyja many men were killed in an attempted assault, but
m a short time the garrison was pressed very hard The
besiegers were greatly incommoded by the heavy ram,
which m this part of the country falls for five months
without an hour’s imnterval by might or day, and by lack
of supphes, the convoys bemg cut off by the enemy who
swarmed around The garrison showed great daring
m coming suddenly down the hill and attacking the
besiegers, but the repeated attacks and the danng of
Fathu-llah Khan at length prevailed, and a proposition of
capitulation was made At the beginning of Muharram,
after a siege of a month and a half, the fortress was taken,
and the men of the garrison marched out with then
famihes and thewr old clothes The name of Sattara
was changed to A’zamtara, and of Paili to Nauras-tara
Aurangzeb then determined to return, but there was
Iittle means of carriage, for the ramns and the bad chimate
had affected the ammals, so that those that weie
alive were nothing but skin and bone Some of the
baggage and materel was carried away, some was left n
the forts, and some was burnt On reaching the niver
Kistna, there was great difficulty m crossing 1t Some
men attempted to swim over, but nine out of ten were
drowned and thousands remained belind and died
In the middle of Safar the army reached an obscuire fort,
which offered sufficient protection for a few days, and an
order was 1ssued for a month’s rest there The rans, which
had continued so far, now ceased, and the men of the army
found a httle comfort
Some proceedings of Prnce Muhammad A’zam were
displeasing to His Majesty, and his division of the armv
was 1 a bad state, so that although he had shown great
diligence and enterprise i the reduction of the fort of
Parnala and other forts, he was sent, m order to appcase
the troops, to be Governor of the province of Ujam In
the same way, several officers of the army were sent to their
jagirs at ten or twehve days’ distance, to Byjapur, and to
other places in the viermty Prince Bedar Bahht was
directed to lay siege to the fort of Parnala, and Zu-l fikar
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Khan and Tarbiy at Khan recerved orders to follow him with
the artillery

As many men had been lost in the reduction of the
fortresses, strict orders were sent to the subadars of
Burhanpur, Biyapur, Haidarabad, Ahmadabad, and other
provinces far and near, to raise (each) a thousand men,
well horsed, to advance them six months’ pay out of the
state revenues, and to send them to the royal camp
Aurangzeb, with the intention of giving his men rest, went
to Khawaspur,® a place well supplied with grass and hay,
and fruit-trees and water At the end of Rabi'u-l awwal
the royal camp was pitched at that place and the
abundance of provisions soon restored the spirits of the
army But here also the army was to suffer hardship
The camp was pitched by the side of a nala contaning only
a little water, and, as the ramny season was over, there was
no expectation of a heavy fall of rain  But rain which fell
out of season in the lills and distant places sent down a
food of water, which inundated the camp, causing
confusion and distress which defy description

The fort of Parnala had been (formeily) taken by
Prince Muhammad A’zam, and had remamed for some time
m the royal possession But mn the thirty-fifth year of the
reign the enemy regained possession of 1t On the
10th Shawwal the (royal) army reached Pun-garh, a
fort connected with Parnala

Form-rovrT Yrar oF THE RGN, 1111 AH
(AD 1699-1700)

[Siege of Parnalal

Forty-FirrE YEAR oF THE REwGy, 1112 A H
(AD 1700-1)

Sieges of Forts

(Text, vol 11, p 489) The siege (of Parnala) had endured
for two months and repeated attempts had been made to
carry the place by escalade At length, when the

1% 0n the banks of the Man nver "—Grant Duff, vol 1, p 395
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garrison was hard pressed, the commandant surrendered the
fort, having secretly received a sum of money from Prince
Muhammad Kam Bakhsh and Tarbiyat Khan, with whom
he had been mn correspondence At the end of Zi-1 hyjja
the keys were given up and both the forts were evacuated

The army was about to maich, when a violent storm
came on (and did great damage) In the beginning of
Muharram, 1113, 1t was determined to march towards
Kahawan, wheie there was plenty of grass and gram
Fathu-llah Khan was sent with a force to chastise the
plundering Mahrattas, and to subdue their forts
He killed many of the enemy near the four foits in that
neighbourhood, and, on hearing of his approach, the
enemy abandoned the fort of Paras-garh® Bahramand
Khan was sent along with Fathu-llah Xhan agamst the
fort of Chandan-mandan,? and by the middle of
Jumada-] awwal all the four forts were subdued

On the 16th Jumada-]l akhn the royal army moved
fiom Panch-ganw, to effect the conquest of the fort of
Khelna  The difficulties of the road were great
Amba-ghat,?® at a distance of two days’ march, took twelve
days to reach Prince Bedar Bakht was ordered to
fall back on Bam Shah Darak (as Parnala was now called)
to punmish the enemv, who were closing the roads in that
dircction, and to prevent any supplies bemng thrown
into Khelna from that quaiter Muhammad Amin Khan
was likewise ordered to the Amba-ghat to cut off anj
supplies mtended for the fort, and to succour the convoys
of Bangaras bearmmg gran for the royal army THe showed
no lack of zeal in these dutics, and was so active 1
ravaging and buining the mhabited places, i kilhng and
making prisoners the people, and n seizing and carrymng
off the cattle, that any sign of cultivation, or the name o1
trace of a Mahratta, was not to be found

The siege works were pushed on until a mine was
cairied near to the gate In the raising of the earthworks*

* Also called Sadik-garh —Indez to the Text

' Chandan and Wandan are sicter forts a httle north of Sattara

*In the Ghats just below Lat 17
*damdama, it “ batterier ”
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camel saddles and baskets mnumerable were used, full of
carth and rubbish and htter, heads of men and feet of
quadrupeds, and these were advanced so far that the
garrison were mtimidated

Formi-siate YEAR oF THE REGN, 1113 AH
(AD 1701-2)

(Text, vol 11, p 499) Fathu-llah Khan Bahadur showed
extraordmary zeal and bravery i pushing forward the
siege works (of Khelna), and never rested from his labours

Paras Ram, the commandant of the fort, being much dis-
couraged, held communications with Prince Bedar Bakht
as to his personal safety, and the acceptance of his pro-
posal But his demands were not acceded to Ruhu-llah
Khan, etc, went several times imnto the fort to arrange
terms, but without result At length, according to common
rumour, the Prince and some of the amirs sent him secretly
a sum of money, and a promise of security for himself
and family, on condition of his surrendering So, after six
months’ siege, on the 19th Mubarram, 1113 (16th June,
1701), the flags of the Prince and of Ruhu-llah Khan were
hoisted over the fortress by Paras Ram, the commandant,
himself, who had stipulated that no man of the royal army
should go in with the flag He solicited a night’s grace,
and through shame he and his family went out during the
darkness of the might, with all the property they could
carry A large number of the garrison remamed in the
fort, but the Emperor mm his mercy ordered that no one of
them should be molested, so they came out and departed
to their native wilds The name of the fort was
altered to Sakhkharalana

The clemency and long suffering and care of the
Emperor were such that, when he ascertained that several
fortresses had been long and wvigorously besieged by the
forces appomted to the duty, and that the garmsons were
m difficulty, he paid sums of money to the commandants
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and so got the forts into Ins possession It often happened
also that he gave the same sum of money, nerther more nor
less, to the officer conducting the siege The heavy rams,
and the overflow of the riveis and streams, had induced
Aurangzeb to defer his maich until the end of the ramy
season But he was moved by the wrresolution and the
advice of some of his amirs, who pined for ease, and com-
plammed of the dearness of gram and the msalubrity of
the chmate, and by the grumbhng of the mexperienced and
hard-tried soldiets  So at the end of Muharram he marched
for Bir-ganw  (Great difficultres, dangers and losses from
rawns and floods ) In the course of one month and seventeen
days the fourteen kos between the forts of Kheina and
Parnala were traversed, and on the 12th Rabi-u-l awwal
the camp was pitched under the latter  (Further hardships
of the masch and great difficulty n crossing the Kistna)
Seventeen days were occupied 1n the transit of the river,

but Bahadur-garh was at length reached, and there the
army halted for a month At the end of Rajab though
only half a hife remained in the bodies of the men, the army
marched to effect the conquest of Kandana On the 16th
1t reached that fortress (and the siege was at once begun)

ForTY-sEVENTH YEAR OF THE REIGN, 1114 A H
(AD 1702-3)

The Mahrattas

(Text, vol 1, p 510) After the siege (of Kandana)* had
gone on for three months and & half, and many men had
been killed, and the directors of the siege were in difficulty,
the fo1t? was bought from the commandant for a sum of
money The army then marched and remained for a month
at Puna, and the neighbouring willages® In the
middle of Rajab the army marched agamst Rajgarh, the
earliest fortress and retreat of the restless infidels of this

*Now Singarh, eight miles south of Puna

*The name Bakhshinda-balhsh was given to 1t

*Prince Muhiu-]l Mulk, son of Prnce Kam Bakhsh, died here,
ac the name of Puna was changed to Muhabad
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countrv At the beginning of Sha'ban the army sat
down before the fort The circuit of the fort was go great,
twelve hos m measurement, that a complete myestment
«ufficient to pievent the throwing i of supphes was
unpossible On the 15th Shawwal the roval flag was
planted on the fitst gate of the fortress, and many of the
garnson were slain or put to flight But Hamnap, the
commander, kept up an neffectual resistance for twelve
days longer, when he asked for terms They weie conceded
on condition that the commander hmmself should come to
the first gate cainv the roval flag into the fortress, and
evacuate the place on the next day Newt day the
carrison marched out with thewr families, and all the prop-
ertv thev could carm The fort recerned the name
of Banmi-Shahgarh

When Ram Raja died, leaving only widows and infants,
men thought that the power of the Mahrattas over the_
Dakhin was at an end But Tara Baj, the elder wife
made her son of three years old successor to his father
and took the remns of government into her own hands
She took vigorous measures for ravaging the Impenal
ternitory, and sent armies to plunder the sin subas of the
Dakhin as far as Siron), Mandisor, and the suba of Malwa
She won the hearts of her officers and for all the struggles
and schemes, the campaigns and sieges of Aurangzeb up to
the end of his reign, the power of the Mahrattas increased
day by day By hard fighting, by the evpenditure of the
vast treasures accumulated by Shah Jahan, and by the
sacnifice of many thousands of men, he had penetrated mto
theirr wretched country, had subdued their lofty forts, and
had driven them from house and home, W_T%g%lg_nf
the Mahrattas increased and they penetrated into the old
{erritories of the lmperial throne, plundering and destroying
wherever they went— Imitation of the Emperor who
with HiS 2fmy and enterprising amirs was staying m those
distant mountains, the commanders_of -Tara-Bai—cast_ihe
anchor of permanence wherever they penctrated, and haying

li=dars (reventue collectors), they passed
’Weu satisfaction, with thelr wives
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and children, tents and elephants Therr darmg went
beyond all bounds They divided all the distrcts
(parganas) among themselves, and following the practice
of the Imperial rule, they appointed therr subadars
{provincial governors), kamaish-dars (revenue collectors),
and rahdars {toll collectors)

Their principal subadar is commander of the army
Whenever he hears of a large caravan, he takes sin or seven
thousand horse and goes to plunder 1t He appomts
kamaish-dars everywhere to collect the chauth, and when-
ever, from the resistance of the zamindars and faujdars,
the kamawsh-dar 1s unable to levy the chauth, he hastens to
support him, and besieges and destroys s towns And
the rahdar of these evil-doers takes from small parties of
merchants, who are anxious to obtain security from plunder,
a toll upon every cart and bullock, three or four times
greater than the amount imposed by the faujdars of the
government This ewcess he shares with the corrupt
1agirdars and faujdars, and then leaves the road open In
every suba (province) he bulds one or two foits, which
makes his strongholds, and ravages the country round
The mukaddams, or head men of the Villages, with the
countenance and co-operation of the infidel subadars, have
built forts, and with the aid and assistance of the
Mahrattas, they make terms with the royal officers as to
the payment of their revenues They attack and destroy
the country as far as the borders of Ahmadabad and the
districts of Malwa, and spread ther devastations through
the provinces of the Dakhin to the environs of Ujam
They fall upon and plunder large caravans within ten o
tnelve Aos of the Imperial camp, and have even had the
hardihood to attack the royal treasure It would be a
troublesome and useless task to commut to wniting all their
misdeeds, but 1t must suffice to record some few of the
events which oceurred in those days of sieges, which, after
all, had no effect in suppressing the darmmg of the
Mahrattas

A force of the enemy, numbering fifteen or sixteen
tnousand horee, proceeded towards the port of Surat, and,
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fter ravaging several districts, they went to cross the
Nerbadda, which 1uns between Ahmadabad and Surat
The Imperial office1s m charge of Ahmadabad took counsel
together, and sent a suitable foice agamst them, unde
Muhammad Beg Khan, and ten or twelve sardars,
with thirteen or fourteen thousand horse, and seven or eight
thousand trained Aolis of that country They crossed the
Nerbadda, and encamped upon its bank Next morning
the Mahratta army approached within seven or eight hos
Twno or three well-mounted hght horsemen appeared on
one side, and the Ahmadabad army made 1eady to receive
them After a conflict, the nfidels took flight, and were
pursued by the Impennl officers fo two or three Aos, who
captured several mares, spears and umbiellas, and returned
rejoicing
The men of the army delighted at having put the enemy
to fight, had unguarded themselves and taken the saddles
from their horses  Some went to sleep, and some weie
engaged 1 cooking or eating, when a picked force of seven
or eight thousand of the enemj’'s horse came suddenly upon
them hke a flood These men had been concealed among
the trees and rocks near the river, and had sent out therr
spies to watch for an opportunity The untried men of
Ahmadabad lost their wits, and found no means of
saddling their horses o1 girding on their arms They had
no experienced officers among them, and when the Dakhinis
made their attack, a pame fell upon the army On one
side was the river, which the tide from the sea made
unfordable, and on the other the advancing tide of the
enemy Manv men wele killed and wounded, and a great
many threw themselves into the water, and were drowned
The enemy effected a complete overthrow of the
Impermal army

Dahma Jadu, according to the geneial 1eport of the
sardars, was a man of the highest influence He now
proposed terms of peace His proposal was that con-
cihatory letters should be addressed to all the principal
officers of the Ram, mviting them to wait upon Aurangzeb
When they had arrived in the vieimty of the royal
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camp, Raja Sahu (son of Sambhaj) was to be placed
m charge of Prince Muhammad Kam Bakhsh, and to be
sent some four or five kos from the camp, so that the
Mahratta sardars might have an mnteiview with him fiast
With the approval of Raja Sahu, the chiefs were then to
pay their respects to Prince Kam Bakhsh, and to return mn
his custody to the royal camp, wheie they were to receive
the honow of admission into the royal service Orders
were accordingly given for the sending of nearly seventy
letters to various Mahratta chiefs But, after all, the plan
did not please Awmangzeh, who prudently felt msgivings as
to the ciaftiness of the Malhrattas and was apprehensne
that 1f they assembled forty or fifty thousand horse near
the 10yal camp, they might by this pretence carry off Raja
Sahu and Prince Kam Bakhsh to then Inlls of difficult
access

Sultan Husamn was summoned to Court, but his
visit was countermanded, and he was ordered to go and lay
siege to the fort of Torna

ForTy -E16HTH YEAR OF THE REIGN, 1115 A H
(AD 1703-4)

(Text, vol n, p 521) After the reduction of the fort of
Rajgarh, the royal aimy rested for a few days, and at the
end of Shawwal 1t moved to the fort of Torna, four kos
distant from Rajgarh On the 13th Zi-l ka'da this
fort was taken by assault, not like the other forts by
negotiations with the commandants and promses of
material advancement

Swege of Wakinhera

(P 524) Pem Naik, a zamindar of low origmn, belongmg
to the tribe of Bedar, which 15 the Hindi for “ fearless,
sprang from the caste of Dhers, the most impure caste of
the Dakhin He was noted for his turbulent habits At
the time of the wa1 with Haidarabad, he sent hs forces
to the aixd of Abu-1 Hasan, and Padshah Khanzada Khan,
son of Ruhu-llah Khan, was sent to subdue his fort of
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Sagar,* and to occupy lus fastnesses and retreats He sub-
mitted to the royal army, and came to wait on the Emperor,
but soon hastened back to his home

Pem Naik had a nephew named Parya Naik? In the
thirty-second y ear of the reign, when Ruhu-llah Khan semor
was sent to reduce Raichor, and when the royal court was
at Ahmadahad, before the Bijapur affair, this Parya Naik,
having seen the great power of Aurangzeb, came to his
Court, and recerved g mansab  Ruhu-llah thought he might
be of service at Raichor, and took him there There the
good-for-nothing knave took part in the fighting, and
rendered good service  After the reduction of Raichor,® he
asked leave to go to Wakinkera,! his ancestral abode,
promising to levy all his powers there, and to present himself
with a proper army wherever he was summoned

Upon recenning permission, he went to Wakinkers,
which 1s a village on the top of a hill, and one of the
dependencies of Sagar The place 1s mmhabited by many
Barhandazes, which name signifies *“ black-faced infantry,”®
and these people are famed for therr skill in aichery and
missiles  After Sagar had been taken from the bands of
Pem Naik, the worthless Parya Naik, by craft and wiles,
made 1t the abode of his family and children  Having
taken up his residence at Wakinkera, he showed no signs of
moving, but set about strengthening and adding to the
defences, and laying in warlike stores Favoured by
fortune, he mm time collected nearly fourteen or fifteen
thousand infantry of vigour and audacity  He made his
hill a strong fortress, and, coliecting 1n a short time four
or five thousand horse, he ravaged flourishing places far and
near, and plundered caravans  Whenever an army was

*Raichor lies between the Kistna and Tumbhadra Sagar and
Wakinkera are north-west of Raichor between the Kistna and the
Bhime, Sagar bemg fifteen miles north-east of Wakinkera

*The Ma-asir- “Alamgirnn gives as the names Pam Naik and
Pidiya Naik

*barqanddz hwisyar ke murad az lali pyadehar swah Tu
bashand All the coples agree in this reacﬁzng The BMa-asirw

’Alamgint calls them “ Kalah mwyade bandukchi” and they occur
frequently
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sent agaimnst him, the strong force which he had collected
around him, the strength of his retreat, the influence of
money spent in bribery, a practice which he well understood,
his knowledge of darbar proceedings, and his own audacity,
carried him through, and bags of money and a variety of
presents covered all discrepancies in hus statements In his
letters he made all sorts of artful excuses, and represented
himself as one of the most obedient of zamindars and
punctual of revenue-payers  Every month and year he
exerted himself 1n increasing his buildings, strengthening his
towers and walls, in gathering forces, and acquiring guns,
great or small At last his place became well known as the
fort of Wakinkera, and he bhecame a fast ally of the
Mabhrattas, the disturbers of the Dakhin

Jagna, son of Pem Naik, who was the heir to his
property®, came to Court, was honoured with a mansab,
and received a sanad for the zamindar as 1ts rightful heir
He went thither with an army, but could not get 1, and
after some fighting he suffered a defeat Prince Muhammad
A’zam was afterwards sent to punish Parya Naik, and the
royal forces ravaged the outskirts of his territory But he
seized his opportunity, and went to wait upon the Prince
He expressed his humility and repentance, and with subtle
artifice promised a tribute of seven lacs of rupees to the
Emperor, and to make a present of two lacs to the Prince
Besides these, he dispensed gratifications to the officials
By these means he rescued himself from the clutches of the
royal anger

As soon as the Prince had returned to Court, he went
on 1n his old way, and fanned the fires of rebellion more
violently than before Firoz Jang was afterwards sent with
a large army to repress him, and pressed him very hard
But he resumed his old artifices, sent deceptive and alluring
messages, and by a promise of obedience and nme lacs of
rupees as tribute, he saved his Iife and honour When the
royal army marched agamnst Puna, and lay encamped for
seven months and a half near Jumir, two or three

*¢“Parys Naik expelled Jikaya, son of Pem Naik, from the
lands he had inherited "—Ma-asir ’Alamgin, vol 1, p 492
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ummportant forts were taken  Everv day fiesh news Wie
brought of the msolence and turbulence of Parva Nqk, and
n consequence Aurangzeb resolved to march m person
agamst Wakinkera

ForTY-NINTH YEAR OF THE REIGY, 1116 ATI (A D 1704-5)
Siege of Wahinhera

(Text,vol 1, p 527) At the beginming of the forty -ninth
year of the reign, Aurangzeb moved with s army towards
Wakmkera At the end of Shawwal he reached the
viemity of the fort  His tenl was pitched about a Aos from
the fort, and lis officers were ordered to commence
operations Parya Naik had strengthened hus defences and
called 1n his scattered forces He apphed to Tara B for
assistance, and had collected several thousand horsemen
of all classes, especially Musulmans of bad character  The
“black-faced mfantry ¥ with rage and clamour, and the
artaillery wath a shower of fire, boldly resisted the advance
of the Impenal forces Cannon-balls from large and small
guns were accompanmed by thousands of blazing rockets,
which ramned might and dav, and allowed not a moment’s
rest A fierce struggle was commenced, and large
numbers were killed on both sides

The reduction of the fort was nearly accomplished, and
the valour of the brave besiegers was about to reap its
reward The approaching fall of the fort was on every
one's tongue, when intelhgence came 1n that a large army
of Mahrattas was approaching to succour the place Next
day Dahma Jadu and Hindu Rao, with two or three sardars,
whose wives and families were mn Wakinkera, approached
with eight or nine thousand horse and an innumerable force
of mfantry Dahina Jadu had been occupied for a short
time 1 ravaging the country and opposing the royal forces
His present object was to get his wives and children and
property out of Wakinkera, which he had deemed the safest
of all the forts, and at the same time to render assistance

to the garmson  On ome side his strong force pressed
severely on the royal army
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At this juncture when misfortune- poured hike hail
upon the besiegers, one body drew the royal generals into a
conflict on one side, while on another two or three thouszand
horse dashed up to the fort, mounted the women on swift
mares, and with the aid of the mfantry n the fort they
<uccceded 1 earrying them off Parya Naik sent money
and goods, food and drink, to the Mahrattas, and settled
allowance« to thewr sarda: , to mduce them to remain and
protract the <iege The Mahrattas were quite walling to
get monev ecasily, <o they remamecd and harassed the
besiegers by dailv attack on both «idez  Every day ther
forces mercaced  DMany men of the royal army were killed
and a great pame spread amongst them [Pruatr
neqotiafione |

Sum Sankar, biother of Parva Nk, came out of the
fort (as a hostage), presentcd b= offering and paid homage
He recenned the honour of a robe, hore, jewels, and a
mansab, and then ashed humbly forgivencs: for his brother
and for a truce of a week  Muhtasham IChan then entered
the fortress (to take formal pos<ession as Lila’dar) He
was entertaned that nmight, and mes<ages were sent to hum
assuring lnm that Parya Naik would sce him next day, and
then under his protection would procced to pay homage
When he went mnto the fort, the drums of the royal army
were beaten oy fully The people 1n the fort, 1 order to
satasfy the Lila’dar, busied themselves in sending out their
useless goods, their women and the old men whose lives
were precarious  The statement was still mamntaned that
Parya Naik intended to visit the Ala’dar, but tow ards might
the excuse was made that he was 11l with fever On the
third 1t was stated that the fever had mcreased, and that
he was dehrious and talking wildly Neit day 1t was said
that he was quite msane, and that he had gone out of the
fort, and no onc knew whether he had east himself down
from the fort to kill himself or whether he had gone to jom
the Mahratta army

The mother of that crafty one artfully made great
cries and lamentations, and pretended to be in great distress
She sent a message to Aurangzeb, saving that when she was
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< I
coled for the disappearance of her ~on he won
iqezlzl\tggdggnfort, but she hogcd that her svounger <on bi\mx
Sankar, would recenve mnectiture Aas the new ,mn;t}{ ar
and that he would be sent 1nto the fort to Mubtarham K mln
because he would be sent mto the fort able to <how h;
Lala dar the 1 arious places n nhach the treasure was burie
She would then leave the fort with her remawmng properts
and children  Aurangzeb not suspecting deceplion, allow e
Sum Sanhar to go mto the fort Then no one {ram the
roval arms was allowed to enter  \ubtacham Khan with
some other persons were hept under restramt m the fort, and
1t beeame clear to the Emperor and Inw assact ites that the,
had been made the victims of deception but the Emuoero
was patient and acted cautioush s the circumetanees ol
the case required

Intelhgence was now brought that Zu-l1 fikar ]Slmn
Nusrat Jang and others were approaching with the iorce
under hig command and the Emperor 1esued an order direet-
ing him to jomn as soon as possible Zun-l fikar Khan
seized several wells from winch the enenn drew therr
supplies of water, and the enemy now felt the deprivation
which the Impenal forces had sufiered The approachec
were pushed forward to the fort, and on the dav appomnted
for the assault, the Emperor mounted lius horee {o take part
theremm, and took lus pomtion at a cannon-shot dist et
from the fort = The enemy were overpovcred, and somc
positions were captured  Bemng greatly dispimted, thes
placed two or three thousand musketeers to hold one of
the gates to the last  They then tookh therr wives and
children, their jewels, and whatever they could carrv, and
after setting fire to thewr temple and other buldings, they
went out at another gate, and by some outlets which had
been prepared for such an occasion, they made their way
to the Mahratta army in parties They then fled with the
army  The conflagration 1n the fort and the cessation of
the finng made the besiegers aware of their flight A parta
of men entered, and found only dicabled and wounded
persons who were unable to iy = On the 14th Muharram
the Imperial forces took possession of the place  The name
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Wakinkera was changed to Rahman-bakhsh The Impenal
army then retired to pass the ramny season at Deo-ganw,
three or four kos from the Kistna News arrived that the
fort of Bakhshinda-bakhsh or Kandana had bheen lost
through the carelessness of the commander and the strategy
of the Mahrattas On the same day Hamidu-d din Khan
was sent to retake 1t

Illness of the Emperor

The Emperor was seized with illness, and had severe
pamns 1n his hmbs, which caused grave apprehension But
he exerted himself, took his seat in the public hall, and
engaged m busiess, thus giving consolation to the people
But his illpess mecreased, he had famnting fits and lost his
senses, so that very alarming rumours spread abroad, and
for ten or twelve days the army and camp were in great
distress  But by the mercy of God he grew better, and
occasionally showed himself to the people 1n the pubhe hall
The army was m an enemy’s country, without house or
home, and if the sad calamty (of the Emperor’s death)
were to happen, not one soul would escape from that land of
mountains and raging nfidels  Under the advice of his
physician, he took China root? Three or four times a week
he took medicine, and every day he distributed chanty
After s recovery, he richly rewarded his physician, and
returned thanks to God  In the middle of Rajab, he
commenced his march for Bahadur-garh, otherwise called
Bir-ganw?, leaving Kahch Khan behind as subadar  Slowly,
and wrth difficulty, he pursued his march, and reached

*Chob-r Chimr, “ Smulax China”

?Bir-ganw and Bahadur-garh have not been found 1n the maps
A passage (Text, vol 1, p 452) states that a woman was carned
bv a flood “from Bahadur-garh to Islampur: (on the Bluma) mn
five or six watches,” and another passage (p 508) <ayvs Babadur-garh
w1s mine hos from the Kistna, so perhaps the place was on the
Man mver, although that s more than nine fos from the Kistna
The route of Aurangzeb from Khelna to Bahadur-garh (Ma-asir,
p 464) was Malkapur Parnala, Bar-ganw (War-ganv), the Kistna,
:\& ad-}xlmmr, Bahadur-garh, so he must have crossed the river near

e
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halt of forts
_ganw at the end of Sha’ban, and ordered ¢
gzﬁsgfor aiving rest to the arm) duming the tume of the fact

Frerere YEAR oF THE REten, 1117 & H o\ D 1705-6)
Illness of the Emperor

(Text, ol m, p 540) After the canclucion ot the fast of
Ramszan the Emperor again turned i atention to
busmess  He then proceeded to \hmadmer ln'ﬂn
month of Zi-1 hiyja the mtelhgence was brouzht of -]
fikar Khan having reduced the fort of Bakhshmda-hakh-h
(Kandana)  Prmee Muhammad A'zam Shab was m the
province of Ahmadabad ~ When he heard of lus father«
illness, he wrote for leave to visit e father stating as an
excuse that the chmate of Ahmadabad was vety unfavour-
able to im  This displeased_the Lmperor who rephed that
he had wmtten a letter of enactli_the same effect to e
father Shah_Jahan when he nas 1l and that he_nas told
mn_answer, that eveny h mﬁle to_a_man
exc umes (haua) of ambition But the Prince
wrote repeatedlv to the same efiect, and was then appomted
to the suba of Malwa He did not however go to Uypam,
but wrote for leate to visit lus father  \ grudeing permis-
sionm was given, and the Prince made the best of lns way, =0
that he ammved at the end of the month  The suba ot
Ahmadabad which was taken from him, was mven to
Mubammad Tbrahim Khan

When Prince Muhammad A’zam Shah reached e
father's Court, his confidence 1n his own courage and hold-
ness, and g pride m the army and treasure he had got
together at Ahmadabad, made him aspire to the roval state

and treasure He thought nothing about his elder brother
but considered himself the chief in every wav Prince
Muhammad Kam Bakhsh he looked upon as removed from
rivalry bv meompetence But he had observed the altered
temper of lus father, whose feelings were not always 1n their
natural state His first thought fell upon Prmce
Mubammad 'Azim' who was at ‘Azimabad, or Patna, n
*  'Or ’Azmu-sh Shan, con of Muazzam
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Bihar, where he had been some time Subadar, and had
obtained & repute for amassing treasures  Therefore he
wished to remove him by getting him recalled to Court, and
by various representations, some false, some true, he so
worked upon the mind of the Emperor that orders were
issued for his recall, and the Prince proceeded to wait
upon his grandfather

Confirmation was received, through the Governor of
Multan, of the death of Prince Muhammad Akbar mn
Garmsir, the report of which had been current for a yea:
past

Firry-rirsT YEAR OF THE REWGN, 1118 AH (AD 1706-7)
Death of the Emperor

(Text, vol u,p 547) Prince A’zam Shah was proud of his
own courage, and of his army and soldiers He had, moie-
over, won over to his side Jamdatu-l Mulk Asad Khan and
several other amus He now sought a pretext for a quarrel
with Prince Kam Bakhsh The Emperor shghtly improved
m health, but although for some days he went into the
public hall of audience and the Court of Justice, he was
very weak, and death was clearly stamped upon his face
Prince A’zam’s feelings towards Prince Kam Bakhsh, who
was a poet and learned man, now displayed themselves in
various shghts and 1mproper actions whenever an
opportunity offered Kam Bakhsh was dear to hs father,
for 1t often happens that men have the greatest affection
for ther youngest sons  So the Emperor appointed a noble-
man to act as the bakhsh of Kam Bakhsh, and to him he
entrusted the Piince, with instructions to take care of him

This bakhshi was Sultan Hasan, otherwise called Mn
Malang He was a courageous and faithful servant, and
upon his appomntment, the Emperor gave him the title of
Hasan Khan  In faithful discharge of his duty, Hasan
Khan deemed 1t necessary to place his ward under the
.protection of special guards, in addition to his own servants,
and these accompanied the Prince armed and accoutred
whenever he went to Court  For some days and mghts they
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e Prince with great vigilance Prince
\;? I:;e%hg;xezon?;lamed of this to the Emperor, but got no
:mzswer He then wrote to Nawab Zmatu-n Nissa Bﬁgam,
lus eldest sister, complaimng of the insolence of iisan
Ivhan, who had exceeded his powers He added that t b\exe
W ould' be no difficulty n chastising nm, but that 1t had eﬁn
jorbidden by the Emperor Thus letter was shown to the
Lmperor, who wrote 2 letter with hus own hand, saying that
he had heard of the suspicions and apprehensions shown
b Hasan Khan, and would therefore send Kam Bakhsh to
come other place Prince A’zam winced under the censwe
mmphed 1n the letter, but be knew that submission was his
only resource, and he felt great satisfaction at the removal
o1 s younger brother

The foresight of the Emperor told him that s health
was fatling and he saw that Prince (A’zam’s) pretensions
mereased datly  He knew that if two unchamed hons
were left together, after hus decease there would be divisions
mn the army, and great disturbances among the people His
ffection for Kam Bakhsh also worked upon him He sent
Kam Bakhsh with all the signs and honours of royalty to
Bijavur, and the drums of the royal naubat-hhana were
ordered to plav as he departed The sight of all this made
Prince A’zam writhe hike a poisonous serpent, but he could
not sav @ word  In two or three days he also recerved
orders to proceed to Malwa 1n charge of strict officers

After the departure of the two Primces, the Emperor
Jgress much worse,

and fever mcreased But for the next
“four or five davs, notwithstanding th
o g davs, mofy g the severity of the disease,

c to the regular prayers In this stat

of things Hammdu-d dim Khan presented a lefter contam?ng

‘he advice of astrologers, recommendmng the giving awa

;\)i; q:znt }elcﬁhzmt and oi;[ a valuable diamond 1n chanty T}c;
1e Emperor wr

Srihe wuls) Tor pro e m reply that the gving away of an

~lippere, but he sent

actice of the Hindus and of star-wor-
lor nm to distnibut

four thousand Tupees to th
1 e chief kaz
Jetter he wrote, sa ¢ among the deferving In the same

ymg, “ Carry this creat
to the first (burial) place, and cons:gnuﬁn(z)f&)ustglgu;g%lt{l

171



TR IEW, gwEIEy f

without any uscless coffin ” It 15 said that he wrote a will
dividing his kingdom among his sons, and entrusted 1t to
Hamidu-d din Xhan

On Friday, the 28th Z1-1 ka’da, 1n the fifty-first year of
the reign, corresponding with 1118 AH (Feb 21, AD
1707), aftex performing morning prayeis and repeating the
creed, at about one watch of the day, the Emperor departed
this ife He was nmety years and some months old, and
had reigned fifty years two months and a half He was
buried near Daulatabad by the tombs of Shaikh Burhanu-d
din and other 1eligious worthies, and of Shah Zan Zar-
bakhsh, and some districts of Burhanpur were assigned for-
the mamtenance of his tomb

Of all the sovercigns of the House of Timur—nay, of all
the sovereigns of Dehli—no one, since Sikandar Lodi, has
ever been apparently so distinguished for devotion,
austerity, and justice In cowiage, long suffering, and
sound judgment, he was unrivalled  But from reverence
fo1 the mnjunctions of the Law he did not make use of punish-
ment, and without punishment the administration of a
country cannot be mamtamed  Dissensions ‘had arisen
among lhis nobles through rivahy  So every plan and
project that he formed came to hitle good, and every
enterprise which he undertook was long in execution, and
fatled of its object Although he lived for ninety years,
his five senses were not at all impaired, except his hearing,
and that to only so shght an extent that 1t was not percep-
table to others He often passed his mights m vigils and
devotion, and he denied himself many pleasures naturally
belonging to humanity
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